# ASSOCIATION BETWEEN MEASURES OF AND PROGNOSTIC SIGNIFICANCE OF CARDIORESPIRATORY FITNESS IN COMMUNITY-DWELLING OLDER ADULTS

by

# Ali Yazdanyar

B.S. in Biological Sciences, Pennsylvania State University, 1997

D.O. in Osteopathic Medicine, Des Moines University, 2001

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of

Graduate School of Public Health in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

University of Pittsburgh

2011

# UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

# GRADUATE SCHOOL OF PUBLIC HEALTH

This dissertation was presented

by

# Ali Yazdanyar

It was defended on

# March 28, 2010

and approved by

#### **Robert Boudreau, PhD**

Assistant Professor, Department of Epidemiology, Graduate School of Public Health University of Pittsburgh

#### Daniel Edmundowicz, MD, MS

Associate Professor, Department Medicine, School of Medicine University of Pittsburgh

#### Lewis Kuller, MD, DrPH

Distinguished University Professor of Public Health, Department of Epidemiology Graduate School of Public Health University of Pittsburgh

#### Kim Sutton-Tyrrell, DrPH

Professor, Department of Epidemiology Graduate School of Public Health University of Pittsburgh

## Dissertation Advisor: Anne B Newman, MD, MPH

Department Chair and Professor, Department of Epidemiology Graduate School of Public Health University of Pittsburgh Copyright © by Ali Yazdanyar

2011

# ASSOCIATION BETWEEN MEASURES OF AND PROGNOSTIC SIGNIFICANCE OF CARDIORESPIRATORY FITNESS IN COMMUNITY-DWELLING OLDER ADULTS

#### Ali Yazdanyar, PhD

#### University of Pittsburgh, 2011

The age structure of the U.S. population is expected to change with the segment of the population aged over 65 years experiencing the largest increase in size. Given the expected change in the U.S. population, efforts aimed at screening and diagnosis, in addition to the prevention and treatment of diseases with a significant burden in older adults should be at the forefront of public health efforts. Accordingly, in order to obtain an appreciation of the significance of cardiovascular diseases in older adults we initially performed a literature review of the burden and prevention of cardiovascular diseases, the leading cause of morbidity and mortality in older adults. Subsequently, we focused our research efforts on cardiorespiratory fitness in older adults. Cardiorespiratory fitness is a determinant of morbidity and mortality in middle-aged and older adults which can be measured objectively by either exercise testing or walk-based tests. Few studies of community-dwelling older adults have characterized the relationship between fitness as assessed by exercise testing versus walk-based testing, with subclinical cardiovascular, or the prognostic significance of walk-based test performance. We sought to characterize these relationships among community-dwelling adults participating in the Cardiovascular Health Study (CHS). In an analysis of the Arterial Calcification in the Elderly (ACE-CHS), 6 Minute Walk test (6 MWT) performance was a useful measure of treadmill test capability and performance. A second analysis of ACE-CHS failed to identify subclinical cardiovascular disease as quantified by the coronary artery calcification score as a significant determinant of exercise duration in exercise treadmill testing. However, the coronary artery calcification score was associated with ischemia as detected by electrocardiographic changes during exercise testing. Finally, in the full CHS cohort, the 6 MWT performance was independently associated with all-cause mortality, demonstrating a prognostic value for submaximal fitness assessment using the 6 MWT across a wide range of function present in community-dwelling older adults. The public health relevance of these finding is the potential clinical utility of the 6 MWT, a quick, safe and inexpensive alternative to exercise treadmill testing, in the assessment of cardiorespiratory fitness and the prediction of mortality in community-dwelling older adults.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

1.0		INTRODUCTION1
	1.1	EPIDEMIOLOGY2
		1.1.1 Cardiovascular Disease
		1.1.2 Coronary Heart Disease
		1.1.2.1 Myocardial infarction 4
		1.1.3 Heart Failure
		1.1.4 Stroke
		1.1.5 Peripheral Arterial Disease
		1.1.6 Valvular Heart Disease7
		1.1.6.1 Valvular Regurgitation8
		1.1.7 Atrial Fibrillation and Other Electrocardiogram Abnormalities9
		1.1.7.1 Atrial Fibrillation9
		1.1.7.2 Abnormalities of the Electrocardiogram 10
		1.1.8 Subclinical Cardiovascular Disease 11
		1.1.8.1 Calcification of the Heart Structures 12
		1.1.8.2 Calcification of the Coronary Arteries14
	1.2	ASSESSMENT OF CARDIOVASCULAR RISK 14
	1.3	PREVENTION OF CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE 17

		1.3.1	Anti-	Hypertensive Therapy in Older Adults	17
		1.3.2	Lipid	Lowering Therapy with Statins in Older Adults	20
		1.3.3	Aspir	in Therapy in Older Adults	22
		1.3.4	Physi	ical Activity and Fitness	24
		1	.3.4.1	Prognostic significance of Physical Activity and Fitness	24
		1	.3.4.2	Relationship of Fitness with Age	26
		1	.3.4.3	Effects of Physical Activity on Cardiovascular Risk Factors	26
		1	.3.4.4	Assessment of Physical Fitness	26
	1.4	Т	CABLE	S FOR CHAPTER 1	29
	1.5	F	IGUR	ES FOR CHAPTER 1	38
2.0		ASSO	CIATI	ION BETWEEN SIX MINUTE WALK DISTANCE AND	ALL-
CA	USE	MORT	ALITY	Y, CORONARY HEART DISEASE-SPECIFIC MORTALITY,	, AND
INC	CIDE	NT CO	RONA	RY HEART DISEASE	51
	2.1	A	BSTR	АСТ	52
	2.2	Ι	NTRO	DUCTION	54
	2.3	N	<b>AETH</b>	ODS	55
		2.3.1	Popu	lation	55
		2.3.2	Six N	linute Walk Test	56
		2.3.3	Poter	ntial Confounders	57
		2.3.4	Outc	omes	57
		2.3.5	Statis	stical Analysis	58
	2.4	R	RESUL	TS	59
	2.5	D	DISCU	SSION	64

2.6	<b>REFERENCES FOR CHAPTER 2</b>	66
2.7	TABLES FOR CHAPTER 2	
2.8	FIGURES FOR CHAPTER 2	77
3.0	ASSOCIATION BETWEEN CORONARY ARTERY CALCFI	CATION AND
TREAD	MILL EXERCISE PERFORMANCE IN COMMUNITY-DWEL	LING OLDER
ADULT	S	83
3.1	ABSTRACT	84
3.2	INTRODUCTION	86
3.3	METHODS	
	3.3.1 Population	
	3.3.2 Coronary Artery Calcification	88
	3.3.3 Exercise Treadmill Test	
	3.3.4 Demographics and Other Confounders	89
	3.3.5 Outcomes	89
	3.3.6 Statistical Analysis	89
3.4	RESULTS	
3.5	DISCUSSION	
3.6	<b>REFERENCES FOR CHAPTER 3</b>	
3.7	TABLES FOR CHAPTER 3	100
3.8	FIGURES FOR CHAPTER 3	106
4.0	ASSESSMENT OF TREADMILL EXERCISE TEST CAPA	BILITY AND
CAPAC	ITY USING THE SIX MINUTE WALK TEST IN COMMUNIT	Y-DWELLING
OLDER	ADULTS	107

	4.1	ABSTRACT	108	
	4.2	INTRODUCTION	110	
	4.3	METHODS		
		4.3.1 Population	111	
		4.3.2 Six Minute Walk Test	112	
		4.3.3 Exercise Treadmill Test	113	
		4.3.4 Other Covariates	114	
		4.3.5 Statistical Analysis	114	
	4.4	RESULTS	115	
	4.5	DISCUSSION	117	
	4.6	REFERENCES FOR CHAPTER 4	120	
	4.7	TABLES FOR CHAPTER 4	122	
5.0		DISCUSSION	129	
	5.1	SUMMARY OF FINDINGS	129	
	5.2	PUBLIC HEALTH SIGNIFICANCE	130	
BIB	LIO	GRAPHY	132	

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1 Studies of Anti-Hypertensive Therapy in Older Adults 29
Table 1.2 Studies of Lipid Lowering Therapy with Statins for Primary Prevention
Table 1.3 Studies of Lipid Lowering Therapy with Statins for Secondary Prevention
Table 1.4 Relationship of Physical Activity in Older Adults with Coronary Heart Disease and
Mortality
Table 1.5 Relationship of Treadmill and Cycle Ergometry Exercise-Based Fitness with Mortality
Table 1.6 Relationship between the 6 Minute Walk Test Performance with Mortality    36
Table 2.1 Characteristics of Six Minute Walk test Completers or Partially Completers, or Not
Tested With and Without a Visit
Table 2.2 Characteristics of Participants with and without prevalent CHD who underwent a Six
Minute Walk test
Table 2.3 Characteristics of Participants Without Prevalent CHD Completing, Partially, or No 6
MWT With or Without a Visit
Table 2.4 Characteristics and Six Minute Walk Test Performance for Participants Without
Prevalent CHD
Table 2.5 Event Rates and Hazard Ratios for Total Mortality, CHD-Specific Mortality, and
Incident CHD Events by Visit and 6 Minute Walk Test Status

Table 2.6 Event Rates and Hazard Ratios for Total Mortality, CHD-Specific Mortality, an	ıd
Incident CHD by Six Minute Walk Test Distance Quintiles	6
Table 3.1 Characteristics of participants overall and by gender	.00
Table 3.2 Participants characteristics by tertile (range in parentheses) of coronary arter	y
calcification	01
Table 3.3 Participant characteristics by tertile of treadmill exercise duration(minutes) (range i	in
parentheses)	02
Table 3.4 Multiple logistic model: Characteristics association with treadmill exercise duration i	in
the longest tertile(>5 minutes)	.03
Table 3.5 Treadmill test parameters by tertiles of coronary artery calcification	04
Table 3.6 Simple and Multiple logistic Models: Association of characteristics with an ischemi	ic
ECG response on treadmill exercise testing 1	05
Table 4.1 Characteristics of Participants by Six Minute Walk Test Status 1	.22
Table 4.2 Characteristics of Participants with Completed 6 MWT by Treadmill Test Status 1	23
Table 4.3 Association between Six Minute Walk Test Performance and Treadmill Test	st
Capability 1	.24
Table 4.4 Association between 6 MWT Distance and Treadmill Test Capability 1	.25
Table 4.5 Association between 6 MWT Distance and Treadmill Test Capability    1	.26
Table 4.6 Association Between 6 MWT Distance and Functional Exercise Capacity    1	.27
Table 4.7 Association between 6 MWT Performance and Functional Exercise Capacity	.28

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Number of Deaths (in thousands) due to Cardiovascular Diseases by Age in 2005 38
Figure 1.2 Prevalence of Cardiovascular Disease in Adults aged 20 Years and Older by Age and
Sex
Figure 1.3 Incidence of Cardiovascular Disease in Adults Aged 45 Years and Older by Age and
Sex
Figure 1.4 Prevalence of Coronary Heart Disease in Adults Aged 20 Years and Older by Age and
Sex
Figure 1.5 Ten Year Incidence Rate of Coronary Heart Disease in Caucasians by Age and Sex:
Cardiovascular Health Study
Figure 1.6 Incidence Rate of Coronary Heart Disease in African Americans by Age and Sex:
Cardiovascular Health Study
Figure 1.7 Ten Year Incidence Rate of Myocardial Infarction in Causasians by Age and Sex:
Cardiovascular Health Study
Figure 1.8 Ten Year Incidence of Myocardial Infarction in African Americans by Age and Sex:
Cardiovascular Health Study
Figure 1.9 Ten Year Incidence of Heart Failure in Caucasians by Age and Sex: Cardiovascular
Health Study

Figure 1.10 Ten Year Incidence of Heart Failure in African Americans by Age and Sex:
Cardiovascular Health Study
Figure 1.11 Ten Year Incidence of Stroke in Caucasians by Age and Gender: Cardiovascular
Health Study
Figure 1.12 Ten Year Incidence of Stroke in African Americans by Age and Sex: Cardiovascular
Health Study
Figure 1.13 Estimated Cost of Cardiovascular Diseases and Stroke
Figure 2.1 Kaplan Meier Survival Estimates of All-Cause Mortalityby Clinic Visit and Six
Minute Walk Test Status
Figure 2.2 Kaplan Meier Survival Estimate of Coronary Heart Disease-Specific Mortality by
Clinic Visit and Six Minute Walk Test Status
Figure 2.3 Kaplan Meier Survival Estimate of Incident Coronary Heart Disease by Clinic Visit
and Six Minute Walk Test Status
Figure 2.4 Kaplan Meier Survival Estimate of All-Cause Mortality by Quintiles of Six Minute
Walk Distance
Figure 2.5 Kaplan Meier Survival Estimate of Coronary Heart Disease-Specific Mortality by
Quintiles of Six Minute Walk Distance
Figure 2.6 Kaplan Meier Survival Estimate of Incident Coronary Heart Disease by Quintiles of
Six Minute Walk Distance
Figure 3.1 Distribution of Coronary Artery Calcification among Study Participants

#### **1.0 INTRODUCTION**

The age structure of the U.S. population is expected to change dramatically over the next 50 years with a nearly two-fold increase in the proportion of population aged  $\geq 65$  by year 2050<sup>1</sup>. While adults aged 65-84 years accounted for 10.9% of the total population in the year 2000, this proportion is estimated to increase to approximately 16% by year 2050. As for individuals aged  $\geq 85$  years, it is estimated this segment of the population will account for 5.0% of the total population in the year 2050, representing a greater than two-fold increase from that in the year 2000<sup>2</sup>. In terms of absolute numbers, given the concurrent projected growth of the overall population size, the number of adults aged  $\geq 85$  years is estimated to increase from approximately 4.3 million in the year 2000 to nearly 21 million by the year 2050<sup>2</sup>. The projected change in the U.S. age distribution is of public health significance in terms of burden from morbidity, mortality, and costs related to cardiovascular diseases.

The age-related increase in cardiovascular disease morbidity and mortality can be appreciated by consideration of the population-based disease-specific incidence and prevalence of cardiovascular diseases, including the overall cardiovascular disease, coronary heart disease, peripheral arterial disease, heart failure, valvular heart disease. Similarly, a review of measures of subclinical cardiovascular disease, such as age-associated changes in coronary artery calcification is insightful. The importance of the relationship between physical activity and fitness with age and also their association with morbidity and mortality will provide an important perspective of the public health impact of the aging U.S. population.

#### **1.1 EPIDEMIOLOGY**

In 2005 cardiovascular disease was the underlying cause in 864,480 out of approximately 2.5 million deaths of which adults aged  $\geq 65$  years accounted for the largest absolute numbers (Figure 1.1)<sup>2</sup>. In terms of morbidity, an estimated 80 million U.S. adults have at least one type of cardiovascular disease (CVD) and nearly one-half of which are aged  $\geq 60$  years<sup>2</sup>. In fact, there is marked increase in the incidence and prevalence of CVD with advancing age. The prevalence of CVD, including hypertension, coronary heart disease (CHD), heart failure (HF), and stroke, increases from about 40% in men and women 40-59 years of age, to 70-75% in persons 60-79 years of age, and to 79-86% among those aged 80 years or older (Figure 1.2)<sup>2</sup>. Similarly, the incidence of CVD, including CHD, HF, and stroke or intracerebral hemorrhage, increases from 4-10 per 1,000 person-years in adults aged 45-54 years to 65-75 per 1,000 person-years in adults aged 85-94 years (Figure 1.3)<sup>2</sup>.

#### 1.1.1 Cardiovascular Disease

In the United States, cardiovascular diseases account for more deaths than any other major causes of death with coronary heart disease and stroke accounting for approximately two-thirds of CVD deaths while the remaining CVD deaths are due to heart failure (7%), high blood pressure (7%), diseases of the arteries (4%), and other  $(14\%)^2$ . In 2005, approximately 80% of

the 864,000 CVD deaths occurred in adults aged  $\geq$ 65 years and nearly 40% of the CVD deaths occurred in adults aged  $\geq$ 85 years<sup>2</sup>. In fact, the proportion of deaths due to CVD increases with advancing age. For instance, the 2004 percent of CVD deaths in US adults aged  $\geq$ 85 years was 48% compared to 20% in those aged 35-44 years<sup>2</sup>. Comparison of 65-74 with 75-84 year old age groups reveals a nearly two-fold difference in the death rate due to HF, CHD, and stroke<sup>2</sup>.

Although CVD is often thought to affect men more commonly than women, beyond approximately 60 years of age the prevalence of CVD is higher among women than men. In 2005, more than 200,000 of the 454,613 CVD deaths occurred in women aged  $\geq$ 85 years compared to approximately 100,000 out of 409,867 CVD deaths observed in men aged  $\geq$ 85 years<sup>2</sup>.

## 1.1.2 Coronary Heart Disease

Coronary heart disease (CHD) is the most common form of CVD and accounts for more than half of all CVD-specific mortality. In 2005, CHD mortality accounted for a total of 445,687 CVD deaths of which the proportion accounted for by individuals aged  $\geq 65$  years was nearly  $82\%^2$ . In both men and women, there is a marked increase in the prevalence of CHD with age (Figure 1.4)<sup>2</sup>. As for the incidence of CHD among older adults, the 10-year rate of MI increases with age among older adults aged  $\geq 65$  years regardless of race or gender (Figures 1.5 and 1.6)<sup>2</sup>. Even at the advanced age of 70 years, there still remains a 34.9% and 24.2% lifetime risk of a first coronary heart disease event in men and women, respectively<sup>3</sup>.

#### 1.1.2.1 Myocardial infarction

In addition to a poorer prognosis, Myocardial Infarction (MI) becomes more prevalent in old age as evident by a nearly seven-fold increase in MI prevalence comparing ages 35-44 to 65-74 years<sup>4</sup>. This pattern of age-related increase in MI prevalence extends into the oldest old age groups and by a greater magnitude in women. For instance, the MI prevalence in CHS women increased from 9.7% in adults aged 65-69 years to nearly 18% in women aged  $\geq$ 85 years representing an increase of nearly two-fold in magnitude<sup>5</sup>.

Annually, there are nearly half a million adults aged  $\geq$ 75 years diagnosed with an MI<sup>2</sup>. Relative to the younger age group 35-44 years, men and women aged 65-74 years have an approximately ten- and an approximately 6-fold increase in the incidence rate MI, respectively. This represents an increase from approximately 1.0 to nearly 10 per 1,000 person years in men. For CHS women, the incidence rate increased from 0.3-0.7 to 5.1-7.2 per 1,000 person-years when comparing age groups of 35-44 to 65-74 years<sup>6</sup>. Data from CHS shows that the age-related increase in MI incidence continues into oldest age groups as evident by a two- and three-fold increase in the incidence rate of MI from the age of 65-69 to the oldest age groups (Figures 1.7 and 1.8)<sup>6</sup>.

As for the prognosis of an MI in older adults, it is associated with both a poor short- and long-term prognosis as reflected by a likelihood of recurrent MIs and mortality<sup>2, 7</sup>. Adults aged  $\geq$ 75 years with history of MI have a nearly 1.5-2-fold increased likelihood of recurrent MI, stroke, and heart failure when compared with those aged 40-69 years<sup>2</sup>. Likewise, in terms of mortality, individuals aged  $\geq$ 75 years with a history of MI have a 1.5-fold increased 5-mortality when compared to adults aged 40-69 years<sup>2</sup>.

#### **1.1.3 Heart Failure**

In 2005, heart failure (CHF), a disease of the predominantly older adults, was the underlying cause of approximately 59,000 deaths and mentioned on nearly 300,000 U.S. death certificates<sup>2</sup>, <sup>8</sup>. The aging population combined with improved survival from comorbid conditions, such as coronary heart disease and hypertension, have led to an increase in both the prevalence and incidence of heart failure. While heart failure is relatively uncommon in adults aged 20-39 years with a prevalence of 0.1-0.2%, its prevalence increases to 5-10% in adults aged 60-79 years, and 12-14% by age  $\geq$ 80 years<sup>2</sup>. Among community-dwelling older adults, the 18% prevalence of CHF in CHS men aged  $\geq$ 85 years is higher than the 12% prevalence observed in men in the younger age group of 66-69 years. Likewise in CHS women aged 66-69 years, the 6% prevalence of CHF is less than half of the 14% prevalence observed in women aged  $\geq$ 85 years<sup>9</sup>.

In addition to the high prevalence of CHF, older adults free of prevalent CHF continue to have an approximately 1 in 5 lifetime risk for incident  $CHF^9$ . For instance, men aged 80 years free of prevalent CHF have a 20.2% risk for developing CHF which is close to the 21.0% lifetime risk for 40 year old men. However, unlike the case of younger adults, the risk in older individuals is much greater in the short term. For instance, while the 5-year risk of CHF for an 80 year old is around 8%, the risk for a 40 year old is much lower at approximately 0.2%.

According to CHS data, the 10-year incidence rate of CHF in older adults 65 years and older increases up to six-fold across age strata<sup>6</sup>. There is a three- and six-fold increase in the incidence rate of CHF by age 85 years and older in Caucasian men and women, respectively (Figure 1.9)<sup>6</sup>. Similarly, in African American men and women, there is an approximately three-fold increase in the incidence rate of CHF across age strata (Figure 1.10)<sup>6</sup>. In both Caucasian and African Americans, older men have a higher overall 10 year incidence rate of CHF than women

participating in the Cardiovascular Health Study. While the incidence rate of CHF in adults aged  $\geq 65$  years is higher in Caucasian men than in African Americans, the reverse is true for CHF incidence with respect to race in women (Figures 1.9 and 1.10)<sup>6</sup>.

#### 1.1.4 Stroke

Stroke is the third leading cause of death and a leading cause of long-term disability in the U.S. While the prevalence of stroke is below 3% in adults aged 20-59 years, it increases to approximately 8% by age 60-79 years, and reaches 13-17% for adults aged  $\geq$ 80 years<sup>2</sup>.

The overall 10-year incidence rate for stroke in CHS men and women range from 13.7-14.7 per 1,000 person-years<sup>6</sup>. In the CHS cohort of older adults aged  $\geq 65$  years, the overall 10year incidence rate in African American women is higher than in Caucasian women. In contrast, the overall 10-year incidence of strokes is higher in older Caucasian men than in African American men<sup>6</sup>. Similar to many other common CVD types, the incidence of stroke increases with age. The stroke incidence rate increases two- to five-fold across advancing age groups (Figures 1.11 and 1.12)<sup>6</sup>.

#### 1.1.5 Peripheral Arterial Disease

Peripheral arterial disease (PAD) is a significant predictor of cardiovascular and overall mortality. In addition, PAD has been shown to be associated with limitations due to physical function inversely related to health-related quality of life<sup>10, 11</sup>. Peripheral Arterial disease, as measured by an ankle brachial index (ABI) <0.9, was found to be present in 12.4% of 5,084 CHS participants<sup>12</sup>. In a cohort of CHS participants free of prevalent CVD, there was nearly a three-

fold increase in the prevalence of men with ABI<0.9 with advancing age reaching a prevalence of approximately 30% in men aged  $\geq$ 85 years<sup>12</sup>. Similarly, in CHS women free of prevalent CVD, the prevalence of ABI<0.9 was nearly 40% in participants aged  $\geq$ 85 years which is approximately eight-fold higher than the prevalence in women aged 65-69 years<sup>12</sup>.

#### 1.1.6 Valvular Heart Disease

In 2005, diseases of the heart valves accounted for 93,000 hospital discharges and nearly 21,000 deaths out of which approximately 13,000 were due to aortic valve disease<sup>2</sup>. The prevalence of aortic stenosis (AS), defined as thickened leaflets with reduced systolic openings on two dimensional imaging and an increased anterograde velocity ( $\geq$ 2.5 m/s by continuous wave Doppler ultrasound), increases across advancing age groups among elderly participants of the Cardiovascular Health Study. While the prevalence AS is 1.3% in adults aged 65-74 years, by age 75-84 years the prevalence increases nearly two-fold to 2.4%, and the prevalence of AS reaches 4% among adults aged  $\geq$ 85 years<sup>13</sup>.

The Healthy Ageing Study reported on the prevalence of aortic valve abnormalities by severity of stenosis using ultrasound recordings of 552 participants<sup>14</sup>. The age distribution ranged from 51 to 86 years consisting of a sample size of 197 participants aged 75-76 years, 155 participants aged 80-81 years, and 124 participants aged 85-86 years. By accounting for the possibility of a narrow left ventricular outflow tract found in the elderly, these investigators defined aortic stenosis based on a calculated velocity ratio $\leq 0.35$  in combination with a calculated aortic valve area (AVA)  $\leq 1.2$  cm<sup>2</sup> for moderate and AVA  $\leq 0.8$  cm<sup>2</sup> for critical aortic valve stenosis. Based on this definition of AS, the overall prevalence of at least moderate and critical aortic stenosis in adults aged 75-86 years were 4.8% and 2.9%, respectively. There is an

increase in the prevalence of both of these categories of AS with age. The prevalence of at least moderate severity aortic stenosis increased from 2.5% for adults aged 75-76 years, to 3.9% in 80-81 years old, and 8.1% by ages 85-86 years. The prevalence rates for critical aortic stenosis for these same age groups categories was reported to be 0.5%, 2.6%, and 5.6%, respectively.

### 1.1.6.1 Valvular Regurgitation

The prevalence of valvular regurgitation, including mitral, tricuspid, and of aortic valves, was determined for participants aged 26 to 83 years in the Framingham Heart Study<sup>15</sup>. The prevalence of valvular regurgitation abnormalities, assessed using color Doppler echocardiography, increases with age in both genders. In men, the prevalence of at least mild severity mitral regurgitation increases nearly four-fold from 8.9% in adults aged 26-39 years to 39.3% in adults aged 70 - 83 years. The prevalence of at least mild tricuspid regurgitation in men increases more than two-fold from 13.0% in adults aged 26-39 years to 27.3% in adults aged 70-83 years. Similarly, the prevalence of aortic valve regurgitation in men increases from 0% in 26-39 year olds to 14.4% in men aged 70-83 years. The prevalence of at least mild degree of mitral, tricuspid, and aortic valve regurgitation in women aged 26-39 years are 9.7%, 14.4%, and 0%, respectively. By ages 70-83 years, these prevalence rates increase to 23.6%, 29.5%, and 16.9%, respectively. The age-related increase in the prevalence of various types of valvular heart disease has been confirmed by a pooled analysis of echocardiography data from 11,911 participants of the three epidemiologic studies of Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults (CARDIA), Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC), and the Cardiovascular Health Study<sup>16</sup>.

In contrast to the other forms of valvular heart diseases, the prevalence of mitral valve prolapse (MVP) has not been observed to vary significantly with age<sup>17</sup>. Based on data from

3491 Framingham Heart Study participants with mean age 54.7 (Range: 26 to 84 years), the overall prevalence of MVP is 2.4%. The prevalence of MVP did not vary significantly across advancing decades of age from the age of 30 to 80 years.

#### 1.1.7 Atrial Fibrillation and Other Electrocardiogram Abnormalities

#### **1.1.7.1 Atrial Fibrillation**

While the prevalence of atrial fibrillation (AF) was estimated to be 2.2 million in 2005, it is projected that by 2050 the number of individuals with AF will exceed 10 million<sup>2, 18</sup>. In participants of CHS, the overall prevalence of AF in men and women was observed to be 6.2% and 4.8%, respectively<sup>19</sup>. The prevalence of AF varied by cardiovascular disease status, such that the prevalence was 8.7% in men with clinical CVD, 4.5% with subclinical CVD, and 1.1% in men without known cardiovascular disease<sup>19</sup>. The prevalence of AF in women with clinical was 9.4%, 4.7% with subclinical CVD, and 2.7% in women without cardiovascular disease<sup>19</sup>. Regardless of CVD status, the prevalence of AF increased with age such that the prevalence increased from 2.8% in women aged 65-69 years to 6.7% in women aged  $\geq$ 80 years<sup>19</sup>. Similarly in men aged 80 years and older the prevalence of atrial fibrillation of 8.0% was higher than the 5.9% observed in men aged 65-69 years<sup>19</sup>.

The lifetime risk for atrial fibrillation in adults without known CHF or MI remains approximately 15% in adults aged 40 years as well as in individuals aged 80 years<sup>20</sup>. The overall incidence rates of atrial fibrillation in elderly participants of the Cardiovascular Health Study were 26.4 and 14.1 per 1,000 person-years, for men and women respectively<sup>21</sup>. There is an age associated increase in the incidence of AF in both genders such that the incidence of 12.3 person years in men aged 65-69 years increases to 58.7 per 1,000 person-years by the age  $\geq$ 80 years. Similarly, the incidence rate of atrial fibrillation in women increases from 10.9 per 1,000 personyears in women aged 65-69 years to 25.1 per 1,000 person-years in women aged  $\geq$ 80 years<sup>21</sup>.

#### 1.1.7.2 Abnormalities of the Electrocardiogram

Resting Electrocardiogram (ECG) abnormalities are quite common in older adults. Evaluation of the ECGs from 5,150 CHS participants revealed an overall prevalence of any ECG abnormality to be 28.7%<sup>22</sup>. The prevalence rate for the presence of any ECG abnormality increases across age groups from 16.0% in men aged 65-69 years, to 27.5% by age 75-79 years, and 45.9% by age  $\geq 85$  years<sup>22</sup>. Similarly in women the prevalence of ECG abnormalities increases across age groups from 10.5% in age 65-69 years, to 20.2% by age 75-79 years, and 31.6% by age  $\geq 85$  years<sup>22</sup>. The observed prevalence, from most common to least, of the different types of ECG abnormalities, are 8.7% for ventricular conduction defects, 5.3% for first-degree atrioventricular block, 3.2% for atrial fibrillation, 6.3% for isolated major ST-T wave abnormalities, 4.2% for left ventricular hypertrophy, and 5.2% for major Q/QS waves<sup>22</sup>. The most common among the ventricular conduction defects was a Right Bundle Branch Block with a prevalence of 4.3%, followed by intraventricular block of indeterminate type at 2.7%, followed by a prevalence of 1.7% for Left Bundle Branch Blocks<sup>22</sup>.

Twenty-four hour ambulatory electrocardiography has been evaluated in 1,372 CHS participants and revealed that the presence of minor supraventricular arrhythmias or any supraventricular ectopic beats is extremely common in the elderly and observed in approximately 97% of older adults<sup>23</sup>. Only 2.8% of elderly CHS participants were free of supraventricular arrhythmias and only 18% were without any ventricular ectopic activity<sup>23</sup>. Frequent ectopic beats, defined as  $\geq$ 15 beats per hour, were recorded in nearly half of men and women and were more commonly of supraventricular origin. Although less common, ventricular ectopic beats

were observed in 57.1% and 55.5% of men and women, respectively<sup>23</sup>. The prevalence rates for ventricular tachycardia, defined as  $\geq$ 3 complexes, were 13% and 4.3% in men and women, respectively<sup>23</sup>. Supraventricular tachycardia, defined as  $\geq$ 3 complexes, was seen in 47.7% and 49.9% of men and women, respectively<sup>23</sup>. There is an age-related increase in the prevalence of supraventricular arrhythmias and by age  $\geq$ 80 years is observed in more than three-quarters of subjects<sup>23</sup>. However, serious arrhythmias including sustained ventricular tachycardia ( $\geq$ 15 complexes) and complete atrioventicular blocks were rarely detected ( $\leq$ 0.5%) in community-dwelling older adult participants of CHS<sup>23</sup>.

#### 1.1.8 Subclinical Cardiovascular Disease

The presence of various types of subclinical CVD can be measured by noninvasive methods such as the ankle-arm blood pressure, carotid ultrasound of carotid arteries, and an electrocardiogram, Magnetic Resonance Imaging of the brain, and Computed Tomography scanning of the heart and coronary arteries. The prevalence of such subclinical CVD increases with age<sup>24</sup>. For example, the prevalence of brain white matter changes and coronary artery calcium score increase progressively with age in both men and women<sup>25-27</sup>. In the case of subclinical peripheral arterial disease in CHS participants, defined as AAI<0.9, the prevalence increased approximately three and 8-fold from the age 65-69 years to those aged  $\geq$ 85 years in women and men, respectively. In addition to being of prognostic significance, the presence of subclinical disease impacts physical and cognition function. In CHS, for example, compared to people 65 years of age or older with a normal ABI (i.e.,  $\geq$  0.9), those with an ABI < 0.8 had a 3.5-fold increased risk of frailty<sup>28</sup>. Alternatively viewed, the presence of subclinical CVD among participants in CHS was associated with a loss of approximately 6.5 years of "successful" life (i.e. with good health and function) in women and 5.6 years in  $men^{29}$ .

#### **1.1.8.1** Calcification of the Heart Structures

Calcification of the cardiac structures, a marker of increased CVD risk, is commonly detected in older adults<sup>30</sup>. For example, a necropsy study of 490 cases aged  $\geq$ 80 years found that calcified deposits were present in 91%<sup>31</sup>. The calcification of the heart structures varies in location, including the coronary arteries, aortic valve cusps, mitral valve annulus, and the left ventricular papillary muscles, and is of prognostic significance<sup>32</sup>.

Calcification of the aortic valve is a common finding in advanced age<sup>13, 14</sup>. In adults, it is present in 53% of the adults over the age of 55 years while there was a decrease in the proportion free of any valvular calcification with advancing age<sup>14</sup>. While 72% of persons aged 55-71 years were found to be without aortic valve calcification in persons aged 55-71 years, this proportion decreased to only 25% of individuals aged 85-86 years. The prevalence of slight aortic valve calcification increases nearly three-fold from 21% in 55-71 year olds to 56% in adults aged 85-86 years. Similarly, the prevalence of severe aortic valve calcification increases from 7% in 55-71 year olds to 19% in persons aged 85-86 years.

In addition to valvular calcification, sclerosis of the valve has been shown to be present and carry prognostic importance. Aortic valve sclerosis, defined as increased echogenicity and leaflet thickness without restriction of leaflet motion, is associated with an increase of approximately 50% in the risk of CVD death and incident  $MI^{33}$ . Aortic valve sclerosis was reported to have an overall prevalence of 26% in CHS participants<sup>13</sup>. The sclerosis of the aortic valve increases in prevalence from 20% in 65-74 year olds, to 35% in 75-84 year olds, and reaches 48% for adults aged ≥85 years. Mitral Annular Calcification (MAC), a degenerative calcification of the mitral valve support ring, has been shown to be independently associated with 1.5- to two-fold increase in risk of incident stroke and other CVD events, CVD- and all-cause mortality<sup>34,35</sup>. The relationship between mitral annular calcification with advancing age has been observed in a number of clinical and autopsy studies. Similar age-related increases in the presence of MAC have been found in epidemiological studies, including the Cardiovascular Health Study and the Framingham Heart Study (FHS), regardless of mode of MAC detection.

Mitral annular calcification (MAC), defined as an intense echocardiograph-producing structure located at the junctions of the atrioventricular groove and posterior mitral leaflet on the parasternal long-axis, apical 4-chamber, or parasternal short-axis view, was assessed using two-dimensional echocardiography in CHS participants and found to have an overall prevalence of 42% <sup>32</sup>. The prevalence of MAC increases nearly two-fold from approximately 35% in 65-74 year olds to nearly 60% by age  $\geq$ 85 years.

In the FHS, mitral annular calcification was defined as the presence of an echo-dense band located immediately behind the posterior mitral leaflet and was assessed using M-mode echocardiography<sup>35</sup>. The overall prevalence of MAC in 5,694 FHS participants was 2.8%. The prevalence of MAC, in both men and women, was found to increase with age. In contrast to individuals younger than 59 years of age, in whom the prevalence was less than 1%, males and females in the oldest age groups of  $\geq$ 80 years increased to 22.4% for females and 6.0% in males. Despite differences in echocardiography detection, both epidemiologic studies detected an increase in the prevalence of MAC with advancing age.

#### 1.1.8.2 Calcification of the Coronary Arteries

Coronary arteries may also exhibit calcification and the amount of coronary artery calcification correlates with the atherosclerotic plaque burden<sup>36</sup>. The amount of CAC can be quantified by non-invasive methods, including electron-beam computed tomography (EBT) and multi-detector computed tomography (MDCT), and commonly reported using the agatston scoring method<sup>37</sup>. As previously mentioned, CAC is useful in CVD risk prediction and adds to models incorporating traditional CVD risk factors and therefore some national guidelines have incorporated them into their risk stratification models<sup>38</sup>. Moreover, the prognostic utility of CAC in prediction of coronary events has been demonstrated in various races<sup>39</sup>.

There is a strong association between CAC and age with a wide range of CAC scores in the oldest old<sup>26</sup>. Older adults with CAC are more likely to have prevalent subclinical and clinical CVD<sup>40</sup>. Given its association with prevalent CVD, CAC remains discriminatory for future CVD in older adults. In addition to the relationship with coronary events, CAC in older adults has been associated with reduced physical function<sup>41</sup>.

## **1.2 ASSESSMENT OF CARDIOVASCULAR RISK**

The method endorsed for the CVD risk stratification and subsequent management of all persons is based upon a global risk assessment<sup>42,43</sup>. The Framingham Heart Study's Global Risk Score stratifies individuals into one of three categories (low, intermediate, high) based upon a 10-year estimate of CHD risk and serves as a risk stratification tool<sup>42</sup>. While a 10-year risk estimate of less than 10% represents a low risk, estimates of 10% to 20% and  $\geq$ 20% represent an intermediate and high risk, respectively. When this method is used for cardiovascular risk

stratification in older adults, age is weighted so heavily that in many cases, treatment decisions could be made on the basis of age alone. In Cardiovascular Health Study, men over 65 and women over 75 years of age had an absolute rate of CHD morbidity and mortality exceeding 2% per year or 20% over 10 years, thus would be candidates for preventive intervention of the same level of aggressiveness as other high risk groups<sup>6</sup>.

The measurement of subclinical CVD, in addition to age, has also been proposed as a method of risk stratification<sup>44</sup>. Several methods, including the coronary artery calcium score provide additional discrimination even taking into account traditional risk factors<sup>45</sup>. In fact, coronary artery calcium has been shown to do better than age itself as a predictor of CHD risk <sup>46</sup>.

Conventional cardiovascular risk factors, including hypertension, hyperlipidemia, smoking, physical inactivity, diabetes mellitus are highly prevalent in individuals with cardiovascular disease<sup>47</sup>. Except for smoking, the prevalence of every major cardiovascular risk factors increase with age<sup>48</sup>. Additionally, epidemiologic studies have revealed a number of the primary risk factors for an incident myocardial infarction, such as diabetes, hypertension, dyslipidemia, and smoking, remain of prognostic significance for not only the initial but also recurrent CVD, in addition to mortality<sup>49-53</sup>. For instance, the presence of diabetes remains a significant predictor poor prognosis after a myocardial infarction<sup>52</sup>. Based on data from 1,635 participants (aged 45-70 years) of The Stockholm Heart Epidemiology Program (SHEEP), the presence of diabetes was associated with an adjusted hazard of 1.6 (95% CI: 1.0-2.4) in men and 2.5 (95% CI: 0.9-6.9) during a median follow-up of 7.2 years post-MI <sup>54</sup>. As for the association between dyslipidemia and recurrent CVD events, several clinical trials have revealed that lipid lowering therapy with statins results a reduced risk for recurrent events<sup>55-57</sup>. Of note, the findings from studies reporting on the impact of smoking status on risk of recurrent events have

been mixed. Despite mix findings, it has been found that there is an elevated risk of recurrent coronary events in active smokers. Based on Health Maintenance Organization data from 2,619 survivors of myocardial infarction, the risk of recurrent coronary events was significant in active smokers (Hazard Ratio: 1.51, 95% CI: 1.10-2.07)<sup>53</sup>. In addition, among smokers who quit smoking after initial MI there is a decrease in risk of recurrent events with time such that by 3 years after cessation the risk approaches that of non-smokers.

Other factors including increased adiposity, a low socioeconomic status, psychosocial factors (i.e., job strain), an elevated plasminogen activator inhibitor 1, and elevated inflammatory markers, such as C-reactive protein, remain as significant risk factors for recurrent CVD events<sup>58-62</sup>.

Conventional risk factors are associated with CVD and remain important for risk prediction in old age. Moreover, given that the magnitude of the impact from preventative measures depend on the absolute baseline risk, the higher baseline CVD risk in older adults translates into a greater absolute CVD risk reduction. However, several factors make the interpretation of the associations between risk factors and CVD in the older adults challenging. The relative risks for some cardiovascular risk factors decrease in magnitude with an increase in age while their absolute effects become greater at old age<sup>63, 64</sup>. This has lead to misconceptions about the importance of these risk factors in old age. Relative risk represents a ratio of risk for developing the outcome, such as CVD, in individuals having a high level of a risk factor in comparison to those with low levels. One major reason for this relative reduction in risk is that the comparison group includes many individuals whose risk factors, for example cholesterol, have declined secondary to comorbid illness, therefore reducing the apparent relative differences. The absolute risk of CVD associated with risk factors continue to increase with age and most

trials of risk factor reduction show marked decreases in absolute risk, with a much smaller number needed to treat.

#### **1.3 PREVENTION OF CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE**

The approach to CVD prevention is in large part similar across all ages. The combination of pharmacologic therapy, including anti-platelet, anti-hypertensive and lipid lowering medications, along with therapeutic lifestyle changes (TLC) including physical activity may be appropriate based on individual risk. Evidence from clinical trials supports the role of TLC in achieving a favorable risk factor profile. The favorable impact of physical activity of the traditional risk factors are discussed later in this review.

# 1.3.1 Anti-Hypertensive Therapy in Older Adults

Hypertension is highly prevalent in the U.S. with an estimated 42.7 million adults being identified as hypertensive according to data from the Third National Health and Nutritional Examination Survey (NHANES III)<sup>65</sup>. Hypertension is also highly prevalent in old age, present in nearly two-thirds of individual aged  $\geq 65$  years. According to NHANES III data, the prevalence of hypertension increases from 3.4-8.6% in individuals aged 20-34 years, to 42.9-44.2% in persons aged 55-64 years, and increases to 64.2-77.3% in individuals aged  $\geq 75$  years<sup>66</sup>. In addition to being commonly present in older adults, hypertension in the elderly remains a risk factor for coronary events, strokes, and peripheral arterial disease increasing the relative risk of their occurrence nearly 1.5-2.5 fold<sup>67-70</sup>.

Several major clinical trials have been conducted specifically in older adults and have demonstrated that blood pressure control is critical to prevention of heart disease, stroke, and mortality in older adults (TABLE 1.1)<sup>56, 71-76</sup>. Prior to availability of the results from the Hypertension in the Very Elderly Trial (HYVET), trials of antihypertensive therapy had established the beneficial effects of blood pressure lowering on CVD outcomes, including strokes and other vascular events, in adults up to approximately 80 years of age. These major randomized trials in older adults have clarified the role of antihypertensive therapy for prevention of CVD events in older adults (ages up to approximately 80 years) with either isolated systolic hypertension<sup>56, 76</sup> or an elevation of both systolic and diastolic blood pressure<sup>71,</sup> <sup>74</sup>. However, given the existing evidence for an inverse relationship between blood pressure and the risk of death among individuals 80 years of age and older it had remained unclear whether the benefits of anti-hypertensive therapy could be extrapolated to adults aged  $\geq 80$  years<sup>77-79</sup>. Two studies, a subgroup meta-analysis of randomized control trials of anti-hypertensive drugs in the elderly and a randomized placebo controlled trial, investigated the role of anti-hypertensive therapy in the subpopulation of elderly aged  $\geq 80$  years<sup>73, 75</sup>. The subgroup meta-analysis of a total of 1,670 adults aged  $\geq 80$  years suggested that anti-hypertensive therapy in this subpopulation results in a 34% reduction in strokes, 22% reduction CVD events, and 39% reduction in heart failure. However, relationship between antihypertensive therapy and mortality in persons aged  $\geq 80$  years remained unanswered until the results of HYVET became available. The HYVET trial, which was a randomized placebo controlled trial of 3.845 adults aged  $\geq 80$ years (mean age, 83.6 years), used a diuretic-based anti-hypertensive treatment regimen to achieve the target blood pressure (BP) of 150/80 mm Hg<sup>73</sup>. After a median follow-up duration of 1.8 years, anti-hypertensive therapy resulted in a significant 30% reduction in strokes and 64%

reduction in heart failure. Additionally, there was a significant 21% reduction in all-cause mortality in the treatment arm relative to placebo. In summary, treatment of hypertension in the elderly is beneficial in preventing strokes, heart failure, and mortality.

Questions do remain about what should be used as the appropriate target blood pressure (BP) for older adults. The target BP used in existing trials regarding BP lowering in hypertensive elderly (ie, 150/80 mm Hg in HYVET) are different from published guidelines<sup>80</sup>. Current approaches should take this into account when translating these guidelines to older adults. While keeping to the published BP targets, the clinicians should be aware of the major benefit achieved in studies of older adults that have lower blood pressure by 25 mmHg or to less that 150/90 mm Hg.

Additional outcomes where the data regarding the use of anti-hypertensive therapy are not yet definitive relates to the effects on cognitive decline and dementia. Anti-hypertensive therapy may maintain cognitive functioning by reducing the progression of cognitive impairment and the reduction of incident dementia<sup>81, 82</sup>. The vascular dementia project, which was part of the Syst-Eur trial, aimed at comparing antihypertensive treatment with placebo in 2,418 adults aged  $\geq 60$  years (mean age, 69.9 years) in terms of their association with the risk of incident dementia. In this study, an incident dementia was initially detected based on a Mini-Mental State Exam (MMSE) and confirmed in participants with an MMSE score of 23 or less using the criteria set by the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, revised (DSM-III-R). Following a median duration of 2.0 years, anti-hypertensive therapy with Nitrendipine, a calcium channel blocker, alone or in combination with an Angiotensin Converting Enzyme Inhibitor (ACEI) or a Thiazide diuretic resulted in a 50% relative reduction in incident dementia. Although a report by SHEP investigators failed to find a significant association between diureticbased anti-hypertensive therapy with Chlortalidone, follow-up analysis raised the possibility this finding may have been biased by differential dropout<sup>81,83</sup>.

Another topic of importance in approaching CVD risk reduction in older adults is the choice of anti-hypertensive medication. The Antihypertensive and Lipid Lowering Treatment to Prevent Heart Attack Trial (ALLHAT), which provided guidance on this issue, was a randomized active-controlled trial of 33,357 hypertensive adults with 1 additional CVD risk factor comparing four classes of antihypertensive agents<sup>84</sup>. The study population included 24,330 individuals aged  $\geq$ 55 years. The primary outcome of ALLHAT was a combined fatal CHD or nonfatal MI. The secondary outcomes were all-cause mortality, stroke, combined CHD (primary outcome, coronary revascularization, or angina with hospitalization), and combined CVD (CHD, stroke, treated angina without hospitalization, heart failure, and peripheral arterial disease). The ALLHAT investigators concluded that treatment with a Thiazide diuretic is preferred as the initial-step in therapy of most patients with hypertension<sup>85</sup>. This is in support of the Joint National Committee on prevention, detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood pressure (JNC 7) recommendations for antihypertensive therapy in the general population of hypertensive persons, including older adults<sup>80</sup>.

## 1.3.2 Lipid Lowering Therapy with Statins in Older Adults

Similar to other preventive measure, the intensity of lipid lowering therapy is adjusted according to an individual's absolute CVD risk. The recommendation by the Adult Treatment Panel III (ATP III) serves as a useful guide in achieving this task<sup>43, 86</sup>. According to the guideline, those at high risk are individuals with known coronary heart disease or in whom the 10-year risk associated with their risk factors is estimated to be 20% or greater. Also, persons with known

diabetes, metabolic syndrome, or an acute coronary syndrome, in addition to individuals with an established CVD are considered, are to be considered at very high risk. While all persons in the high risk categories should have an LDL-C goal of <100 mg/dL, the target of an LDL-C <70 mg/dL should be considered for adults at very high risk. In the case of older adults, the evidence supports the use of Statin therapy in high risk older persons with or without an established CVD.

Several studies of lipid lowering agents, the 3-hydroxy-3-mehtylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase inhibitors (Statins) in particular, have been conducted specifically in older adults or have included adequate number of older adults to support that effective and safely of lipid lowering with Statins to at least age 80. The Statins have been shown to be effective in the reduction of Low Density Lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) levels, CVD morbidity, and both CVD-specific and all-cause mortality. These findings have been replicated in both studies with the goal of primary and secondary prevention of CVD. Moreover, the beneficial effects on clinical outcomes have been shown to be independent of baseline cholesterol levels.

Randomized trials have shown statins use to be efficacious for the primary prevention of CVD in high risk middle-aged adults and younger elderly (TABLE 1.2)<sup>87-91</sup>. Additionally, a recent meta-analysis evaluating the role of statins in the primary prevention of CVD revealed that statin use resulted in significant reductions in major cardiovascular events, myocardial infarctions, all-cause mortality, and CVD mortality supporting the beneficial role of statins in primary prevention of  $CVD^{92}$ .

Secondary prevention trials of statins have revealed that statins are efficacious for adults of wide age range and across a broad range of baseline cholesterol values. Several of these secondary prevention studies utilizing statins as the lipid lowering agent are displayed in TABLE 1.3<sup>55-57</sup>. These randomized placebo controlled trials of statins in adults with established coronary

heart disease (CHD) have shown statins to be useful in reducing new events, including nonfatal MI, coronary revascularization, strokes, CHD-related mortality, and all-cause mortality. Similar to findings of the CARE and LIPID trials with participants whose cholesterol levels were considered to be of average levels, the 4S trial revealed a beneficial effect of statins in secondary prevention by reducing incident events and mortality in both the young (aged <60) and older (aged  $\geq$ 60) participants with elevated cholesterol and prevalent CHD.

Furthermore, based on the available data statins appear to have a favorable safety profile. Despite a concern for the association of statin use with increased cancer, meta-analyses of major statin trials have failed to replicate similar associations<sup>90, 93, 94</sup>. Evidence from existing trials has found the side effects related to statin use to be infrequent<sup>95</sup>. Moreover, there is no evidence to date to the fact that the statin safety profile would differ in the oldest old age group(ie, ages 80 years and older).

## 1.3.3 Aspirin Therapy in Older Adults

Aspirin, a cyclooxygenase inhibitor which leads to the blockade of platelet thromboxane  $A_2$  formation, is an effective primary and secondary prevention measure in high risk populations. However, the incorporation of aspirin therapy requires consideration for the associated increased risk of hemorrhage, including major gastrointestinal bleeding. Based on a recent study, the estimated incidence rate ( per 1,000 person-years) of aspirin associated upper gastrointestinal tract complications among men and women without any prior risk factors or use of NSAIDS increases from 4.8 and 2.4 among adults aged 60-69 years to 12.0 and 6.0 in adults aged  $\geq 80$  years<sup>96</sup>. The rates of gastrointestinal harm associated with aspirin use are approximately twofold greater than non-aspirin user and one-fourth the rate associated with the combined use of aspirin with NSAIDS.

Prior guidelines recommended the use of aspirin for the primary prevention of CHD in both males and females considered to be at high risk<sup>97,98</sup>. Based on the evidence from more recent studies, including the results the Women's Health Study<sup>99</sup>, the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (USPTF) has published their new recommendations<sup>100</sup>. In the publication, the USPTF encourages aspirin use for the reduction of myocardial infarctions in men aged 45-79 years and ischemic strokes in women aged 55-79 years when the potential benefit outweighs the harm of an increase in gastrointestinal hemorrhage. The Task Force report provides estimates for the benefits associated with aspirin use, the number of MI's in men and the number of strokes in women, utilizing the results of a recent meta-analysis of aspirin use for primary prevention which revealed that aspirin use was associated with a 32% relative reduction in MI and a 17% relative reduction in ischemic strokes<sup>101</sup>. Similarly, the estimates of gastrointestinal harm were based on rates of gastrointestinal bleeding in non-NSAID taking persons who did not have upper GI pain or a history of GI ulcer<sup>96</sup>. The 10-year CHD risk threshold at which the benefits of aspirin use for the prevention of MI in men outweighs the potential harm increases from 4% in men aged 45-49 years to 12% in men aged 70-79 years old. Similarly in women, the 10-year CHD risk threshold at which the benefits of aspirin use for stroke prevention outweighs the potential harm increases from 3% in women aged 55-59 years to 11% in women aged 70-79 years old. However, more evidence is needed regarding the both the risks and the benefits of aspirin use in CVD prevention for older adults, especially the oldest old age group (ages 80 years and older).
#### **1.3.4** Physical Activity and Fitness

The Center for Disease Control/American College of Sports Medicine (CDC/ACSM) physical activity guidelines recommend a minimum of 30 minutes of moderate intensity physical activity on 5 or more days per week or vigorous activity of at least 20 minutes duration on 3 more days per week<sup>102</sup>. In older adults, a daily walk of at least 20 to 30 minutes which is considered a moderate intensity activity would likely achieve a level of fitness resulting in significant reduction in mortality risk<sup>103</sup>. However, only 39% of U.S. adults aged 65 years and older meet the CDC/ACSM. Given the projected growth of the segment of the U.S. population aged 65 years and older in the future decades, prevention efforts promoting regular physical activity would lead to a substantial reduction in morbidity and mortality <sup>42</sup>.

#### 1.3.4.1 Prognostic significance of Physical Activity and Fitness

Physical activity or fitness has a favorable impact on the risk of mortality. For instance, the benefit anticipated if a physically unfit man or woman would become fit would be a change of 36.7% and 48.4% reduction in his or her risk of dying<sup>104</sup>. In order to place into perspective, a man or woman with high serum cholesterol ( $\geq 6.2 \text{ mmol/L}$ ) would reduce their risk by 39.3% and 40.5% if he or her lowered it, respectively<sup>104</sup>. In comparison, a man or woman with a high systolic blood pressure ( $\geq 140 \text{ mm Hg}$ ) would reduce their risk by 26.5% and 55.1% if he or her lowered it, respectively<sup>104</sup>. In terms of the impact at the population level, the death rates would be a 9.0% lower in men and 15.3% lower in women if an unfit individual becomes fit<sup>104</sup>.

The favorable effect of physical activity level in reducing the risk of mortality due to premature CVD, CHD, and all-cause mortality in middle-aged adults has been observed by a number of observational studies<sup>105-108</sup>. As in middle-aged adults, the inverse association between

physical activity and all-cause mortality has been shown in several studies of older adults<sup>109-115</sup>. Despite the number of studies on the inverse association between physical activity and CHD-specific mortality in middle-aged adults, the literature on this relationship in older aged adults have been equivocal. Table 1.4 displays the findings of several studies reporting on the relationship between physical activity in older adults with all-cause and CHD-specific mortality. Similarly, the summary of the findings of studies of the relationship between fitness in older adults with all-cause mortality is shown in Table 1.5.

The effect of physical activity has also been observed for leisure-time physical activity  $(LTPA)^{116}$ . Regular LTPA is associated with a lower risk for all-cause and cardiovascular disease morbidity and mortality in high risk middle-age adults. A higher level of LTPA has been shown to be associated with reduced incident of coronary heart disease (CHD) and mortality<sup>117,118</sup>. The Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial(MRFIT) reported on the association between LTPA with the first coronary heart disease event. In the MRFIT study of 12,138 middle-aged men (mean age 46 years) over a mean 7 years of follow-up revealed a statistically significant 36% relative risk reduction for coronary heart disease death and sudden death endpoint and a 27% risk reduction for all-cause mortality in moderately active individuals relative to light active group. In addition, there was a favorable trend for the endpoint of nonfatal myocardial infarction when comparing the heavy versus the light physical active individuals. Regarding the association of LTPA with reinfarction, among survivors of a first MI in the Corpus Christi Heart Project (mean age of 60.2 years) those individuals who increased their LTPA had a higher reinfarction rate (17 per 1000 years) as compared to sedentary individual whose LTPA remained unchanged<sup>119</sup>.

#### 1.3.4.2 Relationship of Fitness with Age

Cardiorespiratory fitness or capacity declines with increasing age<sup>120, 121</sup>. The estimated decline with increasing in age ranges from 5.5% in trained master athletes to 12% decline in peak oxygen consumption per 10 year in sedentary adult men<sup>120</sup>. While the rate is attenuated after accounting for muscle mass, this age-related decline in cardiorespiratory fitness is persists in both men and women<sup>122, 123</sup>. In addition to age and gender, several other factors are have been associated with cardiorespiratory fitness including the duration, intensity, frequency, and type of physical activity, cardiovascular risk factors, clinical and subclinical disease, medications, and genetic factors<sup>124</sup>. It has been estimated that genetic factors account from 25% to 40% of cardiorespiratory fitness<sup>125</sup>.

## 1.3.4.3 Effects of Physical Activity on Cardiovascular Risk Factors

The favorable effect of physical activity on CVD risk reduction is likely mediated via a combined favorable effect on traditional cardiovascular risk factors, non-traditional factors, and other unknown factors<sup>125</sup>. Most physically active individual will have a change in the order of magnitude between 2% to 5% in their traditional cardiovascular risk factors, including 5% decrease in lipids<sup>126</sup>, 3 to 5 mm Hg lowering of blood pressure<sup>127</sup>, and a 1% lowering of HgbA1c<sup>128</sup>. Additionally, regular physical activity result is reductions in inflammatory markers<sup>128</sup>, including C-Reactive Protein<sup>129, 130</sup>.

## **1.3.4.4** Assessment of Physical Fitness

Cardiorespiratory or physical fitness is condition which is measured more objectively than the behavior of physical activity. Physical activity is a behavior which is modifiable and that serves as a determinant of physical fitness<sup>104</sup>. While fitness may serve as a marker of physical activity

level, the objective measurement of fitness is more precise than the self-reported physical activity typically captured via questionnaires<sup>131</sup>. While studies have between consistent with respect to the direction of association between fitness or activity and health outcomes, the objective measurement of fitness likely accounts for the greater strength of association between fitness and outcomes.

Fitness can either be measured by an exercise treadmill or cycle ergometer testing or walk-based tests. The oxygen uptake (VO2), either peak or maximal, is a product of the cardiac output and arteriovenous oxygen difference is obtained from exercise testing. The oxygen uptake can also be reported in metabolic equivalents (METs), where one MET is equivalent to oxygen uptake of 3.5 mL/ kg per min. The MET represents a ratio of the metabolic rate during exercise to the resting metabolic rate. The oxygen uptake can either be directly measured or can also be estimated via established normograms with the direct measurement representing the gold standard<sup>132</sup>. Several factors contribute to the discrepancy seen between directly measured versus estimated oxygen uptake including the level of familiarity with the treadmill protocol, use of handrail support, submaximal versus maximal testing, and population differences<sup>124</sup>.

Oxygen uptake is conventionally obtained according to either a maximal or submaximal treadmill-based protocols or cycle ergometry exercise testing. Treadmill-based and walk-based testing represent alternate methods for the assessment of functional exercise capacity<sup>124</sup>. While the treadmill exercise test has been the most commonly applied method for the assessment of exercise capacity, older adults encounter greater limitations in their ability to execute a treadmill based exercise test<sup>133</sup>. Moreover, the submaximal performance during a walking test in older adults may be a better reflection of daily activities and a more practical method of assessment than treadmill-based protocols<sup>134-136</sup>.

27

# Six Minute Walk Test

The 6 MWT was introduced after 1976 with the use of the 12-minute corridor walking test<sup>137</sup>. The 6 MWT is a simple, safe, and easily administered test which has been studied in various disease specific populations, such as those with pulmonary disease, heart failure, pacemakers, peripheral arterial disease, and organ transplant candidates<sup>138-144</sup>. In older adult populations the 6 MWT is a reliable and valid measure of functional capacity<sup>145</sup>. The distance walked during six minutes has been shown to be an independent predictor of morbidity and mortality in various disease-specific populations as displayed in Table 1.6.

# **1.4 TABLES FOR INTRODUCTION**

Study	Population	Treatment	Follow-up	Summary
SHEP <sup>72</sup>	n=4,736; Age: 72yr, mean	Diuretic (Chlorthalidone) or Placebo	Mean:4.5yr	A Significant 36% reduction in stroke, 54% in left ventricular failure, and a 33% reduction in myocardial infarction. No significant reduction in CVD-related or all-cause mortality.
MRC <sup>71</sup>	n=4,396; Age:70yr, mean	Diuretic (Chlorothiazide or Amiloride) or β- blocker (Atenolol) or Placebo	Mean:5.8yr	A significant 31% reduction in risk of stroke, 44% reduction for coronary heart disease, 35% reduction in cardiovascular events, and 29% reduction in cardiovascular deaths in the diuretic arm.
STOP- Hypertension <sup>74</sup>	n=1,627; Age:76yr, mean	Diuretic and/or β-blocker or Placebo	Mean:25mo	A significant 47% relative reduction in all type stroke, and 43% reduction in all- cause mortality.
Syst-Eur <sup>76</sup>	n=4,695; Age:70yr, mean	Calcium Channel Blocker, Angiotensin Converting Enzyme Inhibitor, and/or Hydrochlorathiazide or Placebo	Median:2yr	A significant 42% reduction in stroke (fatal and non-fatal), and 26% reduction in fatal and non- fatal cardiac endpoints (heart failure, myocardial infarction, and sudden death) rates.
Abbreviations: Stripl: STOP-Hy	SHEP refers to	Systolic Hypertension in the	e Elderly; MR(	C, Medical Research Council

## Table 1.1 Studies of Anti-Hypertensive Therapy in Older Adults

Abbreviations: SHEP refers to Systolic Hypertension in the Elderly; MRC, Medical Research Council trial; STOP-Hypertension, Swedish Trial in Old Patients with Hypertension; Syst-Eur, Systolic Hypertension in Europe trial; n, sample size; yr, year; mo, months. With kind permission from Springer Science Business Media: Current Cardiovascular Risk Reports,

Evolving Concepts of Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Older Adults, 3, 2009, 366-373, Yazdanyar A Newman AB, Copyright 2009.

Study	Population	Treatment	Follow-up	Summary of Results		
WOSCOPS <sup>91</sup>	6,595 with hypercholesterolemia Age: range, 45-64 yr	Pravastatin 40 mg/d or Placebo	Mean: 4.9 yr	31% reduction in non- fatal MI or CHD mortality; 22% reduction in total mortality		
AFCAPS/TexCAPS <sup>88</sup>	6,605 with average cholesterol levels (LDL-C mean, 150 mg/dL) Age: mean,58 yr; Range, 45-73 yr; Included 1,416 persons aged ≥65 yr	Lovastatin 20-40 mg/d or Placebo	Mean:5.2 yr	37% reduction in fatal or non-fatal MI, unstable angina, or sudden death, 40% reduction in fatal and non-fatal MI, 25% reduction in total CV events, 25% reduction in fatal and non-fatal coronary events, and 33% reduction in revascularizations.		
HPS <sup>87</sup>	20,536 at high risk Age: range, 40-80 yr; Included 5,806 persons aged ≥70 yr	Simvastatin 40 mg/d or Placebo	Mean: 5 yr	Approximately 25% reduction in rate of non-fatal MI or coronary death, fatal or non-fatal stroke, and coronary or non- coronary revascularization		
ASCOT-LLA <sup>89</sup>	10,305 with hypertension Age: mean, 63 yr; range, 40-79 yr; Included 6,570 persons aged $\geq$ 60 yr	Atorvastatin 10 mg/d or Placebo	Median: 3.3 yr	36% reduction in endpoint of non-fatal MI, including silent MI, and fatal CHD.		
PROSPER <sup>90</sup>	4,695 participants Age: mean, 75 yr; range,70-82 yr	Pravastatin 40 mg/d or Placebo	Mean: 3.2 yr	15% reduction in endpoint of coronary death, non-fatal MI, and fatal or non-fatal stroke. Also, a 24% reduction in CHD mortality. No significant effect on rate of stroke, cognitive decline, or disability.		
Abbreviations: WOSCOPS refers to West of Scotland Coronary Prevention Study; AFCAPS/TexCAPS, Air Force/Texas Coronary Atherosclerosis Prevention Study; HPS, Heart Protection Study; PROSPER, Pravastatin in elderlyat risk of vascular disease; ASCOT-LLA, Anglo-Scandanavian Cardiac Outcomes Trial-Lipid Lowering Arm;. With kind permission from Springer Science Business Media: Current						

Table 1.2 Studies of I	inid Lowering	Therany with	Statins for	Primary	Prevention
Table 1.2 Studies of 1	npiù Lowei mg	i nerapy with	Stating 101	1 I IIIIai y	1 I EVENHOR

Cardiovascular Risk Reports, Evolving Concepts of Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Older Adults, 3, 2009, 363-377, Yazdanyar A Newman AB, Copyright 2009.

Table 1.3 Studies of Lipid Lowering Therapy with Statins for Secondary Prevention

Study	Population	Treatment	Follow-up	Summary of Results
4S <sup>55</sup>	4,444 participants with hypercholesterolemia Age: mean, 58 yr (men), 61 yr (women); range, 35-74 yr; Included 2,284 persons ≥60 yr	Simvastatin 10-40 mg/d or Placebo	Median:5.4yr	42% relative reduction in coronary- related mortality, 35% reduction in all-CVD-related mortality, and 30% reduction in all-cause mortality. Also, a 37% relative reduction in non-fatal MI. Similar beneficial treatment effect in persons aged $\geq 60$ and $\leq 60$ years old.
CARE <sup>57</sup>	4,159 participants Age: mean: 59 yr; range, 21-75 yr; Included 2,129 persons aged ≥60 yr	Pravastatin 40 mg/d or Placebo	Median: 5 yr	24% relative reduction in primary endpoint of fatal CHD or MI.
LIPID <sup>56</sup>	9,014 participants at high risk Age: median, 62 yr; range, 31-75 yr; Included 2,168 persons aged 65-69 yr and 1,346 aged $\geq$ 70 yr	Pravastatin 40 mg/d or Placebo	Mean: 6.1 yr	A 24% reduction in CHD mortality and 22% reduction in all-cause mortality. Also, reductions in non- fatal MI and stroke.

Abbreviations: 4S refers to Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study; CARE, Cholesterol and Recurrent Events trial; LIPID, Long-term Intervention with Pravastatin in Ischemia; mg/d, milligrams per day; yr, year.

With Kind permission from Springer Science Business Media: Current Cardiovascular Risk Reports, Evolving Concepts of Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Older Adults, 3, 2009, 366-373, Yazdanyar A Newman AB, Copyright 2009.

			Activity	
Study	Study Design	Study Population	Assessment	Results
Kaplan et al. <sup>109</sup>	Retrospective Cohort	4,174 adults aged 55 years and older (21% aged 65-70 years) residents of Alameda County, California participating in the Alameda County Study; follow-up period of 17 years	Questionnaire of seven behavioral risk factors including engaging in regular physical activity	Adults aged 60 years or more reporting low compared to high physical activity level had a higher risk of all-cause mortality (HR, 1.38; 95% CI, 1.17-1.62).
Simonsick et al. <sup>112</sup>	Retrospective Cohort	A total of 1,874 East Boston, 1488 New Haven, and 1,815 Iowa older adult (aged 65 years and older) participants of the Established Populations for Epidemiologic Studies of the Elderly; Outcomes assessed after 3 and 6 years of follow-up	Questionnaire of recreational physical activity such as walking.	Frequent walking was associated with reduced risk of mortality over 3 and 6 years; moderate to high activity reduced risk of physical limitation over 3 years; No significant relationship of activity with incident angina, myocardial infarction, or stroke.
Bijnen et al. <sup>115</sup>	Retrospective Cohort	A total of 802 older aged 64 years or more (mean, 71.4±5.2 years) Dutch men participating in the Zutphen Elderly Study; Outcomes assessed after 10 years of follow-up	Questionnaire of leisure-time physical activity.	Relative to lowest physical activity, adults in highest tertile had a reduced risk of all-cause mortality( HR, 0.77; 95% CI, 0.59-1.00) and CVD mortality (HR, 0.70; 95% CI, 0.48-1.01) but not CHD mortality (HR, 0.85; 95% CI, 0.51-1.44)
Yates et al. <sup>114</sup>	Prospective Cohort	A total of 2,357 older aged men (mean age, 72 years) participating in the Physicians' Health Study	Questionnaire of the frequency of vigorous exercise	Regular exercise was associated with a lower risk of mortality (HR, 0.72; 95% CI, 0.62-0.83)
Stessman et al. <sup>113</sup>	Prospective Cohort	A total of 1,861 aged 70 years or more participating in the Jerusalem Longitudinal Cohort Study	Questionnaire of the regular physical activity	Both Maintaining physical activity and initiating physical activity after age of 70 years were associated with reduced risk of mortality.
Abbreviation	ns: HR represents ha	zards ratio; 95% C.I., 95%	Confidence Interval.	

Table 1.4 Relationship of Physical Activity in Older Adults with Coronary Heart Disease and Mortality

		Study				
Study	Study Design	Population	Fitness Test	Results		
Blair et al. <sup>104</sup>	Prospective Cohort	10,224 middle- aged men and 3120 women with a preventative medical examination at the Cooper Clinic	Maximal exercise treadmill test	Lower risk of all-cause mortality primarily due to CVD and cancer deaths with higher fitness in men and women. RR for 2 least-fit quintiles(Q) relative to most fit quintile in men were Q1 1.8(95% CI,1.4-2.4) and Q2 1.3(95% CI,1.0-1.8). In women, the risk in least fit quintile was 3.9(95% CI,1.4- 11.0) relative to most fit quintile. Decline observed in death rates with higher fitness was more pronounced in older aged (>60 years).		
Laukkanen et al. <sup>146</sup>	Retrospective Cohort	1,294 randomly selected sample of middle-aged men without prevalent cardiovascular disease in eastern Finland (mean age, 52.1 years) participating in the Kuopio Ischaemic Heart Disease Risk Factor Study	Symptom-limited bicycle ergometry test	Both exercise duration and oxygen uptake were predictors of mortality. Relative to MET>10.6, MET<7.9 was associated with HR 3.85 (95% CI, 2.0- 7.3) of overall death, 3.97(95% CI,1.3-12.0) CVD- specific death, and 3.79(95% CI,1.7-8.4) non-CVD deaths. Relative to exercise duration>11.2 min, duration<8.2 was associated with HR 3.94 (95% CI, 2.0- 7.7) of overall death, 4.54(95% CI,1.5-14.0) CVD- specific death, and 3.68(95% CI,1.6-8.6) non-CVD deaths.		
Abbreviation	s: KK represents	relative risk; 95% CI,	95% Confidence Inte	erval; MET, Metabolic		
Equivalent.						

# Table 1.5 Relationship of Treadmill and Cycle Ergometry Exercise-Based Fitness with Mortality

# Table 1.5 (Continued)

Study	Study Design	Study Population	Fitness Test	Results
Goraya et al. <sup>147</sup>	Retrospective Cohort	514 older adults aged 65 years and older and 2,593 adults aged younger than 65 years participating in the Rochester Epidemiology Project; 48% women in elderly subgroup	Treadmill exercise test using standard Bruce, modified Bruce, Naughton protocols	In older adults, an increase of 1 MET associated with 18% decrease risk of cardiac events and 18% decreased risk of death; Mortality rate 37% in older and 8% among younger persons (p<0.001)
Spin et al. <sup>148</sup>	Retrospective Cohort	1,185 older male adults aged 65 years and older and 2,789 adults aged 65 years referred for exercise testing	Treadmill exercise test according to United States Air Force School of Aerospace Medicine or individualized ramp protocols	In older and younger subgroups, an increase of 1 MET was associated with 11% decrease risk of death; Mortality rate 23% in older and 10% among younger persons
Myers et al. <sup>149</sup>	Retrospective Cohort	6,213 men referred for exercise testing; age 59 +/- 11 years	Treadmill exercise test according standardized graded or individualized ramp protocols	An increase of 1 MET associated with 12% decrease risk of death; Annual average mortality rate of 2.6%
Gulati et al. <sup>150</sup>	Retrospective Cohort	5,721 asymptomatic women participating in the St James Women Take Heart Project; age 52 +/- 11	Treadmill exercise test according the Bruce protocol	An increase of 1 MET associated with 17% decrease risk of death; overall mortality rate was 3.2%
Messinger- Rapport et al. <sup>151</sup>	Prospective Cohort	6,022 adults aged 65 to 74 and 1,332 aged 75 years and older referred for exercise testing; 32% women	Treadmill exercise test according Bruce, modified Bruce, or Cornell protocol	Impaired peak exercise workload in lowest quintile for age- and sex- strata (HR, 2.1; 95% CI, 1.8 - 2.4) and impaired heart rate recovery (HR, 1.5;95% CI, 1.3 - 1.7) were associated with increased mortality risk
Abbreviation Equivalents.	s: HR represents	hazards ratio; 95% CI, 95	% Confidence Interva	al; MET, Metabolic

# Table 1.5 (Continued)

		Study		
Study	Study Design	Population	Fitness Test	Results
Mora et al. <sup>152</sup>	Retrospective Cohort	2,994 women without cardiovascular disease participating in the Lipid Research Clinic Prevalence Study; 30 to 80 years age range	Treadmill exercise test according to Bruce protocol	A decrease in MET was associated with increased risk of all- cause (HR, 1.11; 95% CI, 1.06 - 1.17) and cardiovascular death (HR, 1.17; 95% CI, 1.07 - 1.27); A 10 beat per minute decrement in heart rate recovery was associated with an increase risk of all- cause death (HR, 1.20; 95% CI, 1.04 - 1.38)
Sui et al. <sup>153</sup>	Retrospective Cohort	2,087 men and 516 women participating in the Aerobics Center Longitudinal Study; age 64 +/- 5 years	Treadmill exercise test according to a modified Balke protocol	Relative to referent lowest quintile of treadmill duration, decreased risk of mortality across longer treadmill time quintiles, HR, 0.53; 0.44, 0.43, 0.30, respectively; Both fitness and BMI are independent predictors of mortality
Kokkinos et al. <sup>154</sup>	Retrospective Cohort	5,314 male veterans aged 65 years or more (mean age, 71.4 years; 3,224 White ad 2,090 Black) with either routine evaluation or an evaluation for exercise- induced ischemia; median follow-up of 8.1 years	Treadmill exercise test according to either a Balke protocol or an individualized ramp protocol	Compared to persons with fitness at 4 METs or less, there was reduces risk of mortality persons achieving METs 5.1- 6.0 with (HR, 0.62; 95% CI, 0.54-0.71) and those achieving METs of 9 or more with HR 0.39 (95% CI, 0.32-0.49).
Abbreviations: Equivalents	: HR represents h	nazards ratio; 95% CI	, 95% Confidence Interval	; MET, Metabolic

Study	Study Design	Study Population	Fitness Test	Results
Cahalin et al. <sup>155</sup>	Prospective	45 adults referred for heart transplantation evaluation; age 49 +/- 8 years	6 MWT and Cycle ergometry testing with radionuclide angiography	6 MWT distance less than 300 meters was associated with short-term (6 months) death or hospitalization for inotropic or mechanical support (p=0.04) but not long-term (p=0.14)
Bittner et al. <sup>139</sup>	Cross- sectional	Stratified random sample of 898 patients with ejection fraction 0.45 or less enrolled in the randomized clinical trial (SOLVD); age 59 +/- 12 years	6 MWT	Decrement of 120 meters was associated with increased mortality in heart failure with ejection fraction less than 0.45 (OR, 1.50; 95% CI, 1.11 - 2.03) and also among preserved ejection fraction (OR, 2.62; 95% CI, 1.57 - 4.37)
Rostagno et al. <sup>156</sup>	Prospective	214 patients either referred or admitted via emergency department for mild to moderate heart failure; age 64 years	6 MWT and treadmill exercise testing according to modified Bruce protocol	6 MWT distance less than 300 meters was associated with a higher risk of mortality (p=0.012) compared to higher distance walked; Multivariable association revealed a reduced risk of death per meter increase in walk distance (HR, 0.995; 95% CI, 0.993 - 0.997)
Shah et al. <sup>157</sup>	Prospective	440 symptomatic heart failure with ejection fraction 0.25 or less patients participating in a randomized clinical trial (FIRST) comparing epoprostenol and standard therapy with standard therapy alone; age 64 years in able to walk and 67 years in unable to walk	6 MWT	Decrement of 100 meters during 6 MWT distance was associated with increased risk of mortality (HR, 0.58; 95% CI, 0.50 - 0.68) and hospitalization (HR, 0.85; 95% CI, 0.46 - 0.90)
Abbreviations Confidence In	: 6 MWT repre terval: MET N	esents 6 Minute Walk T Metabolic Equivalents	est; HR, hazards ration	o; OR, Odds Ratio; 95% CI, 95%

Table 1.6 Relationship between the 6 Minute Walk Test Performance with Mortality

# Table 1.6 (Continued)

Author	Study Design	Study Population	Fitness Test	Results
Lederer et al. <sup>145</sup>	Retrospective cohort	454 patient with Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis listed for lung transplantation with United Network for Organ Sharing; age 56 +/- 9 years	6 MWT	6 MWT distance less than 207 meters relative to greater distance was associated with increased waiting-list mortality risk (HR, 4.7; 95% CI, 2.5 - 8.9)
Castel et al. <sup>158</sup>	Retrospective cohort	188 patients with moderate to severe heart failure referred for cardiac resynchronization therapy; age 69 +/- 8 years	6 MWT	6 MWT distance less than 225 meters was associated with increased risk of mortality relative to a distance of 400 meters or longer (HR, 5.6; 95% CI, 1.2 - 25.3)
Alahdab et al. <sup>159</sup>	Prospective	198 African American patients with acute decompensated heart failure admitted to a single tertiary hospital; age 56 +/- 13 years	6 MWT	6 MWT distance less than 200 meters was associated with increased risk of mortality (HR, 2.1; 95% CI, 1.2 - 3.8) relative a distance 200 meters or more.
Enfield et al. <sup>160</sup>	Retrospective cohort	815 patients with severe Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease with inpatient pulmonary rehabilitation; age 73 +/- 9	6 MWT	Post-pulmonary rehabilitation 6 MWT distance was associated with survival (HR, 1.3; 95% CI, 1.2 - 1.4)
Carey et al. <sup>161</sup>	Prospective	121 patients with end stage liver disease listed for liver transplantation at a tertiary medical center; age 56 +/- 9 years	6 MWT	Increase of 100 meters on 6 MWT distance was associated with lower mortality risk (HR, 0.6; 95% CI, 0.4 - 0.9)
Boxer et al. <sup>162</sup>	Prospective	60 patients recruited from a heart failure clinic; age 78 +/- 12 years	6 MWT	Increase of 30 meters during 6 MWT distance was associated with decreased risk of mortality (HR, 0.82; 95% CI 0.72 - 0.94) along with an increase risk associated with markers of frailty (HR, 1.64; 95% CI, 1.19 - 2.26)
Abbreviatio Metabolic E	ns: HR represent quivalents; 6 MV	s hazards ratio; OR, Odds Rat VT, 6 Minute Walk Test.	io; 9 <mark>5% C</mark>	I, 95% Confidence Interval; MET,

# 1.5 FIGURES FOR INTRODUCTION



Figure 1.1 Number of Deaths (in thousands) due to Cardiovascular Diseases by Age

in 2005



Figure 1.2 Prevalence of Cardiovascular Disease in Adults aged 20 Years and Older

by Age and Sex



Figure 1.3 Incidence of Cardiovascular Disease in Adults Aged 45 Years and Older

by Age and Sex



Figure 1.4 Prevalence of Coronary Heart Disease in Adults Aged 20 Years and

Older by Age and Sex



Figure 1.5 Ten Year Incidence Rate of Coronary Heart Disease in Caucasians by Age and Sex: Cardiovascular Health Study



Figure 1.6 Incidence Rate of Coronary Heart Disease in African Americans by Age

and Sex: Cardiovascular Health Study



Figure 1.7 Ten Year Incidence Rate of Myocardial Infarction in Causasians by Age

and Sex: Cardiovascular Health Study



Figure 1.8 Ten Year Incidence of Myocardial Infarction in African Americans by

Age and Sex: Cardiovascular Health Study





**Cardiovascular Health Study** 



Figure 1.10 Ten Year Incidence of Heart Failure in African Americans by Age and Sex: Cardiovascular Hecnj 'Uwf {



Figure 1.11 Ten Year Incidence of Stroke in Caucasians by Age and Gender: Cardiovascular Health Study



Figure 1.12 Ten Year Incidence of Stroke in African Americans by Age and Sex:

#### **Cardiovascular Health Study**



Figure 1.13 Estimated Cost of Cardiovascular Diseases and Stroke

# 2.0 ASSOCIATION BETWEEN SIX MINUTE WALK DISTANCE AND ALL-CAUSE MORTALITY, CORONARY HEART DISEASE-SPECIFIC MORTALITY, AND INCIDENT CORONARY HEART DISEASE

# Manuscript in preparation

A Yazdanyar<sup>1</sup>, M Aziz<sup>2</sup>, PL Enright<sup>3</sup>, RM Boudreau<sup>1</sup>, D Edmundowicz<sup>4</sup>, K Sutton-Tyrrell<sup>1</sup>, L Kuller<sup>1</sup>, AB Newman<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Epidemiology, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, USA

<sup>2</sup>School of Medicine, St George's University, West Indies, Grenada

<sup>3</sup>Department of Medicine, University of Arizona, Tucson, Arizona, USA

<sup>4</sup>Department of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

## 2.1 ABSTRACT

*Introduction:* Exercise fitness assessed by treadmill exercise testing is an independent predictor of morbidity and mortality in middle-age and older adults. However, little has been reported on the utility of submaximal walking testing, such as the six-minute walk test (6 MWT), in predicting outcomes among older adults. *Objective:* To determine whether the 6 MWT distance is an independent predictor of all-cause mortality, coronary heart disease(CHD)-specific mortality, and incident CHD in a large cohort of community-dwelling older adults. *Methods:* We conducted a time-to-event analysis of the 4,708 Cardiovascular Health Study (CHS) participants, a well-characterized cohort of older adults from 4 U.S. communities. The 6 MWT was conducted during clinic visit from June 1996 to May 1997, and completed by 2,116 participants. Additionally, 163 partially completed, and 1,052 did not attempt the 6 MWT test, while 1,377 did not have an in-person annual study exam. Events were determined after a mean follow-up time of 7.3 years. **Results:** The mean age at the time of the 6 MWT was 77.4 years; and the mean 6MWT distance was 343.5 meters. During follow-up, there were 793 all-cause deaths, and 187 CHD-specific deaths among participants with a 6 MWT. Among the 1,822 without prevalent CHD at the time of 6 MWT, 347 incident CHD events occurred. Event rates (per 1000 person-years) were 47.6 for all-cause mortality, 11.2 for CHD-specific mortality, and 27.6 for incident CHD. In age- and sex-adjusted models, participants in the lowest 6 MWT distance quintile (<279 meters) were at increased risk of all-cause mortality (adjusted Hazard Ratio (HR), 3.0; 95% Confidence Interval (CI), 2.4-3.8), CHD-specific mortality (adjusted HR, 2.4; 95% CI, 1.5-3.8) and incident CHD (adjusted HR, 1.6; 95% CI, 1.2-2.3). In a fully adjusted

model, participants with a 6MWT performance in the lowest two distance quintiles remained at a greater risk of all-cause mortality (6 MWT 279-333 meters: adjusted HR 1.6; 95% CI, 1.2-2.2; 6 MWT <279 meters: adjusted HR 1.9; 95% CI, 1.4-2.5). The inverse relationship between 6 MWT performance and all-cause mortality remained in analyses stratified by age, sex, and race. The increased risk of CHD-specific mortality and incident CHD observed in the lowest 6 MWT distance quintile (<279 meters) was attenuated, by 65.5% and 71%, respectively, after adjustment for confounders (CHD-specific mortality adjusted HR, 1.4 (95% CI, 0.8-2.4); incident CHD adjusted HR, 1.2 (95% CI, 0.8-1.8). *Conclusion:* The 6 MWT was an independent predictor of all-cause mortality in community-dwelling older adults.

# 2.2 INTRODUCTION

Physical fitness, as measured by exercise duration or oxygen uptake, has been shown to predict cardiovascular events and all-cause mortality in middle-aged and older adults populations<sup>1-7</sup>. Treadmill-based and walk-based testing represent alternate methods for the assessment of functional exercise capacity<sup>8</sup>. While the treadmill exercise test has been the most commonly applied method for the assessment of exercise capacity, older adults encounter greater limitations in their ability to complete a treadmill based exercise test<sup>9</sup>. Moreover, the submaximal performance during a walking test in older adults may be a better reflection of daily activities and a more practical method of assessment than treadmill-based protocols<sup>10-12</sup>. While performance on walking test such as the 6-Minute Walk test (6 MWT) has been shown to be of prognostic significance in various disease-specific patient populations, there is limited information on the prognostic value of the 6 MWT in community-dwelling older adults.

The 6 MWT is a simple, safe, and easily administered test which has been studied in various disease specific populations, such as those with pulmonary disease, heart failure, pacemakers, peripheral arterial disease, and organ transplant candidates<sup>13-20</sup>. In older adult populations the 6 MWT is a reliable and valid measure of functional capacity<sup>21</sup>. We investigated the prognostic value of the 6 MWT performance in community-dwelling older adults. More specifically, we aimed to determine whether the performance distance in a 6 MWT would be predictive of all-cause mortality, coronary heart disease-specific mortality, and incident coronary heart disease.

## 2.3 METHODS

#### 2.3.1 Population

The CHS is an observational study with the primary goal of determining the risk factors for and consequences of cardiovascular disease in older adults. The design and methods of the CHS have been previously described elsewhere<sup>22, 23</sup>. Briefly, 5.888 community-dwelling older adults were recruited for CHS, including 5,201 participants recruited in 1989-1990 and an additional 687 minority predominant participants were recruited between 1992-1993. Recruitment was from a random sample of the Health Care Finance Administration Medicare eligibility lists in four communities: Forsyth County, North Carolina; Sacramento County, California; Washington County, Maryland; and Pittsburgh(Allegheny County), Pennsylvania. Annual clinic visits and semi-annual telephone and clinic contacts included standardized assessments of participant health history and behaviors, cardiovascular risk factors, measures of subclinical cardiovascular disease, cognitive and physical function. The 6 MWT was conducted during the CHS in-person examination performed between June 1996 and May 1997. The 6 MWT exclusion criteria included the presence of pre-test electrocardiogram (ECG) abnormalities, use of ambulatory aids, presence of aortic stenosis, heart rate less than 50 beats per minute or greater than 110 beats per minute, systolic blood pressure greater than 200 mm Hg or diastolic blood pressure greater than 110 mm Hg, or a myocardial infarction, angioplasty, coronary artery bypass surgery, new chest pain, dyspnea, fainting, a resting oxygen saturation less than 90%, or at the discretion of the technician. Of the 4,708 participants who remained enrolled in CHS between June 1996 and May 1997, 1,377 had a phone or proxy interview and did not have an in-person study visit. Of the 3,331 with an in-person study visit, there were 2116 participants who completed, 163 partially completed, and 1052 were either excluded due to the above listed exclusion criteria (n=764), or did not attempt the 6 MWT by either refusing testing (n=39), stating physically inability (n=34), lacking sufficient time (n=2), at technician discretion (n=28), or providing other reasons (n=30), while the remaining did not participate in the 6 MWT for unknown reason (n=155).

#### 2.3.2 Six Minute Walk Test

The 6 MWT was conducted according to a standard protocol similar to the American Thoracic Society guidelines<sup>24</sup>. Briefly, in a 100 foot section of an internal hallway with distance marked every five feet by colored tape along the baseboard, participants were instructed to "walk at their own pace" up and down the hallway while attempting to cover as much ground as possible. This was the only difference between the CHS protocol for the 6 MWT and the American Thoracic Society guidelines where 6 MWT participants are encouraged to "cover as much distance as possible in 6 minutes". Technicians encouraged the participants with the standardized statements, such as "you are doing well" or "keep up the good work," but were asked not to use other phrases. Participants were allowed to stop and rest during the test, but were instructed to resume walking as soon as they could. If a participant stopped and refused to continue the test before the six minutes had elapsed, the distance walked was recorded and the walk was coded as a partial test. The technician used a mechanical lap counter to count the number of laps completed, and an electronic timer with a buzzer that sounded the completion of the 6 minutes. While oxygen saturation and pulse rate were recorded prior to the exercise, the technicians did not walk with participants and did not record the pulse oximetry readings during the walk.

#### 2.3.3 Potential Confounders

CHS exams were extensive and included risk factors and potential confounding or mediating variables of age, sex, race, cigarette smoking status (current vs. former or never), education level (less than high school vs. more than high school), history of treated hypertension or diabetes, weight (kilograms), height (meters), waist circumference (cm), systolic blood pressure (mm Hg), total cholesterol (mg/dL), and fasting glucose  $(mg/dL)^{22}$ . Cognitive function was assessed with the Mini-Mental Status Exam<sup>25</sup> and depressive symptoms using the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression (CES-D) score $^{26}$ . Also assessed were limitations in the Activities of Daily Living (ADL) (any vs. no limitation), Instrumental Activities of Daily Living (IADL) (any vs. no limitation), self-reported general health status (fair or poor vs. good, very good, or excellent health). Major ECG abnormalities included ventricular conduction defects, major Q or QS abnormalities, minor Q or QS with ST-T-wave abnormalities, left ventricular hypertrophy, isolated major ST-T-wave abnormalities, atrial fibrillation, or first degree atrioventricular block were determined by a centralized ECG Reading Center according to a standard protocol<sup>27</sup>. The ankle arm index (AAI) was measured by trained technicians according to a standard protocol<sup>28</sup>. Prevalent CHD, CHF, stroke, TIA, and intermittent claudication were ascertained using methods previously described<sup>29</sup>. Chronic pulmonary disease was defined as a history of chronic bronchitis, emphysema, or asthma. Arthritis of the knees or hips was assessed by self-report.

# 2.3.4 Outcomes

The detailed methods used by the CHS for surveillance and ascertainment of mortality and cardiovascular events have been previously described<sup>30</sup>. Participants were contacted every 6

months in regards to interim hospitalizations and clinical visits for cardiovascular diagnoses including myocardial infarction (MI), angina, congestive heart failure (CHF), stroke, transient ischemic attack (TIA), and peripheral artery disease. An incident coronary heart disease (CHD) was defined as MI, angina, or coronary revascularization. Mortality was documented by death certificates, inpatient records, nursing home or hospice records, physician questionnaires, and autopsy reports. A CHD-specific mortality was defined to include death from CHD and sudden death. All deaths and cardiovascular events were adjudicated by a CHS committee using a standardized protocol.

### 2.3.5 Statistical Analysis

Analysis of variance or Kruskal Wallis test for continuous variable and Chi Squared test for categorical variables were used to test differences in participant characteristics across the 6 MWT completion status groups and 6 MWT distance quintiles, as appropriate. The 6 MWT distance was categorized into quintiles of > 411 meters, 368 to 411 meters, 333 to 368 meters, 279 to 333 meters, and to 279 meters. Crude event rates for each outcome were calculated and reported per 1000 person-years. Cox proportional hazard regression models were used to determine hazard ratios for the outcome of all-cause mortality, CHD-specific mortality, and incident CHD. Hazard ratios were estimated for the 6 MWT completion status groups and separately per quintile of 6 MWT distance with the longest 6 MWT distance quintile (> 411 meters) serving as the referent group. The hazards models were initially adjusted for age and sex, and subsequently for other confounders in fully adjusted models. In addition, separate stratified Cox proportional hazards models assessed whether the direction or magnitude of the association between 6 MWT performance and study endpoints varied by age (<80 vs.  $\geq$  80

years), race (white vs. non-white), sex, and self-reported general health status (fair or poor vs. good, very good, or excellent health).

Statistical analyses were conducted using STATA 11.1 (STATA Corporation, College Station, TX). All reported p values are based on a two-sided test with P < 0.05 considered statistically significant.

## 2.4 RESULTS

Participant characteristics by clinic visit and 6 MWT status revealed that those with 6 MWT attempt were younger, more often men, of white race, or of higher education level; taller in height, of lower body weight; less reported depressive symptoms; less often report inability to perform any ADLS or IADLS; higher cognitive function score; and were less likely to have prevalent health conditions or subclinical disease compared to those without a clinic visit (TABLE 2.1). The characteristics of participants with a 6 MWT attempt, either partial or complete, is shown in TABLE 2.2. While there was no significant difference in body weight across 6 MWT distance quintiles, the remaining characteristics revealed a more favorable characteristics among those with 6 MWT in the longer distance quintiles. Participant characteristics among those without prevalent CHD by 6 MWT completion status and distance quintiles are shown in TABLE 2.3 and TABLE 2.4, respectively. Overall, the pattern of association observed in participants without prevalent CHD was similar to that found among participants with prevalent CHD.

Among the 4,708 participants in the study cohort, there were a total of 2,286 deaths from all causes of which 556 deaths were attributed to coronary heart disease. A total of 754 incident
CHD events occurred during follow-up among the 3,441 participants free of prevalent CHD. Figures 2.1-2.6 show the Kaplan Meier survival curves for the outcomes of all-cause mortality, CHD-specific mortality, and incident CHD by clinic visit and 6 MWT status. The overall allcause mortality rate was 74.4 per 1000 person-years and was lower among participants who either completed or partially completed the 6 MWT as compared to without a 6 MWT either with or without a clinic visit (TABLE 2.5). This difference was attenuated after adjustment for age and sex, yet remained significant with hazard ratio greater than 1.0 for participants without a 6 MWT and those without a clinic visit. After further adjustment for all potential confounders, the hazard ratio remained significant for participants without a clinic visit (HR 1.9; 95% CI:1.3-2.7) while a trend was observed for increased hazard for participants with a clinic visit but without a 6 MWT (HR 1.1; 95% CI: 1.0-1.3). The overall rate of CHD-specific mortality was 18.1 per 1000 person-years. A greater than two-fold CHD-specific mortality rate was observed in participants without a clinic visit compared to those completing a 6 MWT during their clinic visit. The hazard ratio for CHD-specific mortality for was greater than 1.0 in participants without a 6 MWT or a clinic visit after adjusting for age and sex but no longer significant in fully adjusted model (TABLE 2.5).

Incident CHD was evaluated among the 3,441 participants without prevalent CHD. A total of 754 incident CHD events were observed over the follow-up time with an overall event rate of 35.1 per 1000 person-year. Participants without a clinic visit and those with a clinic visit but without a 6 MWT had a nearly one and a half fold higher rate of incident CHD than those who had a clinic visit and either partially or fully completed the 6 MWT. While the higher risk among participants without a 6 MWT with or without a clinic visit remained significant in an age

and sex adjusted model, after adjusting for all confounders the hazard ratios for incident CHD were no longer statistically significant (TABLE2.5).

Among 2,279 participants who attempted a 6 MWT (TABLE 2.6), there were 793 deaths due to all causes with the majority of the deaths 512(64.5%) due to non-cardiovascular etiology. Of the 793 deaths, 281(35.4%) were due to cardiovascular diseases with 187(66.5%) secondary to coronary heart disease. Among the participants with a 6 MWT, a distance in the two shortest distance quintiles (walk distance 279-333 meters and <279 meters) was associated with an increased hazard of all-cause mortality relative to a 6 MWT distance >411 meters. This higher risk of all-cause mortality remained in models adjusting for age and sex (walk distance 279-333 meters; crude event rate, 58.1 vs. 27.0 per 1000 person-years; adjusted HR, 2.1; 95% CI, 1.7-2.7: walk distance <279 meters; crude event rate, 80.6 vs. 27.0 per 1000 person-years; adjusted HR, 3.0; 95% CI, 2.4-3.8). In a fully adjusted model, participants with a 6MWT distance in the poorest two performance quintiles remained at higher risk of all-cause mortality (walk distance 279-333 meters; adjusted HR, 1.6; 95% CI, 1.2-2.2: walk distance <279 meters; adjusted HR, 1.9; 95% CI, 1.4-2.5). The inverse association between 6 MWT distance and allcause mortality persisted in separate analyses when stratified by sex, race, age (65-80 vs.  $\geq$ 80 years), and subclinical cardiovascular disease status (either major ECG abnormality or AAI<1.0).

In sex-stratified analysis, the multivariable adjusted hazard ratios for the association between 6 MWT performance and all-cause mortality in women were HR 2.0 (95% CI, 1.0-3.1) for 6 MWT distance 0-279 meters, HR 1.6 (95% CI, 1.0-3.0) for 279-333 meters, HR 1.1 (95% CI, 0.7-1.7) for 333-368 meters, and HR 1.1 (95% CI, 0.7-1.8) for 368-411 meters relative to 6 MWT distance >411 meters. Similarly in sex-stratified analysis, the multivariable adjusted hazard ratios for men were HR 1.8 (95% CI, 1.2-2.7) for 6 MWT distance 0-279 meters, HR 1.7 (95% CI, 1.2-2.7) for 279-333 meters, HR 1.5 (95% CI, 1.0-2.2) for 333-368 meters, and HR 1.2 (95% CI, 0.8-1.8) for 368-411 meters relative to 6 MWT distance >411 meters. In age-stratified analysis, the multivariable adjusted hazard ratios for the association between 6 MWT performance and all-cause mortality in participants aged 65-80 years were HR 1.9 (95% CI, 1.3-2.7) for 6 MWT distance 0-279 meters, HR 1.7 (95% CI, 1.2-2.4) for 279-333 meters, HR 1.1 (95% CI, 0.8-1.6) for 333-368 meters, and HR 1.1 (95% CI, 0.8-1.6) for 368-411 meters relative to 6 MWT distance >411 meters. In age-stratified analysis, the multivariable adjusted hazard ratios for participants aged  $\geq$  80 years were HR 2.5 (95% CI, 1.5-4.5) for 6 MWT distance 0-279 meters, HR 2.1 (95% CI, 1.2-3.7) for 279-333 meters, HR 1.8 (95% CI, 1.0-3.1) for 333-368 meters, and HR 1.3 (95% CI, 0.7-2.3) for 368-411 meters relative to 6 MWT distance >411 meters. In race-stratified analysis, the adjusted hazard ratios for all-cause mortality in nonnon-white participants were HR 1.5 (95% CI, 0.5-4.3) for 6 MWT distance 0-279 meters, HR 0.9 (95% CI, 0.3-2.7) for 279-333 meters, HR 0.9 (95% CI, 0.3-3.0) for 333-368 meters, and HR 1.7 (95% CI, 0.5-5.1) for 368-411 meters relative to 6 MWT distance >411 meters. The adjusted risk for participants of white race was HR 1.9 (95% CI, 1.4-2.6) for 6 MWT distance 0-279 meters, HR 1.7 (95% CI, 1.3-2.3) for 279-333 meters, HR 1.3 (95% CI, 0.9-1.7) for 333-368 meters, and HR 1.1 (95% CI, 0.8-1.5) for 368-411 meters relative to 6 MWT distance >411 meters. Persons reporting a good or excellent general health had an adjusted HR 3.5 (95% CI, 1.4-9) for 6 MWT 0-279 meters, HR 2.3 (95% CI, 0.9-6.2) for 279-333 meters, HR 1.5 (95% CI, 0.6-4.2) for 333-368 meters, and HR 1.9 (95% CI, 0.7-5) for 368-411 meters relative to a 6 MWT > 411 meters. Those reporting poor or fair health had a HR 1.8 (95% CI, 1.3-2.5) for 6 MWT 0-279 meters, HR 1.8 (95% CI, 1.3-2.4) for 279-333 meters, HR 1.3 (95% CI, 0.9-1.8) for 333-368 meters, and HR 1.1 (95% CI, 0.8-1.5) for 368-411 meters relative to a 6 MWT distance > 411 meters.

Of 793 all-cause deaths among the 2,279 with a 6 MWT, 187(23.6%) were attributed to CHD with an overall CHD-specific death rate of 11.2 per 1,000 person-years. A 6 MWT distance in the shortest two quintiles was associated with a greater than 1.5-fold unadjusted CHD-death risk relative to 6 MWT performance >411 meters. After adjusting for age and sex, the two shortest 6 MWT quintiles remained at higher risk for CHD-specific mortality (walk distance 279-333 meters; crude event rate, 13.9 vs. 8.4 per 1000 person-years; adjusted HR, 1.8; 95% CI, 1.1-2.8: walk distance <279 meters; crude event rate, 18.2 vs. 8.4 per 1000 person-years; adjusted HR, 2.4; 95% CI, 1.5-3.8). Further adjustment for prevalent medical conditions and limitations in daily activities resulted in an attenuation of CHD-specific mortality risk observed in the 6 MWT distance 279-333 meters ( adjusted HR, 1.4; 95% CI, 0.8-2.4) while there remained a higher risk of CHD-specific mortality for 6 MWT distance <279 meters (adjusted HR, 1.4; 95% CI, 0.8-2.4) while there remained a higher risk of CHD-specific mortality for 6 MWT distance <279 meters (adjusted HR, 1.8; 95% CI, 1.0-3.1). In the fully adjusted model, the CHD-specific mortality risk associated with the two poorest 6 MWT distance quintiles was further attenuated (walk distance 279-333 meters; adjusted HR, 1.1; 95% CI, 0.6-2.0: walk distance <279 meters; adjusted HR, 1.4; 95% CI, 0.8-2.4).

Three hundred and forty-seven incident CHD events occurred among the 1,822 persons with a 6 MWT with an overall incident CHD rate of 27.6 per 1000 person-years. A 6 MWT distance in the poorest 6 MWT distance < 279 meters was associated with a higher risk of incident CHD (adjusted HR, 1.6; 95% CI, 1.1-2.3). In an age- and sex- adjusted model, a 6 MWT distance < 279 meters remained associated with an increased risk of incident CHD; crude event rate, 37.9 vs. 24.5 per 1000 person-years; adjusted HR, 1.6; 95% CI, 1.1-2.3). Further adjustment for anthropometric measures, including waist circumference, weight, and height, (adjusted HR, 1.4; 95% CI, 0.9-2.0) and in a fully adjusted model (adjusted HR, 1.2; 95% CI, 0.8-1.8) the risk of incident CHD associated with the shortest 6 MWT quintiles was further attenuated.

63

# 2.5 DISCUSSION

In a cohort of community-dwelling older adults, both the performance distance walked and participation in a 6 Minute Walk test were shown to be independent predictors of all-cause mortality. The 6 MWT distance was shown to have a strong graded relationship with all-cause mortality. Among participants with a 6 MWT distances between 279-333 meters and <279 meters, the relative risk of all-cause mortality was 63% and 89% greater than participants able to walk >411 meters. The 6 MWT was also associated with CHD outcomes but this association was explained by poorer participant health status. This study suggests the 6MWT is a useful measure of functional exercise capacity with prognostic significance and extends previous work in specific patient populations to community-dwelling older adults with a wide range of performance.

Performance on walk-based testing has been shown to be correlated with cardiorespiratory fitness<sup>31</sup>. In addition, both self-reported walking ability and performance on distance-based walk tests have been shown to be predictors of disability, cardiovascular morbidity, and all-cause mortality<sup>32-34</sup>. Performance on the Long Distance Corridor Walk (LDCW), a distance-based walking test, has been previously shown to be prognostic of morbidity and mortality in older adults<sup>33</sup>. While distance-based walking tests have the advantage of providing participants with motivation in order to maintain a faster gait speed, they are limited in their ability of capturing the performance of persons who fail to complete the full distance of the test<sup>35,36</sup>. In contrast, time-based walking tests, such as the 6 MWT, allow the capture of performance by all who are tested regardless of whether the participant walked for the full allotted time period. This unique advantage of time-based walking tests allows the capturing of walking distance of those with very low level of walking performance. As for the relationship

between the 6 MWT and health outcomes, the inverse association has previously been demonstrated in disease-specific populations, including patients with heart failure, pulmonary disease, and end stage liver disease<sup>37-41</sup>. More recently a smaller study of 217 Finish women examined the relationship of 6 MWT performance and participation with all-cause mortality and found that participating in a 6 MWT to be a significant predictor of mortality<sup>42</sup>.

Several strength and limitations of our study noteworthy. First, the performance during a 6 MWT may not reflect an individual's maximal oxygen uptake. Second, approximately one-third of the participants with a clinic visit did not perform a 6 MWT and in separate analyses we did reveal that lack of participation in the clinic visit and 6 MWT was prognostic. The strengths of our study include its large sample size, long follow-up time, standardized surveillance and ascertainment of hard outcomes, and a cohort of older adults with a wide spectrum of function and health condition.

The conventional method for the assessment of cardiorespiratory or exercise capacity is via exercise treadmill testing and our finding of an inverse relationship between all-cause mortality and functional exercise capacity is consistent with well-established literature using treadmill-based measurement of exercise capacity<sup>2-7, 43</sup>. Although the treadmill exercise test is considered the "gold standard", it has several limitations including requiring clinical oversight by trained personnel, has associated equipment costs, and safety concerns. Alternatively, the 6 MWT is a valid and reliable method of physical endurance assessment which can be performed by many older adults<sup>21,44</sup>. Our findings suggests that the 6-Minute Walk test, as a measure of physical fitness and overall health, is an independent predictor of all-cause mortality in older adults.

65

# 2.6 **REFERENCES FOR CHAPTER 2**

- 1. Blair SN, Kampert JB, Kohl HW, 3rd, et al. Influences of cardiorespiratory fitness and other precursors on cardiovascular disease and all-cause mortality in men and women. *JAMA*. Jul 17 1996;276(3):205-210.
- 2. Goraya TY, Jacobsen SJ, Pellikka PA, et al. Prognostic value of treadmill exercise testing in elderly persons. *Ann Intern Med.* Jun 6 2000;132(11):862-870.
- **3.** Gulati M, Pandey DK, Arnsdorf MF, et al. Exercise capacity and the risk of death in women: the St James Women Take Heart Project. *Circulation*. Sep 30 2003;108(13):1554-1559.
- 4. Messinger-Rapport B, Pothier Snader CE, Blackstone EH, Yu D, Lauer MS. Value of exercise capacity and heart rate recovery in older people. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* Jan 2003;51(1):63-68.
- 5. Myers J, Prakash M, Froelicher V, Do D, Partington S, Atwood JE. Exercise capacity and mortality among men referred for exercise testing. *N Engl J Med.* Mar 14 2002;346(11):793-801.
- 6. Spin JM, Prakash M, Froelicher VF, et al. The prognostic value of exercise testing in elderly men. *Am J Med.* Apr 15 2002;112(6):453-459.
- 7. Sui X, Laditka JN, Hardin JW, Blair SN. Estimated functional capacity predicts mortality in older adults. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* Dec 2007;55(12):1940-1947.
- **8.** Fleg JL, Pina IL, Balady GJ, et al. Assessment of functional capacity in clinical and research applications: An advisory from the Committee on Exercise, Rehabilitation, and Prevention, Council on Clinical Cardiology, American Heart Association. *Circulation*. Sep 26 2000;102(13):1591-1597.
- **9.** Gill TM, DiPietro L, Krumholz HM. Role of exercise stress testing and safety monitoring for older persons starting an exercise program. *JAMA*. Jul 19 2000;284(3):342-349.
- **10.** Greig C, Butler F, Skelton D, Mahmud S, Young A. Treadmill walking in old age may not reproduce the real life situation. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* Jan 1993;41(1):15-18.
- 11. Hollenberg M, Ngo LH, Turner D, Tager IB. Treadmill exercise testing in an epidemiologic study of elderly subjects. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* Jul 1998;53(4):B259-267.
- **12.** Peeters P, Mets T. The 6-minute walk as an appropriate exercise test in elderly patients with chronic heart failure. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* Jul 1996;51(4):M147-151.

- **13.** Bernstein ML, Despars JA, Singh NP, Avalos K, Stansbury DW, Light RW. Reanalysis of the 12-minute walk in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Chest.* Jan 1994;105(1):163-167.
- 14. Bittner V, Weiner DH, Yusuf S, et al. Prediction of mortality and morbidity with a 6minute walk test in patients with left ventricular dysfunction. SOLVD Investigators. *JAMA*. Oct 13 1993;270(14):1702-1707.
- **15.** Cahalin L, Pappagianopoulos P, Prevost S, Wain J, Ginns L. The relationship of the 6min walk test to maximal oxygen consumption in transplant candidates with end-stage lung disease. *Chest.* Aug 1995;108(2):452-459.
- **16.** Cahalin LP, Mathier MA, Semigran MJ, Dec GW, DiSalvo TG. The six-minute walk test predicts peak oxygen uptake and survival in patients with advanced heart failure. *Chest.* Aug 1996;110(2):325-332.
- 17. Langenfeld H, Schneider B, Grimm W, et al. The six-minute walk--an adequate exercise test for pacemaker patients? *Pacing Clin Electrophysiol*. Dec 1990;13(12 Pt 2):1761-1765.
- **18.** Milligan NP, Havey J, Dossa A. Using a 6-minute walk test to predict outcomes in patients with left ventricular dysfunction. *Rehabil Nurs.* Jul-Aug 1997;22(4):177-181.
- **19.** Montgomery PS, Gardner AW. The clinical utility of a six-minute walk test in peripheral arterial occlusive disease patients. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* Jun 1998;46(6):706-711.
- **20.** Wijkstra PJ, TenVergert EM, van der Mark TW, et al. Relation of lung function, maximal inspiratory pressure, dyspnoea, and quality of life with exercise capacity in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Thorax.* May 1994;49(5):468-472.
- **21.** Rikli R, Jones C. The reliability and validity of a 6-Minute Walk test as a measure of physical endurance in older adults. *J Aging and Phys Activity*. 1998(6):363-375.
- 22. Fried LP, Borhani NO, Enright P, et al. The Cardiovascular Health Study: design and rationale. *Ann Epidemiol*. Feb 1991;1(3):263-276.
- **23.** Tell GS, Fried LP, Hermanson B, Manolio TA, Newman AB, Borhani NO. Recruitment of adults 65 years and older as participants in the Cardiovascular Health Study. *Ann Epidemiol.* Jul 1993;3(4):358-366.
- 24. ATS statement: guidelines for the six-minute walk test. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* Jul 1 2002;166(1):111-117.
- **25.** Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR. "Mini-mental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *J Psychiatr Res.* Nov 1975;12(3):189-198.

- **26.** Orme JG, Reis J, Herz EJ. Factorial and discriminant validity of the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression (CES-D) scale. *J Clin Psychol.* Jan 1986;42(1):28-33.
- **27.** Blackburn H. Classification of the electrocardiogram for population studies: Minnesota Code. *J Electrocardiol.* Jul 1969;2(3):305-310.
- **28.** Newman AB, Siscovick DS, Manolio TA, et al. Ankle-arm index as a marker of atherosclerosis in the Cardiovascular Health Study. Cardiovascular Heart Study (CHS) Collaborative Research Group. *Circulation.* Sep 1993;88(3):837-845.
- **29.** Psaty BM, Kuller LH, Bild D, et al. Methods of assessing prevalent cardiovascular disease in the Cardiovascular Health Study. *Ann Epidemiol.* Jul 1995;5(4):270-277.
- **30.** Ives DG, Fitzpatrick AL, Bild DE, et al. Surveillance and ascertainment of cardiovascular events. The Cardiovascular Health Study. *Ann Epidemiol.* Jul 1995;5(4):278-285.
- **31.** Simonsick EM, Fan E, Fleg JL. Estimating cardiorespiratory fitness in well-functioning older adults: treadmill validation of the long distance corridor walk. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* Jan 2006;54(1):127-132.
- **32.** Guralnik JM, Simonsick EM, Ferrucci L, et al. A short physical performance battery assessing lower extremity function: association with self-reported disability and prediction of mortality and nursing home admission. *J Gerontol.* Mar 1994;49(2):M85-94.
- **33.** Newman AB, Simonsick EM, Naydeck BL, et al. Association of long-distance corridor walk performance with mortality, cardiovascular disease, mobility limitation, and disability. *JAMA*. May 3 2006;295(17):2018-2026.
- **34.** Vestergaard S, Patel KV, Bandinelli S, Ferrucci L, Guralnik JM. Characteristics of 400meter walk test performance and subsequent mortality in older adults. *Rejuvenation Res.* Jun 2009;12(3):177-184.
- **35.** Simonsick EM, Montgomery PS, Newman AB, Bauer DC, Harris T. Measuring fitness in healthy older adults: the Health ABC Long Distance Corridor Walk. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* Nov 2001;49(11):1544-1548.
- **36.** Swinburn CR, Wakefield JM, Jones PW. Performance, ventilation, and oxygen consumption in three different types of exercise test in patients with chronic obstructive lung disease. *Thorax.* Aug 1985;40(8):581-586.
- **37.** Alahdab MT, Mansour IN, Napan S, Stamos TD. Six minute walk test predicts long-term all-cause mortality and heart failure rehospitalization in African-American patients hospitalized with acute decompensated heart failure. *J Card Fail*. Mar 2009;15(2):130-135.

- **38.** Boxer R, Kleppinger A, Ahmad A, Annis K, Hager D, Kenny A. The 6-minute walk is associated with frailty and predicts mortality in older adults with heart failure. *Congest Heart Fail.* Sep-Oct;16(5):208-213.
- **39.** Carey EJ, Steidley DE, Aqel BA, et al. Six-minute walk distance predicts mortality in liver transplant candidates. *Liver Transpl.* Dec;16(12):1373-1378.
- **40.** Castel MA, Mendez F, Tamborero D, et al. Six-minute walking test predicts long-term cardiac death in patients who received cardiac resynchronization therapy. *Europace*. Mar 2009;11(3):338-342.
- **41.** Enfield K, Gammon S, Floyd J, et al. Six-minute walk distance in patients with severe end-stage COPD: association with survival after inpatient pulmonary rehabilitation. *J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev.* May-Jun;30(3):195-202.
- **42.** Mutikainen S, Rantanen T, Alen M, et al. Walking Ability and All-Cause Mortality in Older Women. *Int J Sports Med.* Dec 16.
- **43.** Mora S, Redberg RF, Cui Y, et al. Ability of exercise testing to predict cardiovascular and all-cause death in asymptomatic women: a 20-year follow-up of the lipid research clinics prevalence study. *JAMA*. Sep 24 2003;290(12):1600-1607.
- 44. Enright PL, McBurnie MA, Bittner V, et al. The 6-min walk test: a quick measure of functional status in elderly adults. *Chest.* Feb 2003;123(2):387-398.

# 2.7 TABLES FOR CHAPTER 2

		Visit Done,			
	Visit Done,	Partial			
	Completed	Completers	Visit Done,	No Visit,	
Characteristics*	6MWT	6MWT	No 6MWT	No 6 MWT	
	(n=2116)	(n= 163)	(n= 1052)	(n=1377)	P Value
Age, yr	77.4±4.3	77.9±4.5	79.0±5.3	80.7±5.8	<.001
Male	853(40.3)	54(33.1)	425(40.4)	483(35.1)	.004
Non-white	305(14.4)	34(20.9)	22(21.6)	252(18.3)	<.001
Education(< high school)	472(22.3)	37(22.7)	283(26.9)	492(35.7)	<.001
Body mass index, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	26.7±4.2	27.8±6.0	27.2±5.2	26.7±5.7	.07
Weight, kg	72.0±13.6	73.5±17.4	72.9±15.6	68.6±16.8	0.001
Height, m	$1.6\pm0.1$	$1.6\pm0.1$	$1.6\pm0.1$	$1.6\pm0.1$	<.001
SBP, mm Hg	136.0±19.4	133.9±19.4	138.6±23.1	138.9±20.5	.01
CHD	413(19.5)	44(27.0)	344(32.7)	466(33.8)	<.001
CHF	114(5.4)	10(6.1)	161(15.3)	252(18.3)	<.001
Stroke	78(3.7)	9(5.5)	115(10.9)	187(13.6)	<.001
TIA	59(2.8)	9 (5.5)	53(5.0)	88(6.4)	<.001
Claudication	47(2.2)	9(5.5)	45(4.3)	77(5.6)	<.001
Diabetes	281(13.3)	24(14.7)	177(16.8)	115(8.4)	<.001
Arthritis	576(28.5)	57(36.5)	426(42.7)	293(37.5)	<.001
Pulmonary disease	260(12.7)	31(19.6)	178(17.6)	127(15.7)	.001
Any ADL limitation	231(11.0)	17(10.6)	348(34.4)	292(42.3)	<.001
Any IADL limitation	504(23.8)	52(31.9)	534(51.5)	385(54.7)	<.001
Current Smoker	134(6.4)	19(11.9)	88(8.6)	72(9.1)	.01
Fair or Poor Health	263(12.6)	34(20.9)	303(29.3)	416(38.8)	<.001
CES-Depression	5.2±4.4	5.9±4.6	7.1±5.3	7.1±6.2	<.001
Mini-MMSE	93.2±7.5	91.4±10.4	88.2±13.5	75.1±21.8	<.001
Major ECG Abnormality	598(28.8)	60(37.5)	433(42.8)	174(54.9)	<.001
AAI (< 1.0)	303(15.0)	34(21.8)	216(22.1)	283(29.3)	<.001
Total cholesterol, mg/dL	202.4±39.1	196.3±36.0	201.7±40.5	204.5±45.4	.22
Fasting glucose, mg/dL	$104.7 \pm 28.8$	109.2±37.7	$109.0 \pm 36.2$	115.3±41.2	.001
Medication use					
Aspirin	120(5.7)	8(4.9)	77(7.4)	70(8.2)	.04
Any anti-hypertensive	1106(52.3)	98(60.1)	710(67.9)	533(62.2)	<.001
Any Lipid Lowering	254(12.0)	22(13.5)	105(10.0)	65(7.6)	.003

Table 2.1 Participant characteristics by study visit and Six Minute Walk test participation status

\* Presented as mean  $\pm$  SD or n(%).

 Table 2.2 Characteristics by quintile (range in parentheses) of Six Minute Walk test

 distance(meters)

	(>411)	(368 - 411)	(333 - 368)	(279 - 333)	(0 - 279)	
Characteristics	n= 448	n= 462	n= 455	n= 454	n= 460	P Value
Age, yr	76.2±3.3	76.8±4.0	77.3±4.2	78.1±4.4	78.8±5.0	.001
Male	243 (52.0)	199 (44.6)	175 (38.5)	153 (33.5)	137 (30.2)	<.001
Nonwhite	37 (7.9)	57 (12.8)	74 (16.3)	82 (17.9)	89 (19.6)	<.001
Education( <high school)<="" td=""><td>56(12.0)</td><td>83 (18.6)</td><td>103 (22.6)</td><td>130 (28.5)</td><td>137 (30.2)</td><td>.001</td></high>	56(12.0)	83 (18.6)	103 (22.6)	130 (28.5)	137 (30.2)	.001
Body mass index, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	25.8±3.4	26.4±3.8	26.7±4.0	27.3±4.6	27.6±5.4	<.001
Weight, kg,	72.2±12.7	72.1±13.4	72.1±13.2	72.1±14.0	71.8±16.2	0.70
Waist Size, cm	93.7±10.9	96.0±11.8	95.7±11.7	98.1±12.9	99.2±14.6	.001
Height, m	1.7±0.1	$1.6\pm0.1$	$1.6 \pm 0.1$	$1.6\pm0.1$	$1.6\pm0.1$	<.001
Systolic blood pressure	133.5±18.3	136.4±18.5	135.3±19.7	136.4±19.0	137.7±21.3	.02
CHD	88(18.8)	77(17.3)	85(18.7)	100(21.9)	107(23.6)	.11
CHF	19 (4.1)	18 (4.0)	16 (3.5)	30(6.6)	41(9.0)	.001
Stroke	8 (1.7)	13 (2.9)	12 (2.6)	23 (5.0)	31(6.8)	<.001
TIA	8(1.7)	11(2.5)	13(2.9)	13(2.8)	23(5.1)	.04
Claudication	3 (0.6)	10(2.2)	7(1.5)	10(2.2)	26(5.7)	<.001
Diabetes	40(8.6)	61(13.7)	63(13.9)	61(13.4)	80(17.6)	.002
Arthritis	99(22.4)	85(20.1)	119(27.6)	171(38.7)	159(36.6)	<.001
Pulmonary disease	55(12.2)	45(10.3)	38(8.7)	73(16.7)	80(18.2)	<.001
Any ADL limitation	22 (4.7)	37 (8.3)	47(10.4)	62 (13.8)	80(18.1)	<.001
Any IADL limitation	53 (11.4)	70(15.7)	108(23.7)	145(31.8)	180(39.7)	<.001
Current Smoking	21(4.6)	29(6.6)	33(7.3)	30(6.7)	40(9.0)	.12
Fair or Poor Health	23(4.9)	33(7.5)	61(13.5)	72(16.0)	108(24.0)	<.001
CES-Depression	4.2±3.9	4.6±4.1	5.5±4.6	5.6±4.7	6.2±4.9	<.001
Mini-MMSE	95.9±4.8	93.9±6.8	93.5±7.1	92.0±8.1	90.1±9.9	<.001
Major ECG Abnormality	114(25.0)	115(26.2)	124(28.1)	142(31.6)	163(36.4)	.001
AAI (< 1.0)	30(6.6)	46(10.8)	54(12.4)	87(20.2)	120(27.9)	<.001
Total cholesterol, mg/dL	195.7±37.8	204.3±40.3	202.2±36.9	206.1±38.1	$201.5 \pm 41.0$	.001
Fasting glucose, mg/dL	$100.1 \pm 22.6$	$103.3 \pm 26.0$	$106.0 \pm 30.7$	$106.5 \pm 31.3$	$109.1 \pm 34.8$	.001
Medication use						
Aspirin	24(5.1)	26(5.8)	25(5.5)	30(6.6)	23(5.1)	.86
Any anti-hypertensive	196(42.4)	215(48.2)	246(54.1)	246(53.8)	299(65.9)	<.001
Any Lipid Lowering	62(13.2)	51(11.4)	59(12.9)	57(12.5)	47(10.4)	.65

\* Presented as mean  $\pm$  SD or n(%).

Table 2.3 Participant characteristic without prevalent CHD by clinic visit and six minute walk test

status

-		Visit Done.			
	Visit Done,	Partial	Visit Done,	No Visit,	
	Completed	Completers	No 6MWT	No 6 MWT	
Characteristics	(n = 1, 702)	6MWT	(n= 708)	(n=911)	P Value
	(II = 1, 703)	(n=119)			
Age, yr	77.3±4.3	77.6±4.5	79.0±5.2	$80.4 \pm 5.9$	<.001
Male gender	614(36.1)	35(29.4)	264(37.3)	278(30.5)	.01
Nonwhite	260(15.3)	25(21.0)	156(22.0)	175(19.2)	.0004
Education( <high school)<="" td=""><td>375(22.0)</td><td>24(20.2)</td><td>188(26.6)</td><td>305(33.5)</td><td>&lt;.001</td></high>	375(22.0)	24(20.2)	188(26.6)	305(33.5)	<.001
Body mass index, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	26.7±4.2	27.7±6.1	27.5±5.5	$26.4 \pm 5.6$	.03
Weight, kg	71.5±13.5	73.3±18.4	73.3±16.1	67.4±16.2	<.001
Height, m	1.6±0.1	$1.6\pm0.1$	$1.6\pm0.1$	1.6±0.1	.001
Waist size, cm	96.3±12.4	98.4±17.1	98.6±15.3	98.2±14.7	.01
SBP, mm Hg	136.4±19.5	133.8±18.6	139.2±22.1	$140.1 \pm 20.7$	.002
CHF	45(2.6)	1(0.8)	53(7.5)	79(8.7)	<.001
Stroke	46(2.7)	4(3.4)	61(8.6)	100(11.0)	<.001
TIA	40(2.4)	5(4.2)	30(4.2)	38(4.2)	.03
Claudication	25(1.5)	4(3.4)	16(2.3)	24(2.6)	.13
Diabetes	201(11.8)	13(10.9)	116(16.4)	63(6.9)	<.001
Arthritis	449(27.7)	41(35.7)	295(43.8)	177(34.1)	<.001
Pulmonary disease	208(12.7)	25(21.4)	114(16.6)	74(13.8)	.01
Any ADL limitation	185(11.0)	14(11.9)	232(34.2)	178(38.4)	<.001
Any IADL limitation	380(22.3)	35(29.4)	341(49.0)	245(51.9)	<.001
Current Smoking	114(6.8)	14 (12.1)	65(9.3)	55(10.3)	.01
Fair or Poor health	188(11.1)	21(17.7)	181(26.1)	235(33.2)	<.001
CES-Depression	5.0±4.4	5.8±4.7	7.0±5.3	7.1±6.1	<.001
Mini-MMSE	93.2±7.4	91.9±10.8	88.2±14.2	74.3±23.1	<.001
Major ECG Abnormality	402(24.0)	32(27.1)	239(34.7)	91(45.5)	<.001
AAI (< 1.0)	212(13.1)	22(19.1)	117(17.7)	171(26.6)	<.001
Total cholesterol, mg/dL	203.8±38.6	196.5±38.0	202.2±41.7	211.0±44.3	.03
Fasting glucose, mg/dL	103.3±27.2	$105.2 \pm 34.0$	109.0±37.0	110.3±33.6	.02
Medication use					
Aspirin	72(4.2)	4(3.4)	38(5.4)	36(6.2)	.18
Any anti-hypertensive	803(47.2)	60(50.4)	413(58.8)	314(54.4)	<.001
Any Lipid Lowering	146(8.6)	15(12.6)	43(6.1)	31(5.4)	.01

\* Presented as mean  $\pm$  SD or n(%).

Table 2.4 Characteristics of participants without prevalent CHD by quintile (range in parentheses) of

Characteristics*	(> <b>411</b> ) n= 379	<b>(368 - 411)</b> n= 369	<b>(333 - 368)</b> n= 370	( <b>279 - 333</b> ) n= 357	<b>(0 - 279)</b> n= 347	P Value
Age, yr	76.1±3.4	76.6±3.9	77.2±4.1	78.1±4.4	78.6±5.0	<.001
Male	180 (47.9)	145 (39.5)	129 (35.3)	102 (29.0)	58 (23.9)	<.0001
Nonwhite	28 (7.5)	47 (12.8)	65 (17.8)	67 (19.0)	53 (21.8)	<.0001
Education(< high school)	43(11.4)	70 (19.1)	86 (23.6)	96 (27.2)	80 (32.9)	<.0001
Body mass index, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	25.6±3.4	26.4±3.8	26.7±4.0	$27.5 \pm 4.6$	$27.7 \pm 5.4$	<.001
Waist size, cm	93.4±10.9	95.9±11.9	95.3±12.0	98.5±13.2	99.3±14.9	<.001
Weight, kg	71.2±12.5	71.5±13.3	71.4±13.1	72.3±14.1	71.6±16.3	0.88
Height, m	1.7±0.1	$1.6 \pm 0.1$	$1.6 \pm 0.1$	$1.6\pm0.1$	$1.6 \pm 0.1$	<.001
SBP, mm Hg	133.3±18.5	136.6±18.5	135.8±19.6	137.0±18.7	138.9±21.6	.001
CHF	5(1.3)	6(1.6)	7(1.9)	9(2.5)	19(7.5)	.01
Stroke	2(0.5)	9(2.4)	7(1.9)	16(4.5)	16(4.6)	.001
TIA	8(2.1)	7(1.9)	10(2.7)	6(1.7)	9(4.0)	.31
Claudication	2(0.5)	4(1.1)	4(1.1)	5(1.4)	14(4.0)	.01
Diabetes	25(6.6)	49(13.3)	44(11.9)	41(11.5)	55(15.9)	.002
Arthritis	74(20.6)	69(19.9)	95(27.2)	131(37.6)	121(36.2)	<.001
Pulmonary disease	60(12.9)	34(9.5)	29(8.2)	60(17.6)	63(18.7)	. <.001
Any ADL limitation	18(4.8)	30(8.1)	39(10.6)	47(13.4)	65(19.2)	<.001
Any IADL limitation	40(10.6)	52(14.1)	82(22.2)	108(30.3)	133(38.3)	<.001
Current Smoking	16(4.3)	26(7.2)	33(9.0)	25(7.2)	28(6.3)	.13
Fair or Poor health	15(4.0)	23(6.3)	49(13.3)	47(13.4)	75(21.9)	<.001
CES-Depression	4.3±4.0	4.6±4.1	5.3±4.4	5.4±4.5	$6.0 \pm 4.9$	<.001
Mini-MMSE	95.9±4.9	93.7±7.1	93.5±6.8	92.1±8.2	90.3±9.8	<.001
Major ECG Abnormality	81(21.5)	76(20.8)	87(24.2)	88(25.1)	102(29.7)	.05
AAI (< 1.0)	18(4.9)	29(8.2)	40(11.4)	60(18.0)	87(26.5)	<.001
Total cholesterol, mg/dL	197.5±36.4	205.1±39.6	203.6±37.1	207.1±37.4	203.7±42.0	.01
Fasting glucose, mg/dL	99.4±22.6	$102.8 \pm 25.5$	$104.5 \pm 30.2$	103.7±25.2	106.8±33.3	.02
Medication use						
Aspirin	13(3.4)	14(3.8)	15(4.1)	18(5.0)	16(4.6)	.83
Any anti-hypertensive	141(37.2)	161(43.6)	182(49.2)	169(47.3)	210(60.52)	<.001
Any Lipid Lowering	33(8.7)	28(7.6)	37(10.0)	31(8.7)	32(9.2)	.84

Six Minute Walk test distance(meters)

\* Presented as mean  $\pm$  SD or n(%).

 Table 2.5 Event Rates and Hazard Ratios for Total Mortality, CHD-Specific Mortality, and Incident CHD

 Events by Visit and 6 Minute Walk Test Status

		No. Events		Hazard Ratio (95% Confidence Interval)			
Events	No. Participant:		Events per 1000 Person- Years	Unadjusted Model	Age- and Sex- Adjusted	Multivariable Adjustment*	
All-Cause Mortality	4,708	2,286	74.4				
No clinic visit	1,377	920	126.2	2.8 (2.6-3.1)	2.5 (2.3-2.8)	1.9 (1.3-2.7)	
Visit, No 6MWT	1,052	573	84.7	1.9 (1.7-2.1)	1.6 (1.5-1.8)	1.1 (1.0-1.3)	
Visit, Partial 6MWT	163	67	60.3	1.3 (1.0-1.7)	1.3 (1.0-1.6)	1.1 (0.8-1.5)	
Visit, Complete 6MWT	2,116	726	46.7	1.0	1.0	1.0	
CHD-Specific Mortality	4,708	556	18.1				
No clinic visit	1,377	219	30.1	2.8 (2.3-3.5)	2.5 (2.0-3.1)	1.3 (0.6-1.7)	
Visit, No 6MWT	1,052	150	22.2	2.0 (1.6-2.5)	1.8 (1.4-2.2)	1.2 (0.9-1.5)	
Visit, Partial 6MWT	163	14	12.6	1.1 (0.7-2.0)	1.1 (0.7-1.9)	0.8 (0.4-1.7)	
Visit, Complete 6MWT	2,116	173	11.1	1.0	1.0	1.0	
Incident CHD	3,441	754	35.1				
No clinic visit	911	226	48.5	1.8 (1.5-2.1)	1.6 (1.3-2.0)	1.0 (0.5-2.1)	
Visit, No 6MWT	708	181	42.6	1.6 (1.3-1.9)	1.4 (1.2-1.7)	1.0 (0.8-1.3)	
Visit, Partial 6MWT	119	20	25.1	0.9 (0.6-1.4)	0.9 (0.6-1.4)	0.9 (0.6-1.5)	
Visit, Complete 6MWT	1,703	327	27.7	1.0	1.0	1.0	

\* Adjusted for age, sex, race, general health status, education level, smoking status, systolic blood pressure, total cholesterol, fasting glucose, waist circumference, height, weight, prevalent medical conditions (coronary heart disease, transient ischemic attack, stroke, congestive heart failure, intermittent claudication, pulmonary disease, diabetes mellitus, arthritis), any difficulty in Activities of Daily Living or Instrumental Activities of Daily Living, CES-Depression scale score, Modified Mini-Mental State score, major electrocardiogram abnormalities, ankle-brachial index, and medication use (aspirin, any lipid lowering, any anti-hypertensive).

				HR(95% Confidence Interval)			
Event	No. Participants	No. Events	Events per 1000 Person- Years	Unadjusted Model	Age- and Sex- Adjusted	Multivariable Adjustment*	
All-cause Mortality	2,279	793	47.6				
>411	448	100	27.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	
368-411	462	124	36.4	1.4 (1.1-1.8)	1.4 (1.1-1.8)	0.9 (0.9-1.6)	
333-368	455	146	43.2	1.6 (1.3-2.1)	1.6 (1.3 <b>-</b> 2.1)	1.0 (0.9-1.7)	
279-333	454	188	58.1	2.2 (1.8-2.9)	2.1 (1.7-2.7)	1.6 (1.2-2.2)	
0-279	460	235	80.6	3.2 (2.5-4.0)	3.0 (2.4-3.8)	1.9 (1.4-2.5)	
CHD-specific Mortality	2,279	187	11. <b>2</b>				
>411	448	31	8.4	1.0	1.0	1.0	
368-411	462	30	8.8	1.1 (0.6-1.8)	1.1 (0.7-1.8)	0.9 (0.5-1.7)	
333-368	455	28	8.3	1.0 (0.6-1.7)	1.1 (0.6-1.8)	0.7 (0.3-1.2)	
279-333	454	45	13.9	1.7 (1.1-2.7)	1.8 (1.1-2.8)	1.1 (0.6-2.0)	
0-279	460	53	18.2	2.3 (1.5-3.6)	2.4 (1.5-3.8)	1.4 (0.8-2.4)	
Incident CHD	1,822	347	27.6				
>411	379	69	24.5	1.0	1.0	1.0	
368-411	369	50	18.5	0.8 (0.5-1.1)	0.8 (0.5-1.1)	0.8 (0.5-1.2)	
333-368	370	77	30.1	1.2 (0.9-1.7)	1.3 (0.9-1.8)	1.0 (0.7-1.5)	
279-333	357	70	29.4	1.2 (0.9-1.7)	1.2 (0.9-1.7)	1.1 (0.7-1.7)	
0-279	347	81	37.9	1.6 (1.1-2.3)	1.6 (1.1-2.3)	1.2 (0.8-1.8)	

 Table 2.6 Event Rates and Hazard Ratios for Total Mortality, CHD-Specific Mortality, and

 Incident CHD by Quintile of Six Minute Walk Test Distance

\* Adjusted for age, sex, race, general health status, education level, smoking status, systolic blood pressure, total cholesterol, fasting glucose, waist circumference, height, weight, prevalent medical conditions (coronary heart disease, transient ischemic attack, stroke, congestive heart failure, intermittent claudication, pulmonary disease, diabetes mellitus, arthritis), any difficulty in Activities of Daily Living or Instrumental Activities of Daily Living, CES-Depression scale score, Modified Mini-Mental State score, major electrocardiogram abnormalities, ankle-brachial index, and medication use (aspirin, any lipid lowering, any anti-hypertensive).

# 2.8 FIGURES FOR CHAPTER 2



Figure 2.1 Kaplan Meier Survival Estimates of All-Cause Mortality by Clinic Visit and Six Minute Walk Test Status



Figure 2.2 Kaplan Meier Survival Estimate of Coronary Heart Disease-Specific Mortality by Clinic Visit and Six Minute Walk Test Status



Figure 2.3 Kaplan Meier Survival Estimate of Incident Coronary Heart Disease by Clinic Visit and Six Minute Walk Test Status



Figure 2.4 Kaplan Meier Survival Estimate of All-Cause Mortality by Quintiles of Six Minute Walk Distance



Figure 2.5 Kaplan Meier Survival Estimate of Coronary Heart Disease-Specific Mortality by Quintiles of Six Minute Walk Distance



Figure 2.6 Kaplan Meier Survival Estimate of Incident Coronary Heart Disease by Quintiles of Six Minute Walk Distance

# 3.0 ASSOCIATION BETWEEN CORONARY ARTERY CALCFICATION AND TREADMILL EXERCISE PERFORMANCE IN COMMUNITY-DWELLING OLDER ADULTS

# Manuscript in preparation

A Yazdanyar<sup>1</sup>, RM Boudreau<sup>1</sup>, K Sutton-Tyrrell<sup>1</sup>, L Kuller<sup>1</sup>, D Edmunodowicz<sup>2</sup>, AB Newman<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Epidemiology, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, USA

<sup>2</sup>Department of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, Pennsylvania, USA

## 3.1 ABSTRACT

While Background: testing for treadmill exercise capacity and coronary arterv calcification(CAC) assessment are utilized in cardiovascular risk stratification, there is limited information on whether these two measures are associated in the very old as they are in the younger adults. Aim: To assess the relationship between physiologic and electrocardiographic measures based on exercise testing with CAC in a cohort of community-dwelling older adults without known clinical cardiovascular disease. Additionally, we sought to determine the characteristics of older adults associated with a more favorable performance as measured by the duration of exercise on treadmill testing. Methods: Between 2001 and 2003, 131 of 614 participants from the Arterial Calcification in the Elderly in Cardiovascular Health Study (ACE-CHS) without cardiovascular disease underwent both an Electron Beam Computed Tomography (EBT) scan and an treadmill exercise test according to a modified Balke protocol. Nonparticipants had prevalent cardiovascular disease(n=289), did not meet additional eligibility criteria(n=92), had interim medical illness(n=1), incomplete data(n=1), died(n=6), or refused participation(n=92). The CAC was measured with EBT scanning and the physiologic and electrocardiographic parameters during treadmill testing. Participant characteristics were compared by tertiles of treadmill exercise time. The association between physiologic and electrocardiographic findings during exercise testing across CAC score tertiles were investigated. Logistic regression determined factors associated with the outcomes of interest, including an exercise-induced ischemia as detected by an electrocardiogram and also a longer time on treadmill exercise testing. *Results:* The mean age of participants was 82.15±3.19 years. The

mean treadmill exercise time was  $4.55\pm2.71$  minutes; the mean CAC score was  $498\pm760$  (range: 0-4210). Overall, 10 (7.73%) participants had a ischemia by electrocardiogram during exercise treadmill testing. Relative to participants with CAC<400, those with a CAC  $\geq$ 400 had a greater odds of ischemia as detected by an electrocardiogram after adjusting for potential confounders (Odds Ratio [OR] 8.86;95% Confidence Interval[CI]: 1.68-46.70). While the treadmill exercise duration did not differ significantly across CAC tertiles, the presence of hypertension (OR 0.42;95% CI:0.19-0.92) and distance walked in six minutes (240 - 336 meters(m): OR 1.00 (referent); 337- 389 m: OR 3.09 (95%CI:1.07-8.83); 390 -561 m: OR 4.47 (95% CI: 1.54-12.96)) were independently associated with treadmill exercise time. *Conclusion:* In a cohort of community-dwelling older adults free of prevalent cardiovascular disease, there was an independent association between CAC and electrocardiogram diagnosed ischemia as induced by exercise treadmill testing but not with the duration of exercise on treadmill testing.

# **3.2 INTRODUCTION**

Electron Beam computed tomography (EBT) is a noninvasive technique for the detection and quantification of coronary artery calcification (CAC), a reflection of the total atherosclerotic burden. While in younger aged adults there have been studies reporting on the association between CAC and various measures of its physiologic significance, including exercise testing<sup>1, 2</sup> and the stress single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT)<sup>3-7</sup>, there is limited data on the physiologic significance of CAC as measured by treadmill exercise testing in community-dwelling elderly without prevalent cardiovascular disease.

Conventional classification system recognizes CAC scores of 100-399 and  $\geq$  400 as moderate and severe atherosclerosis, respectively<sup>8</sup>. Previous investigations of the association between CAC and stress induced myocardial ischemia utilizing perfusion imaging have suggested the presence of a CAC threshold with a greater than a two-fold increase in the frequency of stress induced ischemia when CAC  $\geq$  400 are compared to CAC of 100-399<sup>3,4</sup>. In older adults, a significant proportion exceed this threshold of CAC, with 59% of older men and 36% of older women having CAC  $\geq$  400<sup>9</sup>. While the age-related increase in the prevalence and extent of CAC has been recognized, the relationship between the extent of CAC and stress testing physiologic and ischemic parameters in community-dwelling older adults is unknown.

Given the additional utility of the exercise treadmill testing in providing valuable insight regarding functional capacity beyond electrocardiographic ischemic changes<sup>10,11</sup>, we investigated the relationship of CAC, as measured by EBT scan, with exercise duration on treadmill testing

and also with exercise-induced ischemia, as detected by an electrocardiogram, in a cohort of community-dwelling older adults without prevalent cardiovascular disease.

#### 3.3 METHODS

# 3.3.1 Population

The Cardiovascular Health Study (CHS) and Arterial Calcification in the Elderly in Cardiovascular Health Study (ACE-CHS) design and methods have been previously described elsewhere<sup>9,12,13</sup>. Between 2001 and 2003, 131 participants from the CHS Pittsburgh field center who were free of clinical cardiovascular disease at time of assessment underwent both an EBT and exercise treadmill testing.

Participants from the original ACE-CHS cohort (1998-2000) without cardiovascular disease, including a myocardial infarction, angina, transient ischemic event, stroke, intermittent claudication, valve heart surgery, peripheral or cardiac revascularization, cardiac device implantation, and also participants with cognitive or physical mobility impairment were excluded. Cardiovascular events were ascertained every 6 months either by phone contact or at the clinical examination, validated by medical record review, and adjudicated by committee<sup>14</sup>. Of the 614 original ACE CHS participants, 289(47%) had CVD, 39(6%) had either a physical or cognitive limitation and/or no longer community-dwelling, 53(15%) were unable to walk on treadmill (8.6%), 92 refused study participation, 5(1%) died during study , 2(0.3%) had interim medical illness after start of study, and 3(0.5%) were not able to have their CVD status confirmed or had scheduling conflicts.

## 3.3.2 Coronary Artery Calcification

Coronary artery calcification was assessed using an Imatron C-150 EBT scanner and the Agatston scoring method<sup>15</sup>, as previously described<sup>9</sup>.

# 3.3.3 Exercise Treadmill Test

Participants performed a graded exercise test according to a modified Balke protocol in which the speed is held constant and the elevation raised in stages<sup>16</sup>. Briefly, the initial stage of the treadmill test began with participants walking for 2 minutes at a speed 2.0 mph and 0% grade. After this initial stage, the speed was increased to 3.0 mph at 0% grade in women, and 3.5 mph in for the men and elevation raised 3% every two minutes, until exhaustion or stop parameters are reached while maintaining the same speed. Participants unable to keep pace during *Stage 1* were excused. If the participant was able to keep pace at *Stage 1* but unable to keep pace at *Stage* 2, then the exercise testing using the Modified Balke protocol was substituted by a Modified-Modified Balke protocol.

The exercise was symptom-limited and was continued until one the following was reached:(1) the heart rate reaching the age-predicted maximum heart rate (220-age);(2) hypotensive response to exercise; (3) symptoms of moderate to severe angina; (4) volitional exhaustion; or, (5) a positive ECG concerning for exercise induced ischemia. A positive test was defined as a horizontal ST depression greater or equal to 1 mm occurring 80 milliseconds after the J-point during exercise or recovery. The exercise test was supervised and interpreted by physicians at the University of Pittsburgh Medical Center.

## **3.3.4 Demographics and Other Confounders**

Age was assessed at time of the Electron Beam CT scan. The status of hypertension, diabetes, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, smoking, self-reported health and arthritis were assessed at the 2001 to 2002 examination. Hypertension was defined by self-report of high blood pressure, diagnosis by a physician, or use of an antihypertensive medication. Diabetes was defined by self-report of diabetes or use of a diabetes-related medication. Chronic Pulmonary disease was defined by self-report of emphysema or asthma diagnosed by a physician. Arthritis was defined by a self-report of arthritis involving either the hips or knees. Body mass index was expressed as kilograms per meters squared  $(kg/m^2)$ . Smoking status was reported as ever versus never because there were few current smokers. Gait speed was calculated from duration of time in seconds to walk a distance of 15-foot at the usual walking pace.

#### 3.3.5 Outcomes

The outcomes of interest were both the duration of exercise on treadmill testing and also the occurrence of exercise induced-ischemia as detected by the electrocardiogram, defined as horizontal or down-sloping ST segment depression  $\geq 1$ mm.

#### 3.3.6 Statistical Analysis

Analysis of Variance or Kruskal Wallis test determined the association between continuous variables and tertiles of exercise duration on treadmill testing. Wilcoxon Rank Sum test or Student's t test determined the association between continuous variables and dichotomous

covariates. Chi Square test was used to assess the association between categorical variables. Exercise treadmill testing ECG findings which were negative or non-diagnostic for ischemia were coded as negative ECG for ischemia whereas ECG positive for ischemia were based on definition previously described. Logistic regression determined the covariates independently associated with study endpoints. Statistical significance was defined as a two-tailed P<0.05. All statistical analyses were performed using STATA 11.1 (STATA Corporation, College Station, TX).

### 3.4 **RESULTS**

The duration of exercise on the treadmill and CAC was measured in 131 predominantly female (60.31%) and of white race (74.81%) community-dwelling older adults without prevalent clinical CVD. Table 3.1 displays the participant characteristics by gender. Participant mean age was 82.2 years and did not significantly different between men and women. The men were taller, heavier in weight, and had a significantly better physical performance as assessed by the 6 MWT distance and gait speed. The differences in CAC ((median, 48.9; IQR, 248.4,854.0) vs. (median,19.9; IQR, 125.0,536.0), p=0.19) did not reach statistical significance. Similarly, the proportion of participants with diabetes, hypertension, chronic pulmonary disease, arthritis, and a fair or poor general health status did not differ significantly between men and women.

The distribution of CAC in the study participants is shown in FIGURE 3.1. The median CAC score was 166.5(Inter-quartile range, 34.0,659.8) with a wide range from 0 to 4,209.97. Majority of the participants 122 (93.1%) had at least some quantity of CAC (CAC>0). Table 3.2 displays the characteristics of participants by tertile of CAC score. Participants with the higher

CAC score were significantly older and more likely to be of white race. The participant characteristics, including lifestyle, anthropometric variables, chronic health conditions, and physical performance measures did not differ significantly across tertile of CAC.

The median(Inter-quartile range) duration of exercise on the treadmill was 4.0(2.3,6.4) and did not differ significantly between men and women(P=0.64). While the resting heart rate was higher in women than men (73.38±10.67 vs. 69.15±12.63, p= 0.03), differences between the other resting and peak exercise measures, including the resting systolic blood pressure (134.71±19.17 vs. 137.35±21.35, p=0.52), resting diastolic blood pressure(74.54±9.49 vs. 76.5±9.31, p= 0.22), peak systolic blood pressure (161.44±22.48 vs. 164.29±27.32, p=0.67), peak diastolic blood pressure(82.77±13.42 vs. 83.19±12.02, p= 0.97), and the peak heart rate(126.0±15.50 vs. 125.67±14.97, p= 0.77) did not differ significantly. Overall, there were 10(7.73%) participants with exercise-induced ischemia with a non-significant difference between women and men(5(6.33%) vs. 5(9.62%), p=0.52).

Table 3.3 displays the characteristics of the participant characteristics by tertile of treadmill exercise time. After adjusting for age and sex, the factors independently associated with a treadmill performance in the highest tertile of treadmill exercise time (>5 minutes) included a longer distance walked during 6 minutes and the absence of hypertension (TABLE 3.4).

Table 3.5 displays the relationship between coronary artery calcification and treadmill exercise test physiologic and electrocardiogram measures. While the association between resting and peak exercise parameters were non-significant, there was a trend towards a higher proportion of positive exercise-induced ECG ischemic with a higher coronary artery calcification (P=0.06). Coronary artery calcification (CAC>0) was present in all (100%) participants with a exercise

induced ischemia as detected by an electrocardiogram. The proportion of exercise electrocardiogram positive for ischemia by coronary artery calcification score according to a conventional categorization of no atherosclerosis (CAC=0), minimal atherosclerosis(CAC,1-10), mild atherosclerosis(CAC,11-100), moderate atherosclerosis(CAC,101-400), and extensive atherosclerosis(>400) was 0%, 7.7%, 3.3%, 2.9%,15.6%, respectively. In a multiple logistic model adjusting for the traditional risk factors, a coronary calcification score of  $\geq$  400 remained independently associated with a 8.86 (1.68-46.70) greater odds of an ischemic electrocardiogram response compared to a coronary artery calcification score <400 with exercise testing (TABLE 3.6).

#### 3.5 DISCUSSION

Our study describes the relationship between the extent of coronary artery calcification as detected by EBT and both the exercise duration and exercise-induced ischemia by electrocardiogram detection during treadmill testing in community-dwelling older adults without prevalent cardiovascular disease. In agreement with prior studies of the relationship between coronary artery calcification and myocardial ischemia detected by either exercise testing<sup>1,18</sup> or myocardial perfusion scanning<sup>3-5</sup> in younger adults, our findings revealed an association between coronary artery calcification and an ischemic electrocardiogram stress testing response in a cohort of older adults without prevalent cardiovascular disease. Similarly, our findings of a lack of significant relationship between exercise duration and the presence of coronary artery calcification is also consistent with previous reports<sup>19</sup>. To the best of our knowledge, our study is the first to explore these relationships between the two noninvasive measures of coronary

artery disease in a cohort of community-dwelling older adults without prevalent cardiovascular disease.

The assessment of coronary artery calcification as a measure of the anatomic atherosclerotic disease and the exercise treadmill testing in the evaluation for the physiological significance of atherosclerotic disease serve as noninvasive measures for individuals at risk for coronary artery disease. Previous studies investigating the relationship between exercise testing induced ischemia detected by an electrocardiogram and the presence of coronary artery calcification using fluoroscopic techniques have reported a higher proportion of positive exercise induced ST segment depression in persons with fluoroscopically detected coronary artery calcification. In a study by Langou et al, the prevalence of positive exercise ST depression in asymptomatic middle-aged men with fluoroscopically detected coronary artery calcification was reported to be 35% compared to 4% in those without coronary artery calcification<sup>18</sup>. In study by Alexopoulos et al, an ECG-positive for ischemia induced by an exercise test was detected in 29% of those with versus 8% of participants without flouroscopically detect coronary artery calcification<sup>1</sup>. In contrast to these two reports, an investigation of the relationship between EBT detected coronary artery calcification and ischemia detected by an electrocardiogram during stress testing did not reveal a significant difference in abnormal electrocardiograms across increasing coronary artery calcification scores<sup>3</sup>. However, in addition to the use of EBT to detect coronary artery calcification, the participants in this study were younger (mean age, 53 years), predominantly male (69%), and underwent stress testing by several different methods (Bruce protocol treadmill (86%), adenosine (11%), dobutamine (3%)). More recently, investigators have examined the relationship between the extent of coronary artery calcification as measured by EBT or multi-detector spiral computed tomography (MDCT) and the

93

myocardial perfusion by single photon emission computed tomography(SPECT) have revealed a clear increase in the frequency of abnormal myocardial perfusion with increasing extent of coronary artery calcification.<sup>3-5,7</sup>. He et al reported the rate of ischemia by myocardial perfusion imaging to increase from 0% in those with coronary artery calcification score of 0, 2.6% with CAC scores 11 to 100, 11.3% with CAC scores from 101 to 399, and 46% in those with CAC scores  $\geq 400^3$ . Similarly, in a study by Moser et al the rate of ischemia by myocardial perfusion imaging to increase from 5% in those with coronary artery calcification score < 100, 24% with scores from 101 to 400, and 53% in those with scores > 400<sup>4</sup>.

The exercise treadmill stress test is less sensitive than a myocardial perfusion modality in detection of the physiological significance of the extent of coronary artery calcification. Despite this limitation, our findings revealed a similar relationship between the frequency of an exercise-induced ischemia and a coronary calcification score >400. Moreover, we found that a coronary artery calcification score >400 was associated with a greater than 8-fold increase in the odds of an exercise-induced ischemia as detected by an electrocardiogram relative to coronary artery calcification score <400.

In our assessment of the relationship between the extent of coronary artery calcification and exercise duration on the treadmill, we had hypothesized that an increased burden of coronary artery calcification would lead to exercise-induced ischemia which would subsequently result in ventricular dysfunction which is associated with reduced exercise tolerance. This hypothesis was supported by literature revealing an association between subclinical cardiovascular disease and reduced left ventricular function and impaired physical function<sup>20-24</sup>. However, we did not find a significant relationship between coronary artery calcification and duration of exercise on the treadmill. Our results are consistent with previously published studies in both the young adult<sup>23</sup> and older aged adult populations.<sup>19</sup> In a study of 3,163 participants (mean age, 59±8 years) of the Heinz Nixdorf Recall study, who were free of established coronary artery disease, the inverse associated observed in unadjusted analyses between EBT-detected coronary artery calcification score and the mean treadmill duration was no longer significant after adjusting for age and gender<sup>23</sup>. Similarly, in a study of 38 asymptomatic men (mean $\pm$ SD age, 59 $\pm$ 8 years) enrolled in the South Bay Heart Watch Program who were without prior history of angina or myocardial infarction the presence of coronary artery calcification as detected by digital subtraction cardiac fluoroscopy was not associated with exercise tolerance<sup>19</sup>. Several factors may account for the reduced exercise capacity in the elderly, including reductions in both skeletal muscle mass, capillarization, and mitochondrial enzyme activity<sup>25</sup>. Diastolic dysfunction has also been shown to be inversely associated with reduced exercise capacity<sup>26</sup> and could potentially serve as the mechanism by which individuals with hypertension had a nearly 60% reduction in the odds of the ability to exercise a duration in the top tertile of > 5 minutes. Finally, we found the distance walked during a six minute walk to be independently associated with the odds of the ability to exercise duration in the top tertile of > 5 minutes, such that individuals who walked a distance of more than 337 meters had a more than a three-fold greater odds than those walking shorter distances. Therefore, the six minute walk distance may serve useful in the selection elderly capable of treadmill testing as a trend for a longer distance walk was observed in treadmill capable older adults in our study cohort. This observed relationship between the six minute walk distance and exercise treadmill duration in older adults highlights the need for further investigation.

Several limitations have to be acknowledged. First, it has been previously recognized that treadmill testing in elderly does not replicate real life situations<sup>27</sup> which may have resulted in
early termination of treadmill testing prior to achieving a peak exercise capacity. Accordingly, we selected to utilize a modified Balke treadmill protocol which is most-suited for elderly individuals with a wide range of exercise capacities and has been used in other epidemiologic cohorts including the Baltimore Longitudinal Study on Aging<sup>10</sup>. Second, the cross-sectional design limits speculations regarding cause-effect relationship. Third, possible selection bias due to differences between participants with and without an EBT scan and/or a clinic visit for physical function assessment. Finally, more than one-half of study participants treadmill test were terminated due to lower extremity symptoms, such as fatigue, pain, or cramps, which may indicate non-cardiopulmonary may have been a limiting factor to reaching a sufficient exertion threshold to detect ischemia on the electrocardiogram.

In this study of community-dwelling older adults free of clinical cardiovascular disease at the time of EBT and treadmill testing, we demonstrated that subclinical coronary artery disease as measured by coronary artery calcification was associated with physiologically significant ischemia but not exercise duration with treadmill testing. The presence of hypertension was also inversely associated with reduced exercise capacity. These findings highlight the potential for cardiovascular risk factor modification in maintaining functional capacity which likely not only reflects physical fitness but overall the overall health status. Preventative therapies targeting cardiovascular risk factors, including lipids and blood pressure, may have a significant beneficial role extending into the oldest ages in maintaining health and thereby functional capacity.

# **3.6 REFERENCES FOR CHAPTER 3**

- 1. Alexopoulos D, Toulgaridis T, Sitafidis G, Christodoulou J, Stathopoulos C, Hahalis G. Relation of coronary artery calcium to exercise testing in healthy subjects. *Am J Cardiol*. Aug 15 2000;86(4):467-469.
- 2. Schmermund A, Baumgart D, Sack S, et al. Assessment of coronary calcification by electron-beam computed tomography in symptomatic patients with normal, abnormal or equivocal exercise stress test. *Eur Heart J*. Oct 2000;21(20):1674-1682.
- **3.** Anand DV, Lim E, Raval U, Lipkin D, Lahiri A. Prevalence of silent myocardial ischemia in asymptomatic individuals with subclinical atherosclerosis detected by electron beam tomography. *J Nucl Cardiol*. Jul-Aug 2004;11(4):450-457.
- **4.** Berman DS, Wong ND, Gransar H, et al. Relationship between stress-induced myocardial ischemia and atherosclerosis measured by coronary calcium tomography. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* Aug 18 2004;44(4):923-930.
- 5. He ZX, Hedrick TD, Pratt CM, et al. Severity of coronary artery calcification by electron beam computed tomography predicts silent myocardial ischemia. *Circulation*. Jan 25 2000;101(3):244-251.
- 6. Moser KW, O'Keefe JH, Jr., Bateman TM, McGhie IA. Coronary calcium screening in asymptomatic patients as a guide to risk factor modification and stress myocardial perfusion imaging. *J Nucl Cardiol*. Nov-Dec 2003;10(6):590-598.
- 7. Ramakrishna G, Miller TD, Breen JF, Araoz PA, Hodge DO, Gibbons RJ. Relationship and prognostic value of coronary artery calcification by electron beam computed tomography to stress-induced ischemia by single photon emission computed tomography. *Am Heart J.* May 2007;153(5):807-814.
- **8.** Rumberger JA, Brundage BH, Rader DJ, Kondos G. Electron beam computed tomographic coronary calcium scanning: a review and guidelines for use in asymptomatic persons. *Mayo Clin Proc.* Mar 1999;74(3):243-252.
- **9.** Newman AB, Naydeck BL, Sutton-Tyrrell K, Feldman A, Edmundowicz D, Kuller LH. Coronary artery calcification in older adults to age 99: prevalence and risk factors. *Circulation.* Nov 27 2001;104(22):2679-2684.
- **10.** Fleg JL, Pina IL, Balady GJ, et al. Assessment of functional capacity in clinical and research applications: An advisory from the Committee on Exercise, Rehabilitation, and Prevention, Council on Clinical Cardiology, American Heart Association. *Circulation*. Sep 26 2000;102(13):1591-1597.

- **11.** Fligfield P, Lauer MS. Exercise electrocardiogram testing. Beyond the ST segment. *Circulation.* 2006;114:2070-2082.
- **12.** Fried LP, Borhani NO, Enright P, et al. The Cardiovascular Health Study: design and rationale. *Ann Epidemiol*. Feb 1991;1(3):263-276.
- **13.** Tell GS, Fried LP, Hermanson B, Manolio TA, Newman AB, Borhani NO. Recruitment of adults 65 years and older as participants in the Cardiovascular Health Study. *Ann Epidemiol.* Jul 1993;3(4):358-366.
- **14.** Ives DG, Fitzpatrick AL, Bild DE, et al. Surveillance and ascertainment of cardiovascular events. The Cardiovascular Health Study. *Ann Epidemiol.* Jul 1995;5(4):278-285.
- **15.** Agatston AS, Janowitz WR, Kaplan G, Gasso J, Hildner F, Viamonte M, Jr. Ultrafast computed tomography-detected coronary calcium reflects the angiographic extent of coronary arterial atherosclerosis. *Am J Cardiol*. Dec 15 1994;74(12):1272-1274.
- **16.** Balke B, Ware RW. An experimental study of physical fitness of Air Force personnel. *U S Armed Forces Med J.* Jun 1959;10(6):675-688.
- **17.** ATS statement: guidelines for the six-minute walk test. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* Jul 1 2002;166(1):111-117.
- **18.** Langou RA, Huang EK, Kelley MJ, Cohen LS. Predictive accuracy of coronary artery calcification and abnormal exercise test for coronary artery disease in asymptomatic men. *Circulation.* Dec 1980;62(6):1196-1203.
- **19.** Maehara K, Porszasz J, Riley M, Kang X, Detrano RC, Wasserman K. Exercise tolerance in asymptomatic elderly men with fluoroscopically detected coronary artery calcification. *Chest.* Dec 1998;114(6):1562-1569.
- **20.** Elbaz A, Ripert M, Tavernier B, et al. Common carotid artery intima-media thickness, carotid plaques, and walking speed. *Stroke*. Oct 2005;36(10):2198-2202.
- **21.** Hamer M, Kivimaki M, Lahiri A, et al. Walking speed and subclinical atherosclerosis in healthy older adults: the Whitehall II study. *Heart.* Mar;96(5):380-384.
- **22.** Inzitari M, Naydeck BL, Newman AB. Coronary artery calcium and physical function in older adults: the Cardiovascular Health Study. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*. Oct 2008;63(10):1112-1118.
- **23.** Mohlenkamp S, Lehmann N, Schmermund A, et al. Association of exercise capacity and the heart rate profile during exercise stress testing with subclinical coronary atherosclerosis: data from the Heinz Nixdorf Recall study. *Clin Res Cardiol.* Oct 2009;98(10):665-676.

- 24. Vogt MT, Cauley JA, Kuller LH, Nevitt MC. Functional status and mobility among elderly women with lower extremity arterial disease: the Study of Osteoporotic Fractures. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* Sep 1994;42(9):923-929.
- **25.** Coggan AR, Spina RJ, King DS, et al. Histochemical and enzymatic comparison of the gastrocnemius muscle of young and elderly men and women. *J Gerontol*. May 1992;47(3):B71-76.
- 26. Grewal J, McCully RB, Kane GC, Lam C, Pellikka PA. Left ventricular function and exercise capacity. *JAMA*. Jan 21 2009;301(3):286-294.
- 27. Greig C, Butler F, Skelton D, Mahmud S, Young A. Treadmill walking in old age may not reproduce the real life situation. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* Jan 1993;41(1):15-18.

# 3.7 TABLES FOR CHAPTER 3

Characteristic*	Overall (n=131)	Men (n=52)	Women (n=79)	P Value
CAC score	166.5(34.0,659.8)	48.9(248.4,854.0)	19.9(125.0,536.0)	0.19
Age, y	82.2±3.2	82.2±3.2	82.2±3.2	0.97
Non-white Race	33(25.2)	13(25.0)	20(25.3)	0.97
BMI, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	26.2(3.9)	25.61(3.7)	26.62(4.0)	0.15
Height, m	1.6±0.10	1.7±0.1	1.6±0.1	< 0.01
Weight, kg	71.0±12.9	77.4±12.9	66.7±11.0	< 0.01
Smoking	69(53.1)	30(57.7)	39(50.0)	0.39
Fair or Poor Health	37(28.2)	13(25.0)	24(30.4)	0.50
6 MWT distance, m	366.2±63.2	389.8±64.4	350.6±57.7	< 0.01
Gait Speed, m/sec	0.80±0.18	0.86±0.18	0.76±0.16	< 0.01
Hypertension	67(51.2)	25(48.1)	42(53.2)	0.57
Diabetes Mellitus	19(14.5)	10(19.2)	9(11.4)	0.21
Pulmonary Disease	11(8.4)	2(3.9)	9(11.4)	0.20
Arthritis	32(24.4)	12(23.1)	20(25.3)	0.77

Table 3.1 Characteristics of participants overall and by gender

Abbreviations: CAC refers to coronary artery calcification Agatston score; IQR, interquartile range; y, years; SD, standard deviation; n, number, %, percent; BMI, body mass index; kg, kilogram; Smoking, current or former smoker; m, meters.

\*Characteristic presented as n(%), mean±sd, or median(IQR).

Characteristic*	Overall	T1 (0-80)	T 2 (81.4-407.1)	T3 (418.0-4210.0)	P Value
Age, y	82.2±3.2	81.2±3.3	82.2±3.2	83.0±2.9	0.03
White Race	98(74.8)	22(50.0)	36(81.8)	40(93.0)	< 0.01
Male	52(39.7)	14(31.8)	18(40.9)	20(46.5)	0.37
BMI, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	26.5±3.8	27.5±4.1	25.9±3.7	26.0±3.4	0.08
Height, m	1.6±0.1	1.6±0.1	1.7±0.1	1.7±0.1	0.50
Weight, kg	71.0±12.9	71.9±12.6	70.9±12.2	70.1±14.1	0.81
Smoking	69(53.1)	20(45.5)	28(65.1)	21(48.8)	0.15
6 MWT distance, m	366.2±63.2	368.2±61.6	359.3±71.9	371.1±55.9	0.66
Gait Speed, m/s	0.8±0.2	0.8±0.1	0.8±0.2	0.8±0.2	0.71
Hypertension	67(51.2)	24(54.6)	22(50.0)	21(48.8)	0.85
Diabetes Mellitus	19(14.5)	6(13.6)	7(15.9)	6(13.9)	0.95
Pulmonary Disease	11(8.4)	4(8.9)	2(4.7)	5(11.6)	0.54
Arthritis	32(24.4)	9(20.5)	13(29.6)	10(23.3)	0.60
Fair or Poor Health	37(28.2)	14(31.1)	10(23.3)	13(30.2)	0.67

 Table 3.2 Participants characteristics by tertile (range in parentheses) of coronary artery

 calcification

Abbreviations: Treadmill capability refers to the ability to complete both the warm up and first stages of treadmill protocol; T, tertile;6 MWT, 6 Minute Walk Test; n, number; y, year; SD, standard deviation; n, number; waist size, waist circumference; %, percent; kg, kilograms; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; m, meters; sec, seconds; CAC score, coronary artery calcification.

\*Characteristic presented as n(%), mean±sd, or median(IQR).

	T1	Τ2	Т3	
Characteristics*	(0.35-2.7)	(2.75-5.05)	(5.17-14)	P Value
CAC score	256.4(47.0,700.6)	131.8(38.1,765.5)	254.4(14.0,613.0)	0.78
Age, y	82.7±3.6	82.0±2.6	81.8±3.3	0.34
White Race	30(66.7)	34(79.1)	34(79.1)	0.30
Female	30(66.7)	23(53.5)	26(60.5)	0.45
Height, m	1.6±0.1	1.7±0.1	1.7±0.1	0.50
Weight, kg	71.9±12.6	71.0±12.2	70.1±14.1	0.81
BMI, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	27.6±4.1	26.2±3.8	25.7±3.3	0.05
Smoking	20(44.4)	25(58.1)	21(48.8)	0.43
Resting SBP, mm Hg	134.0±19.9	139.5±21.1	133.9±19.1	0.40
Resting DBP, mm Hg	74.5±9.6	76.3±9.7	75.2±9.1	0.74
Resting HR, beats/min	72.4±10.8	72.4±12.6	70.3±11.6	0.63
6 MWT distance, m	350.2±66.2	360.1±61.7	389.0±56.0	0.01
Gait Speed, m/s	0.7±0.2	0.8±0.2	0.9±0.2	0.01
Hypertension	28(62.2)	24(55.8)	15(34.9)	0.03
Diabetes Mellitus	8(17.8)	5(11.6)	6(14.0)	0.75
Pulmonary Disease	6(13.3)	4(9.3)	6(14.0)	0.84
Arthritis	15(33.3)	11(25.6)	6(14.0)	0.10

 Table 3.3 Participant characteristics by tertile of treadmill exercise duration(min)

 (range in parentheses)

Abbreviations: T refers to tertile; 6 MWT, 6 Minute Walk Test; n, number; y, year; SD, standard deviation; n, number; waist size, waist circumference; %, percent; kg, kilograms; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; m, meters; sec, seconds; CAC score, coronary artery calcification Agatston score.

\*Characteristic presented as n(%), mean±sd, or median(IQR).

 Table 3.4 Multiple logistic model: Characteristics association with treadmill exercise

 duration in the longest tertile(>5 minutes)

Characteristics	OR (95% CI)	P Value
Age, per 5 y	0.75 (0.38,1.49)	0.41
Male	0.72 (0.32,1.64)	0.43
6 MWT distance(meters)		0.02
240 - 336	1.00	
337-389	3.09 (1.07,8.83)	
390 -561	4.47 (1.54,12.96)	
Hypertension	0.42 (0.19-0.92)	0.03

Abbreviations: OR represents odds ratio; y, year; 6 MWT, 6 minute walk test.

		T1	T2	Т3	
Characteristic*	Overall	(0-80)	(81-407)	(>423)	P Value
Treadmill Time, min	4.0(2.3,6.4)	4.1(2.3,7.3)	4.1(2.3,5.2)	3.1(2.3,5.9)	0.54
Resting SBP, mm Hg	135.8±20.0	138.4±22.0	134.4±19.2	134.4±18.9	0.57
Resting DBP, mm Hg	75.3±9.4	76.0±9.8	75.2±10.4	74.8±8.2	0.83
Resting HR, beats/min	71.7±11.6	72.5±13.4	72.4±11.6	70.1±9.5	0.55
Peak SBP, mm Hg	162.6±24.5	165.9±26.7	157.6±22.6	164.3±23.6	0.25
Peak DBP, mm Hg	82.9±12.8	83.6±17.8	82.2±9.7	83.0±9.5	0.31
Peak HR, beats/min	125.9±15.2	127.6±16.0	125.3±13.2	124.7±16.6	0.64
ECG ischemia	10(7.7)	2(4.6)	1(2.3)	7(16.3)	0.06

 Table 3.5 Treadmill test parameters by tertiles (range in parentheses) of coronary artery calcification

Abbreviations: T refers to tertile; 6 MWT, 6 Minute Walk Test; n, number; y, year; sd, standard deviation; n, number; waist size, waist circumference; %, percent; kg, kilograms; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; m, meters; sec, seconds; CAC score, coronary artery calcification Agatston score.

\* Characteristic displayed as n(%), mean±SD, or median(Inter-quartile range).

	Unadjusted OR(95%CI)	Adjusted OR (95% CI)
CAC score		
<400	1.00	1.00
≥400	5.30(1.30-21.63)	8.86(1.68-46.70)
Age, per 5 years	0.49(0.16-1.54)	0.35(0.08-1.53)
Male gender	1.57(0.43-5.73)	1.23(0.27-5.52)
BMI		
<30	1.00	1.00
≥30	1.19(0.24-6.01)	1.67(0.26-10.67)
Smoking	1.36(0.36-5.05)	0.82(0.18-3.68)
Hypertension	0.61(0.16-2.28)	0.39(0.08-1.84)
Diabetes Mellitus	4.71(1.19-18.65)	4.80(0.90-25.47)

Table 3.6 Simple and Multiple logistic Models: Association of characteristics with an ischemic ECG response on treadmill exercise testing

Abbreviations: OR represents odds ration; CAC, coronary artery calcification Agatston score; BMI, body mass index.

# 3.8 FIGURES FOR CHAPTER 3



Figure 3.1 Distribution of Coronary Artery Calcification among Study Participants

# 4.0 ASSESSMENT OF TREADMILL EXERCISE TEST CAPABILITY AND CAPACITY USING THE SIX MINUTE WALK TEST IN COMMUNITY-DWELLING OLDER ADULTS

# Manuscript in preparation

A Yazdanyar<sup>1</sup>, RM Boudreau<sup>1</sup>, K Sutton-Tyrrell<sup>1</sup>, L Kuller<sup>1</sup>, D Edmunodowicz<sup>2</sup>, AB Newman<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Epidemiology, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, USA

<sup>2</sup>Department of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, Pennsylvania, USA

## 4.1 ABSTRACT

**Background:** The conventional method to assess functional exercise capacity is by the treadmill exercise test yet the 6 Minute Walk test (6 MWT) has several distinct advantages especially in the community-dwelling older adult. *Aim:* To determine the utility of the 6 MWT in identifying community-dwelling elderly with the capability of an evaluation with treadmill testing. Additionally, we investigated the association between the 6 MWT distance and a functional capacity  $\geq$ 4 Metabolic Equivalents (METs) as assessed by the treadmill exercise test. *Methods:* Participants of the Arterial Calcification in the Elderly (ACE) in Cardiovascular Health Study (CHS) without cardiovascular disease were evaluated for participation in a physical function and exercise testing follow-up study. A total of 205 participants had a clinic visit including a functional exercise capacity assessment with the 6 MWT and an exercise treadmill test according to a modified Balke protocol. Among the 205 participants with a clinic based assessment, 183 completed, 6 partially completed, and 16 did not have a 6 MWT. Of the 189 participants with a 6 MWT, there were 142 who were able, 35 unable, and 12 refusing the treadmill exercise test. **Results:** The mean age of the participants with treadmill testing was 80.8 years (female, 58%). The mean 6 MWT distance was 366.62±61.94 in tested, 351.08±76.41 refused, and  $262.55\pm90.02$  in participants who refused the treadmill exercise test(p=0.0001). In a fully adjusted model there was a nearly 3-fold increase in the odds of a participant being treadmill test capable per 100 meter increase in the 6 MWT distance (OR, 3.84 [95% CI, 1.95 to 7.60]). Of the 142 participants with a treadmill test, a total of 62 (44%) had a treadmill functional performance with an estimated MET  $\geq$  4. The mean 6 MWT distance was significantly greater in participants

with MET $\geq$  4 as compared to those with MET <4 (383.82±53.58 vs. 353.30±64.96, p=0.003). After adjusting for demographics, lifestyle, and health conditions there was a nearly 2-fold increase in the odds of achieving an estimated MET  $\geq$  4 per 100 meter increase in 6 MWT distance (OR, 2.03 [95% CI, 1.02 to 4.03]). Walk distance of  $\geq$  407 meters in 6 minutes was 90.2% specific for treadmill testing capability and a 6 MWT distance  $\geq$ 416 meters was 83.8% specificity for having a functional capacity of  $\geq$  4 MET. *Conclusion:* The 6 MWT is a quick and simple test useful in the selection of community-dwelling older adults capable of a conventional treadmill exercise test in addition to providing an estimate of functional exercise capacity.

# 4.2 INTRODUCTION

Exercise capacity is an independent predictor of all-cause and cardiovascular disease related mortality in both middle-aged and older adults<sup>1-9</sup>. In addition, a higher level of functional capacity has been shown to be associated with reduced healthcare costs<sup>10</sup>. Moreover, fitness is essential for the ability to perform daily activities with a low functional capacity serving as a predictor of disability and making independent community dwelling difficult<sup>11-13</sup>. Therefore, the significance of assessing functional capacity rests on its predictive ability in determining the onset of disability, health resource utilization, and adverse health outcomes.

The assessment of functional capacity in the elderly is challenging since older aged adults frequently encounter difficulties in performing a treadmill-based fitness assessment<sup>14</sup>. While the exercise treadmill test serves as the conventional method and gold standard for the assessment of functional capacity, the 6 Minute Walk test ( 6 MWT) represents an alternative that has been utilized in diverse disease-specific populations. The 6 MWT, a correlate of cardiorespiratory fitness, can be safely performed by most community-dwelling older adults<sup>15</sup>. The 6 MWT has several advantages over the conventional exercise treadmill test, including safety and lower cost. We aimed to determine the utility of the 6 MWT in the identification of treadmill test capable older adults. Additionally, we assessed the association between 6 MWT distance and functional exercise capacity on treadmill testing. More specifically, we investigated the association between the distance walked in 6 minutes and having a functional capacity  $\geq$ 4 Metabolic Equivalents (METs) on a treadmill-based testing in a cohort of community-dwelling older adults without cardiovascular disease.

# 4.3 METHODS

#### 4.3.1 Population

The Cardiovascular Health Study (CHS) and the Arterial Calcification in the Elderly in Cardiovascular Health Study (ACE-CHS) study design and methods have been previously described elsewhere<sup>16-18</sup>. Participants from the ACE-CHS study free of prevalent cardiovascular disease were evaluated for their eligibility to participate in a clinic based physical function and exercise testing follow-up study.

A total of 289 participants from the original ACE-CHS cohort (n=614) had interim cardiovascular disease during annual and semi-annual surveillance. A cardiovascular disease event was defined as an incident myocardial infarction, angina, transient ischemic event or stroke, intermittent claudication, and any cardiovascular-related procedures, including coronary artery bypass graft, valve heart surgery, cardiac catheterization, implanted pacemaker or defibrillator, carotid endarterectomy, and peripheral vascular angioplasty or other vascular lower-extremity surgery. Among those remaining who were excluded from study participation, there 39 persons who did not participate due to nursing home residence, presence of cognitive impairment, or a self-report of inability to walk. Lastly, two participants were excluded due to reasons related to geographic relocation and unknown CVD status.

Based on the exclusion process 284 remained eligible for the study, however, 205 had a clinic-based study visit. The remaining 79 participants were either agreeable only to a telephone interview (n=60), refused both a clinic visit and a telephone interview (n=18), or had a scheduling conflict preventing a clinic visit(n=1). There were 16 individuals excluded from the six minute walk test (6 MWT) due to use of an ambulatory aid (wheelchair, crutches, walker or

cane), heart rate (HR) abnormalities (HR<50 or HR>110), severe aortic stenosis, elevated blood pressure (systolic blood pressure>200 or diastolic blood pressure>110), and/or new or worsening symptoms of chest pain, shortness of breath or fainting during the previous 2 months. Among the 205 participants with a clinic visit, 189 individuals remained eligible for a 6 MWT.

#### 4.3.2 Six Minute Walk Test

The 6 MWT was conducted according to a standard protocol similar to the American Thoracic Society guidelines<sup>19</sup>. Briefly, in a 100 foot section of an internal hallway with distance marked every five feet by colored tape along the baseboard, participants were instructed to "walk at their own pace" up and down the hallway while attempting to cover as much ground as possible. This was the only difference between the CHS protocol for the 6 MWT and the American Thoracic Society guidelines where 6 MWT participants are encouraged to "cover as much distance as possible in 6 minutes". Technicians encouraged the participants with the standardized statements "You are doing well" or "keep up the good work," but were asked not to use other phrases. Participants were allowed to stop and rest during the test, but were instructed to resume walking as soon as they could. If a participant stopped and refused to continue the test before the six minutes were up, the distance was recorded and the walk coded as a partial test. The technician used a mechanical lap counter to count the number of laps completed, and an electronic timer with a buzzer that sounded the completion of the 6 minutes. While oxygen saturation and pulse rate were recorded prior to the exercise, the technicians did not walk with participants and did not observe the pulse oximetry readings during the exercise.

### 4.3.3 Exercise Treadmill Test

Participants performed a graded exercise test according to a modified Balke protocol in which the speed is held constant and the elevation raised in stages<sup>20</sup>. Briefly, the initial stage of the treadmill test began with participants walking for 2 minutes at 2.0 mph and 0% grade. After this initial stage, the speed was increased to 3.0 mph at 0% grade in women, and 3.5 mph in for the men and elevation raised 3% every two minutes, until exhaustion or stop parameters are reached, maintaining the same speed. Participants unable to keep pace during *Stage 1* were excused. If the participant was able to keep pace at *Stage 1*, but unable to keep pace at *Stage 2*, the exercise testing using the Modified Balke protocol was substituted by a Modified-Modified Balke protocol where the grade remained constant. The estimated of exercise intensity was measured in metabolic equivalents (METs) and was calculated using the American College of Sports Medicine(ACSM) walking equation<sup>21</sup>. The ACSM's walking equation defines METs as the rate of oxygen consumption(VO2) divided by 3.5. (VO2 was equivalent to 0.1\*Speed(meter minute <sup>-1</sup>)+1.8\*Speed(meter minute<sup>-1</sup>)\*Grade(%)+3.5).

The exercise were symptom-limited and were continued until one the following was reached:(1) the heart rate reaching the age-predicted maximum heart rate (220-age);(2) hypotensive response to exercise; (3) symptoms of moderate to severe angina; (4) volitional exhaustion; or, (5) a positive ECG concerning for exercise induced ischemia. A positive test was defined as a horizontal ST depression greater or equal to 1 mm occurring 80 milliseconds after the J-point during exercise or recovery. The exercise test was supervised and interpreted by physicians at the University of Pittsburgh Medical Center.

## 4.3.4 Other Covariates

Participant age was assessed at time of the clinic visit for the 6 MWT. The presence of hypertension, diabetes, chronic pulmonary disease, arthritis were assessed at the time of the most recent CHS annual examination. Hypertension was defined by self-report of high blood pressure as diagnosed by a physician or use of an antihypertensive medication. Diabetes was defined by self-report of diabetes or use of a diabetes-related medication. Chronic Pulmonary disease was define by self-report of emphysema, chronic bronchitis, or asthma as diagnosed by a physician. Arthritis was defined by a self-report of arthritis involving the hips or knees. Anthropometric measures included weight (kilograms), height (meters), and waist circumference (centimeters). Gait speed (meters per second) was calculated from the number of seconds to walk 15-feet at usual pace. The primary endpoint for the treadmill exercise test was the estimated Metabolic Equivalents (METs).

#### 4.3.5 Statistical Analysis

Categorical and continuous variables were analyzed using Chi Squared test and t test or Wilcoxon Rank Sum test, respectively. Analysis of Variance or the Kruskal Wallis test assessed for the significance of difference in continuous variables across 6 MWT status and treadmill test capability categories. Simple and multivariable logistic regression provided an estimate of association between 6 MWT distance and a dichotomized outcome based on the participant capability of perform a treadmill exercise test (capable=1/not capable=0). Similarly, logistic regression provided an estimate of the association between 6 MWT distance and a dichotomized outcome based on the participant capability of perform a treadmill-based functional capacity where a good functional capacity

was defined as an estimated MET  $\geq$  4. All statistical analyses were performed using STATA 11.1 (STATA Corporation, College Station, TX).

#### 4.4 **RESULTS**

Participant characteristics by whether they completed, partially completed, or did not have a 6 Minute Walk Test is shown in Table 4.1. Among the 205 participants with a clinic based assessment, 183 did complete and six persons partially completed a 6 MWT. Participants who completed the 6 MWT were younger and with a faster gait speed. The characteristics of participants with a 6 MWT by whether or not they were capable of an exercise treadmill test is displayed in Table 4.2. Of the 189 with a 6 MWT, there were 142 participants who were also capable of performing the exercise treadmill test, while the others were either unable(n=35) or refused(n=12) the treadmill test. Compared with participants unable or refusing the testing, treadmill test capable participants were younger, and taller in height. The treadmill test capable had a longer 6 MWT distance and a faster gait speed compared to those unable to do a 6 MWT.

The association between the participants treadmill exercise testing capability and the 6 MWT distance based on logistic regression modeling are displayed in Table 4.3. In an unadjusted logistic model, a 100 meters increase in the 6 MWT distance was associated with an approximately 4-fold increase in the odds of a participant being treadmill test capable (OR, 4.18 [95% CI, 2.34, 7.47]). The independent association between the 6 MWT distance and treadmill exercise testing capability remained statistically significant in an age- and sex-adjusted model with a 3-fold increased odds per 100 meter increase in 6 MWT distance (OR, 3.80 [95%

CI, 2.07, 7.00]). After further adjusting for lifestyle and clinical factors there remained a greater than 3-fold increase in the odds of a participant being able to be treadmill tested per 100 meter increase in 6 MWT distance (OR, 3.84 [95% CI, 1.95, 7.60]). The changes in the sensitivity, specificity, and likelihood ratio associated with several cut-offs in 6 MWT distance in the association with treadmill testing capability is displayed in TABLE 4.4. As illustrated in Table 4.4, the sensitivity of the 6 MWT decreases with longer distances walked ranging from 100% for 152.4 to 287.4 meters to 0% for 6 MWT distances greater than 560.2 meters. A distance of 407.8 to 560 meters in 6 minutes was low in sensitivity (31%), but walking this distance increased the likelihood of being capable of treadmill testing (positive LR, 2.31).

Table 4.5 displays the characteristics of the 142 participants who underwent an exercise treadmill test by functional exercise capacity. The mean age of the participants with treadmill testing was 80.8 years (female, 58%). Of the 142 participants, a total of 62 (44%) had a treadmill functional performance with an estimated MET  $\geq$  4. In comparison with those with poor functional performance (MET <4), individuals with a good treadmill performance (MET  $\geq$  4) did not differ significantly with respect to age, gender, and measures of height and waist circumference. The mean diastolic blood pressure was significantly lower in participants with estimated MET  $\geq$  4 ( 69.95±8.98 vs. 74.00±9.71, p=0.01) who were also less likely to carry a diagnosis of hypertension.

Among participants with treadmill-based estimated MET  $\geq$  4, the mean distance walked on the 6 MWT was significantly greater as compared to individuals with MET <4 (383.82±53.58 vs. 353.30±64.96, p=0.003). Table 4.6 displays the results of the simple and multiple logistic regression models assessing the association between the 6 MWT distance and an estimated MET  $\geq$  4 treadmill exercise capacity. An increase of 100 meters in the 6 MWT distance was associated with an approximately 2-fold increase in the odds of a participant having a functional capacity equivalent to an estimated MET  $\geq 4$  (OR, 2.32 [95% CI, 1.30, 4.16]). The independent association between the 6 MWT distance and treadmill exercise-based functional capacity equivalent to an estimated MET  $\geq 4$  remained statistically significant in an age- and sex-adjusted model with a 2-fold increased odds per 100 meter increase in 6 MWT distance (OR, 2.24 [95% CI, 1.22, 4.11]). After further adjusting for lifestyle and clinical factors there remained a greater than 2-fold increase in the odds of a participant achieving an estimated MET  $\geq$  4 per 100 meter increase in 6 MWT distance (OR, 2.03 [95% CI, 1.02, 4.03]). The changes in the sensitivity, specificity, and likelihood ratio associated with several cut-offs in 6 MWT distance in the association with a participant achieving an estimated MET  $\geq$  4 on treadmill testing is displayed in TABLE 4.7. The specificity of the 6 MWT increased with 6 MWT distance, ranging from 0% for 240.8 to 314.6 meters to 100% for 6 MWT distances greater than 560.2 meters. For example, among the 142 participants who had a treadmill exercise test and also completed a 6 MWT, those having walked at least 416 meters during six minutes had 83.8% specificity for having a functional capacity of  $\geq 4$  MET.

#### 4.5 DISCUSSION

In a cohort of community-dwelling older adults free of cardiovascular disease, the distance walked during a 6 minute was shown to be an independent predictor of treadmill exercise test capability. Additionally, the 6 MWT distance was a useful indicator of whether an older adult would have a good functional capacity as determined by a conventional treadmill based assessment. Based on our results, a distance  $\geq$  407 meters walked during 6 minutes has 90%

specificity in identifying whether a community-dwelling older adult would be capable of treadmill-based testing. Additionally, using a definition of good functional capacity as  $\geq$  4 MET, we found that a distance  $\geq$  416.7 meters walked during the 6 MWT was moderately specific (83.4%) for a good functional capacity. To the best of our knowledge, the application of 6 MWT distance as a tool to identify treadmill test capability and functional performance status of community-dwelling older adults without cardiovascular disease had not previously been reported.

In contrast to walking test, many elderly either do not meet eligibility criteria or are unwilling to participate in treadmill exercise testing<sup>14</sup>. Previous study of treadmill testing in the elderly found an age-related decline in the ability to complete a treadmill test such that by age 85 or older fewer than 10% were able to successfully complete the test<sup>22</sup>. Therefore, walk-based tests can serve as an alternative or as the initial test to determine whether an older aged adult may be capable of performing a treadmill based assessment.

We found the 6 MWT distance independently associated with treadmill test capability. For example, an individual able to walk at least 407.8 meters in 6 minutes would be very likely to be treadmill test capable (specificity, 90.2%). In contrast, an individual unable to walk at least 289.6 meters would be unlikely to be capable of undergoing a treadmill exercise testing.

The 6 MWT distance can also serve as a simple tool in the identification of communitydwelling older adults with a good functional capacity (MET $\geq$ 4). In this aim, we provided the diagnostic characteristics of the 6 MWT distance over a range of thresholds for the determination of treadmill testing treadmill testing performance  $\geq$ 4 MET. This relationship can serve an important role in the appropriate context in clinical care of the older adult. For instance, an individual's functional capacity plays a role in pre-operative cardiovascular risk assessment

118

where a functional capacity < 4 METs may call a need for further cardiovascular testing. While a survey of an individual's self-reported ability to participate in various physical activities can provide an estimate of the functional capacity, a formal test can provide an objective measure. Based on our results, objective assessment can be provided by the 6 MWT such that the inability to walk at least 320 meters in 6 minutes would identify older adults unlikely to be have a functional capacity  $\geq$ 4 MET.

Several limitations of our results are noteworthy. First, the possibility of verification or workup bias needs to be considered as study participants who were unable to complete the 6 MWT were not referred for treadmill based testing. Second, the estimation of  $VO_2$  is less accurate and reproducible than direct measurement of  $VO_2$ . Given the correlation between  $VO_2$  and walk-based testing is greatest in older adults and those less-fit, our findings in community-dwelling elderly may not be generalizable to other populations.

The traditional method for assessing functional capacity is via the exercise treadmill test. Although the treadmill exercise test is considered the "gold standard", it has several limitations, including the requirement for oversight by clinically trained personnel, equipment costs, and safety concerns. Additionally, the treadmill exercise testing has been reported to be impractical in the assessment of fitness in older adults<sup>23</sup>. Alternatively, the 6 MWT is a valid and reliable method of physical endurance assessment which can be performed by many older adults unable to perform a conventional treadmill exercise test<sup>15,24</sup>. Our findings, suggest that 6 MWT distance may serve as a useful tool in either the selection of elderly capable of the conventional treadmill exercise test and to provide an estimate of functional capacity for community-dwelling older adults.

# 4.6 **REFERENCES FOR CHAPTER 4**

- 1. Blair SN, Kampert JB, Kohl HW, 3rd, et al. Influences of cardiorespiratory fitness and other precursors on cardiovascular disease and all-cause mortality in men and women. *JAMA*. Jul 17 1996;276(3):205-210.
- 2. Goraya TY, Jacobsen SJ, Pellikka PA, et al. Prognostic value of treadmill exercise testing in elderly persons. *Ann Intern Med.* Jun 6 2000;132(11):862-870.
- **3.** Gulati M, Pandey DK, Arnsdorf MF, et al. Exercise capacity and the risk of death in women: the St James Women Take Heart Project. *Circulation*. Sep 30 2003;108(13):1554-1559.
- **4.** Kokkinos P, Myers J, Kokkinos JP, et al. Exercise capacity and mortality in black and white men. *Circulation*. Feb 5 2008;117(5):614-622.
- 5. Mora S, Redberg RF, Cui Y, et al. Ability of exercise testing to predict cardiovascular and all-cause death in asymptomatic women: a 20-year follow-up of the lipid research clinics prevalence study. *JAMA*. Sep 24 2003;290(12):1600-1607.
- 6. Myers J, Prakash M, Froelicher V, Do D, Partington S, Atwood JE. Exercise capacity and mortality among men referred for exercise testing. *N Engl J Med.* Mar 14 2002;346(11):793-801.
- 7. Spin JM, Prakash M, Froelicher VF, et al. The prognostic value of exercise testing in elderly men. *Am J Med.* Apr 15 2002;112(6):453-459.
- 8. Sui X, Laditka JN, Hardin JW, Blair SN. Estimated functional capacity predicts mortality in older adults. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* Dec 2007;55(12):1940-1947.
- **9.** Messinger-Rapport B, Pothier Snader CE, Blackstone EH, Yu D, Lauer MS. Value of exercise capacity and heart rate recovery in older people. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* Jan 2003;51(1):63-68.
- 10. Weiss JP, Froelicher VF, Myers JN, Heidenreich PA. Health-care costs and exercise capacity. *Chest.* Aug 2004;126(2):608-613.
- **11.** Morey MC, Pieper CF, Cornoni-Huntley J. Is there a threshold between peak oxygen uptake and self-reported physical functioning in older adults? *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. Aug 1998;30(8):1223-1229.
- **12.** Posner JD, McCully KK, Landsberg LA, et al. Physical determinants of independence in mature women. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* Apr 1995;76(4):373-380.

- **13.** Newman AB, Simonsick EM, Naydeck BL, et al. Association of long-distance corridor walk performance with mortality, cardiovascular disease, mobility limitation, and disability. *JAMA*. May 3 2006;295(17):2018-2026.
- 14. Gill TM, DiPietro L, Krumholz HM. Role of exercise stress testing and safety monitoring for older persons starting an exercise program. *JAMA*. Jul 19 2000;284(3):342-349.
- **15.** Enright PL, McBurnie MA, Bittner V, et al. The 6-min walk test: a quick measure of functional status in elderly adults. *Chest.* Feb 2003;123(2):387-398.
- **16.** Fried LP, Borhani NO, Enright P, et al. The Cardiovascular Health Study: design and rationale. *Ann Epidemiol*. Feb 1991;1(3):263-276.
- 17. Newman AB, Naydeck BL, Sutton-Tyrrell K, Feldman A, Edmundowicz D, Kuller LH. Coronary artery calcification in older adults to age 99: prevalence and risk factors. *Circulation*. Nov 27 2001;104(22):2679-2684.
- **18.** Tell GS, Fried LP, Hermanson B, Manolio TA, Newman AB, Borhani NO. Recruitment of adults 65 years and older as participants in the Cardiovascular Health Study. *Ann Epidemiol.* Jul 1993;3(4):358-366.
- **19.** ATS statement: guidelines for the six-minute walk test. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* Jul 1 2002;166(1):111-117.
- **20.** Balke B, Ware RW. An experimental study of physical fitness of Air Force personnel. *U S Armed Forces Med J.* Jun 1959;10(6):675-688.
- **21.** American College of Sports Medicine (ACSM) ACSM's Guidelines for exercise testing and prescription. 5th ed: Baltimore: Williams & Williams; 1995.
- 22. Hollenberg M, Ngo LH, Turner D, Tager IB. Treadmill exercise testing in an epidemiologic study of elderly subjects. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* Jul 1998;53(4):B259-267.
- **23.** Greig C, Butler F, Skelton D, Mahmud S, Young A. Treadmill walking in old age may not reproduce the real life situation. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* Jan 1993;41(1):15-18.
- 24. Rikli R, Jones C. The reliability and validity of a 6-Minute Walk test as a measure of physical endurance in older adults. *J Aging and Phys Activity*. 1998(6):363-375.

# 4.7 TABLES FOR CHAPTER 4

Characteristics*	No 6 MWT (n=16)	Partial 6 MWT (n=6)	Complete 6 MWT (n=183)	P Value
Age, y	83.5±3.5	83.0±4.5	81.2±3.4	0.02
Female	10(62.5)	5(83.3)	114(62.3)	0.01
Height, m	1.6±0.1	$1.58{\pm}0.1$	1.64±0.1	0.35
Waist Size ,cm	1.0±0.14	1.0±0.2	1.0±0.1	0.82
Weight, kg	70.3±13.5	69.9±18.7	71.2±13.6	0.94
SBP, mm Hg	139.2±18.3	123.3±11.1	134.1±17.6	0.17
DBP, mm Hg	72.7±11.5	72.5±9.7	72.0±9.9	0.97
Walking Performance Tests				
6 MWT, m	NA	197.77±111.6	351.2±73.6	< 0.01
Gait Speed, m/sec	0.6±0.2	0.7±0.2	0.8±0.2	0.01
Prevalent Health Conditions				
Hypertension	15(51.7)	5(41.7)	65(45.8)	0.79
Diabetes Mellitus	2(6.9)	4(33.3)	20(14.1)	0.09
Pulmonary Disease	4(13.8)	3(25.0)	16(11.3)	0.32
Arthritis	11(40.7)	4(36.4)	33(23.4)	0.15

Table 4.1 Characteristics of Participants by Six Minute Walk Test Status

\* Presented as mean  $\pm$  SD or n(%).

Abbreviations: 6 MWT represents 6 Minute Walk Test; SD, standard deviation; NA, not applicable; n, number; y, year; cm, centimeters; n, number; waist size, waist circumference; %, percent; kg, kilograms; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; m, meters; sec, seconds.

Characteristics*	Unable (n=35)	Refused (n=12)	Able (n=142)	P Value
Age, y	82.4±3.5	82.7±4.6	80.9±3.2	0.02
Female	30(85.7)	6(50.0)	83(58.5)	0.01
Height, m	1.6±0.1	1.6±0.1	1.7±0.1	0.05
Waist Size, m	1.0±0.16	1.0±0.1	1.0±0.1	0.60
Weight, kg	69.9±16.8	74.4±10.0	71.3±13.1	0.63
SBP, mm Hg	134.6±20.2	130.8±20.2	133.8±17.2	0.81
DBP, mm Hg	71.9±11.5	70.0±9.7	72.2±9.6	0.76
Walking Test Performance				
6 MWT, m	262.6±90.0	351.1±76.4	366.6±61.9	< 0.01
Gait Speed, m/sec	0.7±0.1	0.8±0.2	0.8±0.2	< 0.01
Prevalent Health Conditions				
Hypertension	19(54.3)	5(41.7)	65(45.8)	0.62
Diabetes Mellitus	4(11.4)	4(33.3)	20(14.1)	0.18
Pulmonary Disease	6(17.1)	3(25.0)	16 (11.3)	0.22
Arthritis	13(39.4)	4(36.4)	33(23.4)	0.15

 Table 4.2 Characteristics of Participants with Completed 6 MWT by Treadmill Test

 Capability

\* Presented as mean  $\pm$  SD or n(%).

Abbreviations: 6 MWT represents 6 Minute Walk Test; n, number; y,year; SD, standard deviation; n, number; %, percent; kg, kilograms; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; m, meters; sec, seconds.

	Logistic Models					
Characteristics	Unadjusted	Age- and Sex- Adjusted	Fully Adjusted			
6 MWT por 100m	4.18	3.80	3.84			
o wiwi, per toom	(2.34,7.47)	(2.07, 7.00)	(1.95,7.60)			
Age per 1 v		0.93	0.96			
Age, per 1 y		(0.84,1.04)	(0.83,1.09)			
Female		0.75	0.68			
remate		(0.31,1.79)	(0.20,2.38)			
Height ner 1 cm			1.00			
fieldin, per i em			(0.94,1.07)			
Waist circumference, per 1 cm			1.01			
waist encumerence, per 1 em			(0.97,1.05)			
SBP per 5 mm Hg			1.03			
SDI, per 5 min rig			(0.88,1.20)			
DBP ner 5 mm Hg			0.97			
DBI, per 5 min rig			(0.74,1.26)			
Hypertension			0.82			
nypertension			(0.33,2.05)			
Diabetes Mellitus			1.03			
			(0.29,3.60)			
Pulmonary Disease			1.00			
			(0.29,3.34)			
Arthritis			0.67			
			(0.27, 1.67)			

Table 4.3 Association between Six Minute Walk Test Performance and Treadmill Test Capability

Abbreviations: 6 MWT represents 6 Minute Walk test; cm, centimeter; y, year; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; m, meters; sec, seconds.

		Correctly				
6 MWT Distance (m)	Sensitivity(%)	Specificity(%)	Classified (%)	LR+	LR -	
152.40 - 287.43	100	0	77.60	1.00		
289.56 - 338.03	88.73	51.22	80.33	1.82	0.22	
338.33 - 376.74	65.49	60.98	64.48	1.68	0.57	
377.35 - 406.30	44.37	75.61	51.37	1.82	0.74	
407.83 - 560.23	22.54	90.24	37.70	2.31	0.86	
560.23	0	100	22.40		1.00	

Table 4.4 Association between 6 MWT Distance and Treadmill Test Capability

Abbreviations: 6 MWT refers to Six Minute Walk Test; m, meters; %, percent; LR +, Likelihood Ratio Positive; LR -, Likelihood Ratio Negative.

Table 4.5 Association between 6 MWT Distance and Treadmill Test Capac	ity
---	-----

		Metabolic Equivalents		
Characteristic*	Overall (n=142)	<4 (n=80)	≥4 (n=62)	P Value
Age, yr	80.5±2.9	81.2±3.5	80.5±2.9	0.20
Female	83(58.5)	49(61.3)	34(54.8)	0.44
Height, m	1.7±0.1	1.6±0.1	1.7±0.1	0.28
Waist circumference, m	1.0±0.1	1.0±0.1	1.0±0.1	0.65
SBP, mm Hg	133.8±17.2	135.4±17.4	131.7±16.7	0.20
DBP, mm Hg	72.2±9.6	74.0±9.7	70.0±9.0	0.01
Walking Performance Tests				
6 MWT distance, m	366.6±61.9	353.3±65.0	383.8±53.6	0.003
Gait Speed, m/sec	0.8±0.2	0.8±0.2	0.9±0.2	0.0002
Prevalent Health Conditions				
Hypertension	65(45.8)	44(55.0)	21(33.9)	0.01
Diabetes Mellitus	20(14.1)	11(13.8)	9(14.5)	0.90
Arthritis	33(23.4)	21(26.3)	12(19.7)	0.36
Chronic Pulmonary Disease	16(11.3)	10(12.5)	6(9.7)	0.79
Modified Modified Balke Protocol	35(24.7)	25(31.3)	10(16.1)	0.04

\* Presented as mean ± SD or n(%). Abbreviations: 6 MWT represents 6 Minute Walk Test; n, number; y,year; SD, standard deviation; n, number; %, percent; kg, kilograms; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; m, meters; sec, seconds.

		Logistic Models			
Characteristics	Unadjusted	Age and Sex Adjusted	Fully Adjusted		
6 MWT distance, per 100m	2.32 (1.30,4.16)	2.24 (1.22,4.11)	2.03 (1.02,4.03)		
Age, per 1 year		0.94 (0.84,1.05)	0.90 (0.78,1.03)		
Female		1.04 (0.51,2.16)	$1.41 \\ (0.41, 4.78)$		
Height, per 1 cm			1.02 (0.96,1.09)		
Waist circumference, per 1 cm			1.00 (0.96,1.04)		
SBP, per 5 mm Hg			1.09 (0.94,1.26)		
DBP, per 5 mm Hg			0.67 (0.51,0.88)		
Hypertension			0.36 (0.15,0.88)		
Diabetes Mellitus			1.01 (0.30,3.32)		
Pulmonary Disease			0.80 (0.21,3.05)		
Arthritis			0.71 (0.28,1.81)		
Modified Treadmill Protocol			0.33 (0.12,0.89)		

# Table 4.6 Association Between 6 MWT Distance and Functional Exercise Capacity

Abbreviations: 6 MWT represents 6 Minute Walk Test; cm, centimeter; y, year; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; m, meters; sec, seconds.

			Correctly		
6 MWT	Sensitivity	Specificity	Classified		
distance (m)	(%)	(%)	(%)	LR+	LR -
240.79 - 314.56	100	0	43.66	1.00	
320.04 - 348.39	90.32	28.75	55.63	1.27	0.34
352.05 - 381.31	77.42	53.75	64.08	1.67	0.42
382.22 - 414.53	53.23	71.25	63.38	1.85	0.66
416.67 - 560.23	24.19	83.75	57.75	1.49	0.91
>560.23	0	100	56.34		1.00

Table 4.7 Association between 6 MWT Performance and Functional Exercise Capacity

Abbreviations: 6 MWT distance refers to Six Minute Walk Test; m, meters; %, percent; LR +, Likelihood Ratio Positive; LR -, Likelihood Ratio Negative.

#### 5.0 **DISCUSSION**

#### 5.1 SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

This dissertation evaluated the utility of cardiorespiratory fitness in community-dwelling older adults as it relates to subclinical cardiovascular disease and the prediction of health outcomes. Additionally, this dissertation evaluated the relationship between cardiorespiratory fitness as measured by a walk-based test and the conventional treadmill-based exercise test. All three studies measured cardiorespiratory fitness and were based on community-based older adult participants of the Cardiovascular Health Study. Chapter 2 measured cardiorespiratory fitness using a time-based walking test, the 6 Minute Walk Test. Chapters 3 and 4 included an assessment of cardiorespiratory fitness with the conventional treadmill-based exercise test.

As shown in Chapter 2, in this cohort of community-dwelling older adults, the performance distance on a 6 Minute Walk Test was an independent predictor of all-cause mortality. This study suggests the 6 Minute Walk Test is a useful measure of functional exercise capacity with prognostic significance which adds to the previous literature in disease-specific patient populations and extends its prognostic significance to community-dwelling older adults with a wide range of health and functional capacity.

The relationships between two noninvasive measures of coronary artery disease, the treadmill-based exercise test and coronary artery calcification, in a cohort of community-

dwelling older adults without prevalent cardiovascular disease are displayed in Chapter 3. In this cohort, the duration of exercise on treadmill testing, a measure of cardiorespiratory fitness, was not significantly associated with the extent of coronary artery calcification. The results did reveal that the discriminatory ability of coronary artery calcification in the detection of flow-limiting coronary disease may persist in oldest old aged adults.

In the final chapter (Chapter 4), the 6 Minute Walk Test performance was shown to be a useful tool in the identification of treadmill test capable community-dwelling older adults without prevalent cardiovascular disease. Additionally, the 6 Minute Walk Test performance was useful in the determination of functional exercise capacity as measured by the conventional exercise treadmill test.

# 5.2 PUBLIC HEALTH SIGNIFICANCE

Given the age-related increase in the prevalence of cardiovascular diseases and other chronic health conditions, the aging of U.S. population calls for simple, safe, and low cost tools for screening and prevention of disease. Although the conventional method of using treadmill or cycle ergometry exercise testing can provide a precise assessment of fitness, walk-based testing, such as that with the 6 MWT, can serve as a more practical tool in older adults.

Taken together, our findings based on the CHS cohort provide support for the clinical application of the 6 MWT for screening purposes of community-dwelling older adults. First, the association of CAC and treadmill exercise induced ischemia may reflect the continued discriminatory ability of CAC in older adults. Secondly, the 6 MWT performance, as a reflection of cardiorespiratory fitness, can serve as a tool in the prediction of mortality. Since

fitness is a marker of physical activity, the performance on the 6 MWT can assist practitioners in public health interventions aimed at promoting physical activity. Lastly, the 6 MWT performance in older adults can provide clinicians with a quick measure discriminating the treadmill capable individuals, potentially reducing healthcare resource utilization in terms of unsuccessful treadmill test referrals. Additionally, the 6 MWT performance can serve clinicians as a quick measure of functional capacity in older adults, which may aid clinicians in utilization of both appropriate healthcare and community-based resources.
## BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. U.S. Bureau of Census. United States population projections: 2010 to 2050. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Commerce, 2008. Available at: http://www.census.gov/population/www/projections/summarytables.html. Accessed April 15, 2009.
- 2. Lloyd-Jones D, Adams R, Carnethon M, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics--2009 update: a report from the American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee. *Circulation.* Jan 27 2009;119(3):e21-181.
- **3.** Lloyd-Jones DM, Larson MG, Beiser A, Levy D. Lifetime risk of developing coronary heart disease. *Lancet.* Jan 9 1999;353(9147):89-92.
- 4. National Institute of Health, National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. Incidence and prevalence: 2006 chart book on cardiovascular and lung diseases. Bethesda (MD): National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute; 2006. Available at: http://www. nhlbi.nih.gov/rsources/docs/06a\_ip\_chtbk.pdf. Accessed March 9, 2009.
- 5. Mittelmark MB, Psaty BM, Rautaharju PM, et al. Prevalence of cardiovascular diseases among older adults. The Cardiovascular Health Study. *Am J Epidemiol*. Feb 1 1993;137(3):311-317.
- 6. Arnold AM, Psaty BM, Kuller LH, et al. Incidence of cardiovascular disease in older Americans: the cardiovascular health study. *J Am Geriatr Soc*. Feb 2005;53(2):211-218.
- 7. Rich MW, Bosner MS, Chung MK, Shen J, McKenzie JP. Is age an independent predictor of early and late mortality in patients with acute myocardial infarction? *Am J Med.* Jan 1992;92(1):7-13.
- 8. National Center for Health Statistics. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Compressed mortality file: underlying cause of death. Available at: http://wonder. cdc.gov/mortSQL.html. Accessed March 9, 2009.
- **9.** Lloyd-Jones DM, Larson MG, Leip EP, et al. Lifetime risk for developing congestive heart failure: the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation*. Dec 10 2002;106(24):3068-3072.

- **10.** Izquierdo-Porrera AM, Gardner AW, Bradham DD, et al. Relationship between objective measures of peripheral arterial disease severity to self-reported quality of life in older adults with intermittent claudication. J Vasc Surg. Apr 2005;41(4):625-630.
- **11.** Breek JC, Hamming JF, De Vries J, Aquarius AE, van Berge Henegouwen DP. Quality of life in patients with intermittent claudication using the World Health Organisation (WHO) questionnaire. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg*. Feb 2001;21(2):118-122.
- **12.** Newman AB, Siscovick DS, Manolio TA, et al. Ankle-arm index as a marker of atherosclerosis in the Cardiovascular Health Study. Cardiovascular Heart Study (CHS) Collaborative Research Group. *Circulation.* Sep 1993;88(3):837-845.
- **13.** Stewart BF, Siscovick D, Lind BK, et al. Clinical factors associated with calcific aortic valve disease. Cardiovascular Health Study. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* Mar 1 1997;29(3):630-634.
- 14. Lindroos M, Kupari M, Heikkila J, Tilvis R. Prevalence of aortic valve abnormalities in the elderly: an echocardiographic study of a random population sample. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* Apr 1993;21(5):1220-1225.
- **15.** Singh JP, Evans JC, Levy D, et al. Prevalence and clinical determinants of mitral, tricuspid, and aortic regurgitation (the Framingham Heart Study). *Am J Cardiol.* Mar 15 1999;83(6):897-902.
- 16. Nkomo VT, Gardin JM, Skelton TN, Gottdiener JS, Scott CG, Enriquez-Sarano M. Burden of valvular heart diseases: a population-based study. *Lancet*. Sep 16 2006;368(9540):1005-1011.
- 17. Freed LA, Levy D, Levine RA, et al. Prevalence and clinical outcome of mitral-valve prolapse. *N Engl J Med.* Jul 1 1999;341(1):1-7.
- **18.** Miyasaka Y, Barnes ME, Gersh BJ, et al. Secular trends in incidence of atrial fibrillation in Olmsted County, Minnesota, 1980 to 2000, and implications on the projections for future prevalence. *Circulation.* Jul 11 2006;114(2):119-125.
- **19.** Furberg CD, Psaty BM, Manolio TA, Gardin JM, Smith VE, Rautaharju PM. Prevalence of atrial fibrillation in elderly subjects (the Cardiovascular Health Study). *Am J Cardiol.* Aug 1 1994;74(3):236-241.
- **20.** Lloyd-Jones DM, Wang TJ, Leip EP, et al. Lifetime risk for development of atrial fibrillation: the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation*. Aug 31 2004;110(9):1042-1046.
- **21.** Psaty BM, Manolio TA, Kuller LH, et al. Incidence of and risk factors for atrial fibrillation in older adults. *Circulation*. Oct 7 1997;96(7):2455-2461.

- **22.** Furberg CD, Manolio TA, Psaty BM, et al. Major electrocardiographic abnormalities in persons aged 65 years and older (the Cardiovascular Health Study). Cardiovascular Health Study Collaborative Research Group. *Am J Cardiol*. May 15 1992;69(16):1329-1335.
- **23.** Manolio TA, Furberg CD, Rautaharju PM, et al. Cardiac arrhythmias on 24-h ambulatory electrocardiography in older women and men: the Cardiovascular Health Study. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* Mar 15 1994;23(4):916-925.
- 24. Kuller L, Borhani N, Furberg C, et al. Prevalence of subclinical atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease and association with risk factors in the Cardiovascular Health Study. *Am J Epidemiol.* Jun 15 1994;139(12):1164-1179.
- **25.** Bryan RN, Wells SW, Miller TJ, et al. Infarctlike lesions in the brain: prevalence and anatomic characteristics at MR imaging of the elderly--data from the Cardiovascular Health Study. *Radiology*. Jan 1997;202(1):47-54.
- 26. Newman AB, Naydeck BL, Sutton-Tyrrell K, Feldman A, Edmundowicz D, Kuller LH. Coronary artery calcification in older adults to age 99: prevalence and risk factors. *Circulation*. Nov 27 2001;104(22):2679-2684.
- 27. Yue NC, Arnold AM, Longstreth WT, Jr., et al. Sulcal, ventricular, and white matter changes at MR imaging in the aging brain: data from the cardiovascular health study. *Radiology*. Jan 1997;202(1):33-39.
- **28.** Newman AB, Gottdiener JS, McBurnie MA, et al. Associations of subclinical cardiovascular disease with frailty. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* Mar 2001;56(3):M158-166.
- **29.** Newman AB, Arnold AM, Naydeck BL, et al. "Successful aging": effect of subclinical cardiovascular disease. *Arch Intern Med.* Oct 27 2003;163(19):2315-2322.
- **30.** Roberts WC. The senile cardiac calcification syndrome. *Am J Cardiol*. Sep 1 1986;58(6):572-574.
- **31.** Roberts WC, Shirani J. Comparison of cardiac findings at necropsy in octogenarians, nonagenarians, and centenarians. *Am J Cardiol*. Sep 1 1998;82(5):627-631.
- **32.** Barasch E, Gottdiener JS, Larsen EK, Chaves PH, Newman AB, Manolio TA. Clinical significance of calcification of the fibrous skeleton of the heart and aortosclerosis in community dwelling elderly. The Cardiovascular Health Study (CHS). *Am Heart J.* Jan 2006;151(1):39-47.
- **33.** Otto CM, Lind BK, Kitzman DW, Gersh BJ, Siscovick DS. Association of aortic-valve sclerosis with cardiovascular mortality and morbidity in the elderly. *N Engl J Med.* Jul 15 1999;341(3):142-147.

- **34.** Fox CS, Vasan RS, Parise H, et al. Mitral annular calcification predicts cardiovascular morbidity and mortality: the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation*. Mar 25 2003;107(11):1492-1496.
- **35.** Savage DD, Garrison RJ, Castelli WP, et al. Prevalence of submitral (anular) calcium and its correlates in a general population-based sample (the Framingham Study). *Am J Cardiol.* May 1 1983;51(8):1375-1378.
- **36.** Wexler L, Brundage B, Crouse J, et al. Coronary artery calcification: pathophysiology, epidemiology, imaging methods, and clinical implications. A statement for health professionals from the American Heart Association. Writing Group. *Circulation.* Sep 1 1996;94(5):1175-1192.
- **37.** Agatston AS, Janowitz WR, Hildner FJ, Zusmer NR, Viamonte M, Jr., Detrano R. Quantification of coronary artery calcium using ultrafast computed tomography. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* Mar 15 1990;15(4):827-832.
- **38.** Naghavi M, Falk E, Hecht HS, Shah PK. The first SHAPE (Screening for Heart Attack Prevention and Education) guideline. *Crit Pathw Cardiol*. Dec 2006;5(4):187-190.
- **39.** Detrano R, Guerci AD, Carr JJ, et al. Coronary calcium as a predictor of coronary events in four racial or ethnic groups. *N Engl J Med.* Mar 27 2008;358(13):1336-1345.
- **40.** Newman AB, Naydeck BL, Sutton-Tyrrell K, et al. Relationship between coronary artery calcification and other measures of subclinical cardiovascular disease in older adults. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* Oct 1 2002;22(10):1674-1679.
- **41.** Inzitari M, Naydeck BL, Newman AB. Coronary artery calcium and physical function in older adults: the Cardiovascular Health Study. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*. Oct 2008;63(10):1112-1118.
- **42.** Third Report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III) final report. *Circulation*. Dec 17 2002;106(25):3143-3421.
- **43.** Smith SC, Jr., Amsterdam E, Balady GJ, et al. Prevention Conference V: Beyond secondary prevention: identifying the high-risk patient for primary prevention: tests for silent and inducible ischemia: Writing Group II. *Circulation.* Jan 4 2000;101(1):E12-16.
- 44. Greenland P, Smith SC, Jr., Grundy SM. Improving coronary heart disease risk assessment in asymptomatic people: role of traditional risk factors and noninvasive cardiovascular tests. *Circulation*. Oct 9 2001;104(15):1863-1867.
- **45.** Greenland P, LaBree L, Azen SP, Doherty TM, Detrano RC. Coronary artery calcium score combined with Framingham score for risk prediction in asymptomatic individuals. *JAMA*. Jan 14 2004;291(2):210-215.

- **46.** McClelland RL, Nasir K, Budoff M, Blumenthal RS, Kronmal RA. Arterial age as a function of coronary artery calcium (from the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis [MESA]). *Am J Cardiol.* Jan 1 2009;103(1):59-63.
- **47.** Greenland P, Knoll MD, Stamler J, et al. Major risk factors as antecedents of fatal and nonfatal coronary heart disease events. *JAMA*. Aug 20 2003;290(7):891-897.
- **48.** Kannel WB. Cardiovascular risk factors in the elderly. *Coron Artery Dis.* Aug-Sep 1997;8(8-9):565-575.
- **49.** De Bacquer D, De Backer G, Ostor E, Simon J, Pyorala K. Predictive value of classical risk factors and their control in coronary patients: a follow-up of the EUROASPIRE I cohort. *Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil.* Aug 2003;10(4):289-295.
- **50.** Haider AW, Chen L, Larson MG, Evans JC, Chen MH, Levy D. Antecedent hypertension confers increased risk for adverse outcomes after initial myocardial infarction. *Hypertension*. Nov 1997;30(5):1020-1024.
- **51.** Kaplan RC, Heckbert SR, Furberg CD, Psaty BM. Predictors of subsequent coronary events, stroke, and death among survivors of first hospitalized myocardial infarction. *J Clin Epidemiol.* Jul 2002;55(7):654-664.
- **52.** Mukamal KJ, Nesto RW, Cohen MC, et al. Impact of diabetes on long-term survival after acute myocardial infarction: comparability of risk with prior myocardial infarction. *Diabetes Care.* Aug 2001;24(8):1422-1427.
- **53.** Rea TD, Heckbert SR, Kaplan RC, Smith NL, Lemaitre RN, Psaty BM. Smoking status and risk for recurrent coronary events after myocardial infarction. *Ann Intern Med.* Sep 17 2002;137(6):494-500.
- 54. Leander K, Wiman B, Hallqvist J, Andersson T, Ahlbom A, de Faire U. Primary risk factors influence risk of recurrent myocardial infarction/death from coronary heart disease: results from the Stockholm Heart Epidemiology Program (SHEEP). *Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil.* Aug 2007;14(4):532-537.
- **55.** Randomised trial of cholesterol lowering in 4444 patients with coronary heart disease: the Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study (4S). *Lancet.* Nov 19 1994;344(8934):1383-1389.
- **56.** Prevention of cardiovascular events and death with pravastatin in patients with coronary heart disease and a broad range of initial cholesterol levels. The Long-Term Intervention with Pravastatin in Ischaemic Disease (LIPID) Study Group. *N Engl J Med.* Nov 5 1998;339(19):1349-1357.

- **57.** Sacks FM, Pfeffer MA, Moye LA, et al. The effect of pravastatin on coronary events after myocardial infarction in patients with average cholesterol levels. Cholesterol and Recurrent Events Trial investigators. *N Engl J Med.* Oct 3 1996;335(14):1001-1009.
- **58.** Alboni P, Amadei A, Scarfo S, Bettiol K, Ippolito F, Baggioni G. In industrialized nations, a low socioeconomic status represents an independent predictor of mortality in patients with acute myocardial infarction. *Ital Heart J.* Aug 2003;4(8):551-558.
- **59.** Hamsten A, de Faire U, Walldius G, et al. Plasminogen activator inhibitor in plasma: risk factor for recurrent myocardial infarction. *Lancet.* Jul 4 1987;2(8549):3-9.
- **60.** Rea TD, Heckbert SR, Kaplan RC, et al. Body mass index and the risk of recurrent coronary events following acute myocardial infarction. *Am J Cardiol.* Sep 1 2001;88(5):467-472.
- **61.** Ruberman W, Weinblatt E, Goldberg JD, Chaudhary BS. Psychosocial influences on mortality after myocardial infarction. *N Engl J Med.* Aug 30 1984;311(9):552-559.
- **62.** Tommasi S, Carluccio E, Bentivoglio M, et al. C-reactive protein as a marker for cardiac ischemic events in the year after a first, uncomplicated myocardial infarction. *Am J Cardiol.* Jun 15 1999;83(12):1595-1599.
- **63.** Kronmal RA, Cain KC, Ye Z, Omenn GS. Total serum cholesterol levels and mortality risk as a function of age. A report based on the Framingham data. *Arch Intern Med.* May 10 1993;153(9):1065-1073.
- **64.** Lewington S, Whitlock G, Clarke R, et al. Blood cholesterol and vascular mortality by age, sex, and blood pressure: a meta-analysis of individual data from 61 prospective studies with 55,000 vascular deaths. *Lancet*. Dec 1 2007;370(9602):1829-1839.
- **65.** Franklin SS, Jacobs MJ, Wong ND, L'Italien GJ, Lapuerta P. Predominance of isolated systolic hypertension among middle-aged and elderly US hypertensives: analysis based on National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) III. *Hypertension*. Mar 2001;37(3):869-874.
- **66.** Burt VL, Whelton P, Roccella EJ, et al. Prevalence of hypertension in the US adult population. Results from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988-1991. *Hypertension*. Mar 1995;25(3):305-313.
- 67. Aronow WS, Ahn C. Risk factors for new coronary events in a large cohort of very elderly patients with and without coronary artery disease. *Am J Cardiol.* Apr 15 1996;77(10):864-866.
- **68.** Aronow WS, Ahn C, Gutstein H. Risk factors for new atherothrombotic brain infarction in 664 older men and 1,488 older women. *Am J Cardiol.* Jun 15 1996;77(15):1381-1383.

- **69.** Aronow WS, Sales FF, Etienne F, Lee NH. Prevalence of peripheral arterial disease and its correlation with risk factors for peripheral arterial disease in elderly patients in a long-term health care facility. *Am J Cardiol.* Sep 15 1988;62(9):644-646.
- **70.** Vasan RS, Beiser A, Seshadri S, et al. Residual lifetime risk for developing hypertension in middle-aged women and men: The Framingham Heart Study. *JAMA*. Feb 27 2002;287(8):1003-1010.
- 71. Medical Research Council trial of treatment of hypertension in older adults: principal results. MRC Working Party. *BMJ*. Feb 15 1992;304(6824):405-412.
- 72. Amery A, Birkenhager W, Brixko P, et al. Mortality and morbidity results from the European Working Party on High Blood Pressure in the Elderly trial. *Lancet.* Jun 15 1985;1(8442):1349-1354.
- **73.** Beckett NS, Peters R, Fletcher AE, et al. Treatment of hypertension in patients 80 years of age or older. *N Engl J Med.* May 1 2008;358(18):1887-1898.
- 74. Dahlof B, Lindholm LH, Hansson L, Schersten B, Ekbom T, Wester PO. Morbidity and mortality in the Swedish Trial in Old Patients with Hypertension (STOP-Hypertension). *Lancet.* Nov 23 1991;338(8778):1281-1285.
- **75.** Gueyffier F, Bulpitt C, Boissel JP, et al. Antihypertensive drugs in very old people: a subgroup meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. INDANA Group. *Lancet.* Mar 6 1999;353(9155):793-796.
- **76.** Staessen JA, Fagard R, Thijs L, et al. Randomised double-blind comparison of placebo and active treatment for older patients with isolated systolic hypertension. The Systolic Hypertension in Europe (Syst-Eur) Trial Investigators. *Lancet.* Sep 13 1997;350(9080):757-764.
- 77. Oates DJ, Berlowitz DR, Glickman ME, Silliman RA, Borzecki AM. Blood pressure and survival in the oldest old. *J Am Geriatr Soc*. Mar 2007;55(3):383-388.
- **78.** Rastas S, Pirttila T, Viramo P, et al. Association between blood pressure and survival over 9 years in a general population aged 85 and older. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* Jun 2006;54(6):912-918.
- **79.** Satish S, Freeman DH, Jr., Ray L, Goodwin JS. The relationship between blood pressure and mortality in the oldest old. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* Apr 2001;49(4):367-374.
- **80.** Chobanian AV, Bakris GL, Black HR, et al. Seventh report of the Joint National Committee on Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure. *Hypertension*. Dec 2003;42(6):1206-1252.

- **81.** Di Bari M, Pahor M, Franse LV, et al. Dementia and disability outcomes in large hypertension trials: lessons learned from the systolic hypertension in the elderly program (SHEP) trial. *Am J Epidemiol.* Jan 1 2001;153(1):72-78.
- **82.** Forette F, Seux ML, Staessen JA, et al. Prevention of dementia in randomised doubleblind placebo-controlled Systolic Hypertension in Europe (Syst-Eur) trial. *Lancet*. Oct 24 1998;352(9137):1347-1351.
- **83.** Prevention of stroke by antihypertensive drug treatment in older persons with isolated systolic hypertension. Final results of the Systolic Hypertension in the Elderly Program (SHEP). SHEP Cooperative Research Group. *JAMA*. Jun 26 1991;265(24):3255-3264.
- **84.** Major outcomes in high-risk hypertensive patients randomized to angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor or calcium channel blocker vs diuretic: The Antihypertensive and Lipid-Lowering Treatment to Prevent Heart Attack Trial (ALLHAT). *JAMA*. Dec 18 2002;288(23):2981-2997.
- **85.** Wright JT, Jr., Probstfield JL, Cushman WC, et al. ALLHAT findings revisited in the context of subsequent analyses, other trials, and meta-analyses. *Arch Intern Med.* May 11 2009;169(9):832-842.
- **86.** Grundy SM, Cleeman JI, Merz CN, et al. Implications of recent clinical trials for the National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel III guidelines. *Circulation.* Jul 13 2004;110(2):227-239.
- **87.** MRC/BHF Heart Protection Study of cholesterol lowering with simvastatin in 20,536 high-risk individuals: a randomised placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet.* Jul 6 2002;360(9326):7-22.
- **88.** Downs JR, Clearfield M, Weis S, et al. Primary prevention of acute coronary events with lovastatin in men and women with average cholesterol levels: results of AFCAPS/TexCAPS. Air Force/Texas Coronary Atherosclerosis Prevention Study. *JAMA*. May 27 1998;279(20):1615-1622.
- **89.** Sever PS, Dahlof B, Poulter NR, et al. Prevention of coronary and stroke events with atorvastatin in hypertensive patients who have average or lower-than-average cholesterol concentrations, in the Anglo-Scandinavian Cardiac Outcomes Trial--Lipid Lowering Arm (ASCOT-LLA): a multicentre randomised controlled trial. *Lancet.* Apr 5 2003;361(9364):1149-1158.
- **90.** Shepherd J, Blauw GJ, Murphy MB, et al. Pravastatin in elderly individuals at risk of vascular disease (PROSPER): a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet.* Nov 23 2002;360(9346):1623-1630.

- **91.** Shepherd J, Cobbe SM, Ford I, et al. Prevention of coronary heart disease with pravastatin in men with hypercholesterolemia. West of Scotland Coronary Prevention Study Group. *N Engl J Med.* Nov 16 1995;333(20):1301-1307.
- **92.** Mills EJ, Rachlis B, Wu P, Devereaux PJ, Arora P, Perri D. Primary prevention of cardiovascular mortality and events with statin treatments: a network meta-analysis involving more than 65,000 patients. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. Nov 25 2008;52(22):1769-1781.
- **93.** Baigent C, Keech A, Kearney PM, et al. Efficacy and safety of cholesterol-lowering treatment: prospective meta-analysis of data from 90,056 participants in 14 randomised trials of statins. *Lancet.* Oct 8 2005;366(9493):1267-1278.
- 94. Bjerre LM, LeLorier J. Do statins cause cancer? A meta-analysis of large randomized clinical trials. *Am J Med.* Jun 15 2001;110(9):716-723.
- **95.** Law M, Rudnicka AR. Statin safety: a systematic review. *Am J Cardiol.* Apr 17 2006;97(8A):52C-60C.
- **96.** Hernandez-Diaz S, Garcia Rodriguez LA. Cardioprotective aspirin users and their excess risk of upper gastrointestinal complications. *BMC Med.* 2006;4:22.
- **97.** Aspirin for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events: recommendation and rationale. *Ann Intern Med.* Jan 15 2002;136(2):157-160.
- **98.** Pearson TA, Blair SN, Daniels SR, et al. AHA Guidelines for Primary Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease and Stroke: 2002 Update: Consensus Panel Guide to Comprehensive Risk Reduction for Adult Patients Without Coronary or Other Atherosclerotic Vascular Diseases. American Heart Association Science Advisory and Coordinating Committee. *Circulation*. Jul 16 2002;106(3):388-391.
- **99.** Ridker PM, Cook NR, Lee IM, et al. A randomized trial of low-dose aspirin in the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease in women. *N Engl J Med.* Mar 31 2005;352(13):1293-1304.
- **100.** Aspirin for the prevention of cardiovascular disease: U.S. Preventive Services Task Force recommendation statement. *Ann Intern Med.* Mar 17 2009;150(6):396-404.
- **101.** Berger JS, Roncaglioni MC, Avanzini F, Pangrazzi I, Tognoni G, Brown DL. Aspirin for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events in women and men: a sex-specific meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *JAMA*. Jan 18 2006;295(3):306-313.
- **102.** American College of Sports Medicine position stand. The recommended quantity and quality of exercise for developing and maintaining cardiorespiratory and muscular fitness in healthy adults. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* Apr 1990;22(2):265-274.

- **103.** Nelson ME, Rejeski WJ, Blair SN, et al. Physical activity and public health in older adults: recommendation from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. Aug 28 2007;116(9):1094-1105.
- **104.** Blair SN, Kohl HW, 3rd, Paffenbarger RS, Jr., Clark DG, Cooper KH, Gibbons LW. Physical fitness and all-cause mortality. A prospective study of healthy men and women. *JAMA*. Nov 3 1989;262(17):2395-2401.
- **105.** Berlin JA, Colditz GA. A meta-analysis of physical activity in the prevention of coronary heart disease. *Am J Epidemiol*. Oct 1990;132(4):612-628.
- **106.** Lee IM, Rexrode KM, Cook NR, Manson JE, Buring JE. Physical activity and coronary heart disease in women: is "no pain, no gain" passe? *JAMA*. Mar 21 2001;285(11):1447-1454.
- **107.** Manson JE, Greenland P, LaCroix AZ, et al. Walking compared with vigorous exercise for the prevention of cardiovascular events in women. *N Engl J Med.* Sep 5 2002;347(10):716-725.
- **108.** Tanasescu M, Leitzmann MF, Rimm EB, Willett WC, Stampfer MJ, Hu FB. Exercise type and intensity in relation to coronary heart disease in men. *JAMA*. Oct 23-30 2002;288(16):1994-2000.
- **109.** Kaplan GA, Seeman TE, Cohen RD, Knudsen LP, Guralnik J. Mortality among the elderly in the Alameda County Study: behavioral and demographic risk factors. *Am J Public Health*. Mar 1987;77(3):307-312.
- **110.** Landi F, Russo A, Bernabei R. Physical activity and behavior in the elderly: a pilot study. *Arch Gerontol Geriatr Suppl.* 2004(9):235-241.
- **111.** Ruigomez A, Alonso J, Anto JM. Relationship of health behaviours to five-year mortality in an elderly cohort. *Age Ageing*. Mar 1995;24(2):113-119.
- **112.** Simonsick EM, Lafferty ME, Phillips CL, et al. Risk due to inactivity in physically capable older adults. *Am J Public Health*. Oct 1993;83(10):1443-1450.
- **113.** Stessman J, Hammerman-Rozenberg R, Cohen A, Ein-Mor E, Jacobs JM. Physical activity, function, and longevity among the very old. *Arch Intern Med.* Sep 14 2009;169(16):1476-1483.
- **114.** Yates LB, Djousse L, Kurth T, Buring JE, Gaziano JM. Exceptional longevity in men: modifiable factors associated with survival and function to age 90 years. *Arch Intern Med.* Feb 11 2008;168(3):284-290.

- **115.** Bijnen FC, Caspersen CJ, Feskens EJ, Saris WH, Mosterd WL, Kromhout D. Physical activity and 10-year mortality from cardiovascular diseases and all causes: The Zutphen Elderly Study. *Arch Intern Med.* Jul 27 1998;158(14):1499-1505.
- **116.** Sofi F, Capalbo A, Cesari F, Abbate R, Gensini GF. Physical activity during leisure time and primary prevention of coronary heart disease: an updated meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil.* Jun 2008;15(3):247-257.
- **117.** Leon AS, Connett J, Jacobs DR, Jr., Rauramaa R. Leisure-time physical activity levels and risk of coronary heart disease and death. The Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial. *JAMA*. Nov 6 1987;258(17):2388-2395.
- **118.** Talbot LA, Morrell CH, Metter EJ, Fleg JL. Comparison of cardiorespiratory fitness versus leisure time physical activity as predictors of coronary events in men aged < or = 65 years and > 65 years. *Am J Cardiol.* May 15 2002;89(10):1187-1192.
- **119.** Steffen-Batey L, Nichaman MZ, Goff DC, Jr., et al. Change in level of physical activity and risk of all-cause mortality or reinfarction: The Corpus Christi Heart Project. *Circulation.* Oct 31 2000;102(18):2204-2209.
- **120.** Rogers MA, Hagberg JM, Martin WH, 3rd, Ehsani AA, Holloszy JO. Decline in VO2max with aging in master athletes and sedentary men. *J Appl Physiol.* May 1990;68(5):2195-2199.
- **121.** Astrand I, Astrand PO, Hallback I, Kilbom A. Reduction in maximal oxygen uptake with age. *J Appl Physiol*. Nov 1973;35(5):649-654.
- **122.** Macnab RB, Conger RP, Taylor PS. Differences in maximal and submaximal work capacity in men and women. *J Appl Physiol*. Nov 1969;27(5):644-648.
- **123.** Fleg JL, Lakatta EG. Role of muscle loss in the age-associated reduction in VO2 max. *J Appl Physiol.* Sep 1988;65(3):1147-1151.
- **124.** Fleg JL, Pina IL, Balady GJ, et al. Assessment of functional capacity in clinical and research applications: An advisory from the Committee on Exercise, Rehabilitation, and Prevention, Council on Clinical Cardiology, American Heart Association. *Circulation*. Sep 26 2000;102(13):1591-1597.
- **125.** Mora S, Cook N, Buring JE, Ridker PM, Lee IM. Physical activity and reduced risk of cardiovascular events: potential mediating mechanisms. Circulation. Nov 6 2007;116(19):2110-2118.
- **126.** Kraus WE, Houmard JA, Duscha BD, et al. Effects of the amount and intensity of exercise on plasma lipoproteins. *N Engl J Med.* Nov 7 2002;347(19):1483-1492.

- **127.** Whelton SP, Chin A, Xin X, He J. Effect of aerobic exercise on blood pressure: a metaanalysis of randomized, controlled trials. *Ann Intern Med.* Apr 2 2002;136(7):493-503.
- **128.** Thompson PD, Crouse SF, Goodpaster B, Kelley D, Moyna N, Pescatello L. The acute versus the chronic response to exercise. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* Jun 2001;33(6 Suppl):S438-445; discussion S452-433.
- **129.** Abramson JL, Vaccarino V. Relationship between physical activity and inflammation among apparently healthy middle-aged and older US adults. *Arch Intern Med.* Jun 10 2002;162(11):1286-1292.
- **130.** Church TS, Barlow CE, Earnest CP, Kampert JB, Priest EL, Blair SN. Associations between cardiorespiratory fitness and C-reactive protein in men. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* Nov 1 2002;22(11):1869-1876.
- **131.** LaPorte RE, Montoye HJ, Caspersen CJ. Assessment of physical activity in epidemiologic research: problems and prospects. *Public Health Rep.* Mar-Apr 1985;100(2):131-146.
- **132.** Fletcher GF, Blair SN, Blumenthal J, et al. Statement on exercise. Benefits and recommendations for physical activity programs for all Americans. A statement for health professionals by the Committee on Exercise and Cardiac Rehabilitation of the Council on Clinical Cardiology, American Heart association. *Circulation*. Jul 1992;86(1):340-344.
- **133.** Gill TM, DiPietro L, Krumholz HM. Role of exercise stress testing and safety monitoring for older persons starting an exercise program. *JAMA*. Jul 19 2000;284(3):342-349.
- **134.** Greig C, Butler F, Skelton D, Mahmud S, Young A. Treadmill walking in old age may not reproduce the real life situation. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* Jan 1993;41(1):15-18.
- **135.** Hollenberg M, Ngo LH, Turner D, Tager IB. Treadmill exercise testing in an epidemiologic study of elderly subjects. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* Jul 1998;53(4):B259-267.
- **136.** Peeters P, Mets T. The 6-minute walk as an appropriate exercise test in elderly patients with chronic heart failure. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* Jul 1996;51(4):M147-151.
- **137.** McGavin CR, Gupta SP, McHardy GJ. Twelve-minute walking test for assessing disability in chronic bronchitis. *Br Med J.* Apr 3 1976;1(6013):822-823.
- **138.** Bernstein ML, Despars JA, Singh NP, Avalos K, Stansbury DW, Light RW. Reanalysis of the 12-minute walk in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Chest.* Jan 1994;105(1):163-167.

- **139.** Bittner V, Weiner DH, Yusuf S, et al. Prediction of mortality and morbidity with a 6minute walk test in patients with left ventricular dysfunction. SOLVD Investigators. *JAMA*. Oct 13 1993;270(14):1702-1707.
- 140. Cahalin L, Pappagianopoulos P, Prevost S, Wain J, Ginns L. The relationship of the 6min walk test to maximal oxygen consumption in transplant candidates with end-stage lung disease. *Chest.* Aug 1995;108(2):452-459.
- 141. Langenfeld H, Schneider B, Grimm W, et al. The six-minute walk--an adequate exercise test for pacemaker patients? *Pacing Clin Electrophysiol*. Dec 1990;13(12 Pt 2):1761-1765.
- 142. Milligan NP, Havey J, Dossa A. Using a 6-minute walk test to predict outcomes in patients with left ventricular dysfunction. *Rehabil Nurs.* Jul-Aug 1997;22(4):177-181.
- **143.** Montgomery PS, Gardner AW. The clinical utility of a six-minute walk test in peripheral arterial occlusive disease patients. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* Jun 1998;46(6):706-711.
- **144.** Wijkstra PJ, TenVergert EM, van der Mark TW, et al. Relation of lung function, maximal inspiratory pressure, dyspnoea, and quality of life with exercise capacity in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Thorax.* May 1994;49(5):468-472.
- 145. Lederer DJ, Arcasoy SM, Wilt JS, D'Ovidio F, Sonett JR, Kawut SM. Six-minute-walk distance predicts waiting list survival in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* Sep 15 2006;174(6):659-664.
- 146. Laukkanen JA, Lakka TA, Rauramaa R, et al. Cardiovascular fitness as a predictor of mortality in men. *Arch Intern Med.* Mar 26 2001;161(6):825-831.
- 147. Goraya TY, Jacobsen SJ, Pellikka PA, et al. Prognostic value of treadmill exercise testing in elderly persons. *Ann Intern Med.* Jun 6 2000;132(11):862-870.
- 148. Spin JM, Prakash M, Froelicher VF, et al. The prognostic value of exercise testing in elderly men. *Am J Med.* Apr 15 2002;112(6):453-459.
- **149.** Myers J, Prakash M, Froelicher V, Do D, Partington S, Atwood JE. Exercise capacity and mortality among men referred for exercise testing. *N Engl J Med.* Mar 14 2002;346(11):793-801.
- **150.** Gulati M, Pandey DK, Arnsdorf MF, et al. Exercise capacity and the risk of death in women: the St James Women Take Heart Project. *Circulation*. Sep 30 2003;108(13):1554-1559.
- **151.** Messinger-Rapport B, Pothier Snader CE, Blackstone EH, Yu D, Lauer MS. Value of exercise capacity and heart rate recovery in older people. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* Jan 2003;51(1):63-68.

- **152.** Mora S, Redberg RF, Cui Y, et al. Ability of exercise testing to predict cardiovascular and all-cause death in asymptomatic women: a 20-year follow-up of the lipid research clinics prevalence study. *JAMA*. Sep 24 2003;290(12):1600-1607.
- **153.** Sui X, Laditka JN, Hardin JW, Blair SN. Estimated functional capacity predicts mortality in older adults. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* Dec 2007;55(12):1940-1947.
- **154.** Kokkinos P, Myers J, Kokkinos JP, et al. Exercise capacity and mortality in black and white men. *Circulation*. Feb 5 2008;117(5):614-622.
- **155.** Cahalin LP, Mathier MA, Semigran MJ, Dec GW, DiSalvo TG. The six-minute walk test predicts peak oxygen uptake and survival in patients with advanced heart failure. *Chest.* Aug 1996;110(2):325-332.
- **156.** Rostagno C, Galanti G, Romano M, Chiostri G, Gensini GF. Prognostic value of 6minute walk corridor testing in women with mild to moderate heart failure. *Ital Heart J*. Feb 2002;3(2):109-113.
- **157.** Shah MR, Hasselblad V, Gheorghiade M, et al. Prognostic usefulness of the six-minute walk in patients with advanced congestive heart failure secondary to ischemic or nonischemic cardiomyopathy. *Am J Cardiol.* Nov 1 2001;88(9):987-993.
- **158.** Castel MA, Mendez F, Tamborero D, et al. Six-minute walking test predicts long-term cardiac death in patients who received cardiac resynchronization therapy. *Europace*. Mar 2009;11(3):338-342.
- **159.** Alahdab MT, Mansour IN, Napan S, Stamos TD. Six minute walk test predicts long-term all-cause mortality and heart failure rehospitalization in African-American patients hospitalized with acute decompensated heart failure. *J Card Fail*. Mar 2009;15(2):130-135.
- **160.** Enfield K, Gammon S, Floyd J, et al. Six-minute walk distance in patients with severe end-stage COPD: association with survival after inpatient pulmonary rehabilitation. *J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev.* May-Jun;30(3):195-202.
- **161.** Carey EJ, Steidley DE, Aqel BA, et al. Six-minute walk distance predicts mortality in liver transplant candidates. *Liver Transpl.* Dec;16(12):1373-1378.
- **162.** Boxer R, Kleppinger A, Ahmad A, Annis K, Hager D, Kenny A. The 6-minute walk is associated with frailty and predicts mortality in older adults with heart failure. *Congest Heart Fail.* Sep-Oct;16(5):208-213.